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Forward-looking statements 
This document, including the FY25 Review set out on pages 10 to 18 
(the FY25 Review), contains forward-looking statements including 
plans and objectives. Do not place undue reliance on them as actual 
results may differ, and may do so materially. They reflect Catapult’s 
views as at the time made, are not guarantees of future performance 
and are subject to uncertainties and risks, such as those described in 
Catapult’s most recent financial report. Subject to law, Catapult 
assumes no obligation to update, review or revise any information in 
this document. 
Pro forma financial information 
Catapult changed its financial year end from June 30 to March 31, 
with a nine-month transitionary FY21 consisting of an interim period 
ending December 31, 2020 and a final period ended March 31, 2021. 
Catapult also changed its presentation currency from A$ to US$, 
which commenced with reporting in US$ for the six-month period 
ended December 31, 2020. Catapult also acquired SBG on July 1, 
2021. The FY25 Review sets out pro forma information solely for the 
purpose of illustrating the effects of the acquisitions (including SBG) 
and these changes on certain historical financial results.  
The financial information denoted as “Pro forma including 
acquisitions” in the FY25 Review is pro forma, does not form part of 
Catapult’s FY25 financial results and has not been independently 
audited or reviewed. The pro forma financial information which is 
“Pro forma including acquisitions” is, as applicable, either a 6-month 
period ended September 30, or a 12-month period ended March 31, on 
the basis that the Company acquired all relevant acquired entities on 
April 1, 2018. All pro forma financial information has been compiled 
from management accounts. Because of its hypothetical nature, the 
pro forma information may not give a true picture of a relevant 
comparison. Subject to law, Catapult assumes no obligation to 
update, review or revise the pro forma information. 
Defined terms and Calculation Methodologies 
In this document, unless otherwise indicated: 
• “1H” for April 1, 2021 onwards, is each period starting April 1 and 

ending September 30, with the first such period being 1H FY22; 
• “2H” for October 1, 2021 onwards, is each period starting October 1 

and ending March 31, with the first such period being 2H FY22;  
• “FY” for April 1, 2021 onwards, is each period starting April 1 and 

ending March 31, with the first such period being FY22;  
• “ACV” or “Annualized Contract Value” is the annualized value of all 

active subscription contracts in effect using an average exchange 
rate to US$ over a 1-month period ending on the ACV Effective 
Calculation Date; 

• “ACV (CC)” or “ACV constant currency” is ACV calculated on a 
“constant currency” basis, which is calculated using an average 
exchange rate to US$ over a 1-month period ending on 
March 31, 2024; 

• “ACV CAGR” is the cumulative annual growth rate in ACV on a 
“constant currency” basis over a period A to B, which is calculated 
as the annualized growth rate (expressed as a percentage) of (x) 
the ACV as at the Effective Calculation Date for B (using currency 
rates as at the effective calculation date for A); divided by (y) the 
ACV as at, and using the currency rates as at, the effective 
calculation date for A. Therefore, for example, the ACV CAGR for 
1H FY23 to 1H FY25 is calculated as the annualized growth rate 
(expressed as a percentage) of (x) the ACV calculated as at 
September 30, 2024 (using currency rates as at September 30, 
2022); divided by (y) the ACV calculated as at, and using the 
currency rates as at, September 30, 2022; 

• “ACV Churn” is the reduction in ACV from the loss of customers 
over a period, which is calculated as the quotient (expressed as a 
percentage) of (x) the reduction in ACV from the loss of customers 
over the 12-month period prior to the Effective Calculation Date; 
divided by (y) the total ACV calculated as at the date that is 12 
months prior to that Effective Calculation Date; 

• “ACV Effective Calculation Date” for ACV is, unless otherwise 
stated, March 31, 2025. The ACV Effective Calculation Date for 
ACV denoted as “Opening ACV” or “Closing ACV” is ACV calculated 
as at, respectively, the start or end of the relevant period. 
Therefore, for example, the Opening ACV FY24 Effective 
Calculation Date is April 1, 2023 and the Closing ACV FY24 

Effective Calculation Date is March 31, 2024. ACV denoted as “1H” 
is calculated as at the end of the relevant period. Therefore, for 
example, the ACV 1H FY24 Effective Calculation Date is September 
30, 2023, and the ACV 1H FY25 Effective Calculation Date is 
September 30, 2024; 

• “ACV Growth” or “ACV YoY” is the growth in ACV (including on a 
“constant currency” basis), which is calculated as the quotient 
(expressed as a percentage) of (x) the ACV calculated as at the 
Effective Calculation Date; divided by (y) the ACV calculated as at 
the date which is 12 months prior to that Effective Calculation 
Date; 

• “ACV Retention” is the retained ACV from continuing customers 
over a period, which is calculated as (1 - ACV Churn), expressed as a 
percentage; 

• “Fixed Costs” is the total of General & Administrative (G&A), and 
capitalized and non-capitalized Research & Development (R&D) 
costs; 

• “Free Cash Flow” or “FCF” is cash flows from operating activities 
less cash flows used for investing activities, excluding cash used for 
acquisitions of, and investments into, businesses and strategic 
assets. FCF excludes AASB16 lease payments; 

• "Incremental profit” over a period is calculated as the incremental 
Management EBITDA over that period; 

• "Incremental profit margin” over a period is calculated as the 
quotient (expressed as a percentage) of (x) the incremental 
Management EBITDA over that period; divided by (y) the 
incremental revenue over that period; 

• “Lifetime Duration” or “LTD” is the average length of time that 
customers have continuously subscribed for Catapult’s products or 
services as at the effective calculation date, weighted by each 
customer’s ACV as at that date; 

• “Management EBITDA” is EBITDA excluding share-based 
payments, purchase consideration, and severance; and including 
capitalized development expense; 

• “Multi-vertical customers” is the number of customers that, as at 
the effective calculation date, use a product from more than one of 
Catapult’s verticals; 

• “nm” means not meaningful; 
• “pp” means percentage point, which is the arithmetic difference 

between two percentages; 
• “Recurring Revenue” is SaaS Revenue, plus Media, and plus other 

recurring revenue that is not attributable to ACV; 
• “SaaS Revenue” or “SaaS (ACV) Revenue” is revenue attributable 

to ACV; and 
• “Variable Costs” is Total non-capitalized COGS, Sales & Marketing 

(S&M), and Delivery Costs. 
This document should be read in conjunction with the above 
definitions and calculation methodologies as they are integral to 
understanding the content. 
Non-IFRS Information 
While Catapult’s results are reported under IFRS, this document also 
includes non-IFRS information, such as Management Operating 
Profit, Management EBITDA, EBITDA, Gross Margin, Contribution 
Margin, Free Cash Flow (FCF), Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR), 
Annualized Contract Value (ACV), Lifetime Duration (LTD), ACV 
Retention, and ACV Churn. These measures are provided to assist in 
understanding Catapult’s financial performance, given that it is a 
SaaS business. They have not been independently audited or 
reviewed, and should not be considered an indication of, or an 
alternative to, IFRS measures. 
General 
The information in this document is for general information purposes 
only, and does not purport to be complete. It should be read in 
conjunction with Catapult’s other market announcements. Readers 
should make their own assessment and take professional 
independent advice prior to taking any action based on the 
information. 
Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this document may 
not add up precisely to the totals provided and percentages may not 
precisely reflect the presented figures. All financials are in US$ unless 
otherwise indicated. 
This document is dated June 27, 2025. 
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*  The letter from the Nomination & Remuneration Committee Chair does not form part of the Directors’ Report or Catapult’s FY25 financial results, 
and has not been independently audited or reviewed. 

 

In this document, the terms ‘Catapult’, the ‘Company’, the ‘Group’, ‘our business’, ‘organization’, ‘we’, ‘us’, ‘our’ and 
‘ourselves’ refer to Catapult Group International Ltd and, except where the context otherwise requires, its subsidiaries. 
All references to $ or dollars in this document are to US dollars unless otherwise stated. 
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FY25 WAS A MILESTONE YEAR FOR CATAPULT… 

DRIVEN BY RECORD LEVEL PROFITABLE GROWTH 
 

ACV REVENUE MANAGEMENT 
EBITDA 

$101.2M $116.5M $14.8M 
(A$161M) (A$185M) (A$24M) 

↑ 18% YoY (CC) ↑ 19% YoY (CC) ↑ US$10.6M YoY 

   

ACV 
RETENTION 

ACV PER 
PRO TEAM 

MULTI VERTICAL 
PRO TEAMS 

96% ↑ 12% ↑ 53% 
 

UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 
IMPORTANT NOTES: ACV, ACV Growth (CC, constant currency), Management EBITDA, ACV Retention, ACV Per Pro Team, and Multi Vertical Pro Teams financial information in this slide has not 
been independently audited or reviewed, and does not form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results. See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies. 
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Dear Shareholders,  

On behalf of your Board of Directors, it is our pleasure 
to share with you the Catapult Group International 
Ltd Annual Report for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2025 (FY25).  

AN EXCEPTIONAL YEAR  

FY25 was an exceptional year for Catapult. The 
financial and non-financial metrics and targets that 
the Company benchmarks itself against continue to 
be met and exceeded, providing for an ongoing 
validation of the Company’s strategy, and 
demonstrating the value that Catapult’s customers 
derive from our unique and comprehensive all-in-one 
technology platform.  

The exceptional results delivered this year were not 
just a reflection of the performance in one year; they 
reflect years of investment – in our product, in our 
people, and ultimately our customers. In the last three 
years Catapult has invested more than US$60 million 
(A$100 million) in Research & Development initiatives, 
the results of which you are seeing this year and will 
continue to see in future years as we continue to add 
new and valuable products onto Catapult’s platform.  

There are many incredible numbers in this year’s 
results, but I would like to call out just one; our 
incremental profit margin – a metric that reveals how 
effectively we are converting growth into value. In 
FY25 Catapult delivered an incremental profit margin 
of 65%. This means that for every additional dollar of 
revenue Catapult generated in the last financial year, 
we kept 65 cents of that as incremental profit. That’s 
not just financial discipline – it’s sustainable operating 
leverage at scale. This positions Catapult 
exceptionally well for the road ahead, and to continue 
executing on our objective of delivering strong, 
profitable growth.  

We recognised some major milestones as an ASX 
company this year. In December, we celebrated the 
ten-year anniversary of Catapult’s ASX listing. It was 
amazing to think that only ten years earlier we were 
celebrating Catapult’s Initial Public Offering at 
A$0.55 cents per share. At that time, we only had 
~US$3.5 million of revenue, ~500 teams, and 
59 employees. Fast forward to FY25 where we 
finished with US$116.5 million of revenue 
(A$185 million), 4,600+ teams, and almost 
450 employees – an outstanding achievement. The 
significant increase in the share price meant that 
Catapult was also admitted to two ASX indexes this 
year – the S&P/ASX All Technology Index and the 
S&P/ASX 300 Index. This is great news for our 
shareholders as it puts us on the radar of a greater 
number of investors, both domestically and abroad.  

CYBER AND DATA SECURITY RISK  

Cyber security risk is a constant and continually 
evolving threat to the operations of all businesses and 
government organisations, large and small.  

In recognition of this threat, in FY25 the Board 
established a Cyber Risk Subcommittee, chaired by 
Non-executive Director Igor van de Griendt and 
comprised of Non-executive Directors Shaun 
Holthouse and Jim Orlando. The Subcommittee’s 
purpose is to assist the Board in ensuring Catapult’s 
cyber risk management strategy is robust, effective 
and aligned with our overall risk management 
framework.  

UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 

T h e  e x c e p t i o n a l  r e s u l t s  d e l i v e r e d  t h i s  y e a r  w e r e  
n o t  j u s t  a  r e f l e c t i o n  o f  t h e  p e r f o r m a n c e  i n  o n e  
y e a r ;  t h e y  r e f l e c t  y e a r s  o f  i n v e s t m e n t  –  i n  o u r  
p r o d u c t ,  i n  o u r  p e o p l e ,  a n d  u l t i m a t e l y  o u r  
c u s t o m e r s .  

 

D R  A D I R  

S H I F F M A N  

E X E C U T I V E  

C H A I R M A N  

 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS: This letter (including the Outlook section marked * overleaf) contains forward-looking statements including plans and objectives. Do not place undue 
reliance on them as actual results may differ, and may do so materially. They reflect Catapult’s views as at the time made, are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to 
uncertainties and risks, such as those described in Catapult’s most recent financial report. Subject to law, Catapult assumes no obligation to update, review or revise any information in this 
document. See the important notice on page 2. 
IMPORTANT NOTES: See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. Non-
IFRS information has not been independently audited or reviewed, and does not form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results. 
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Catapult has now also achieved ISO 27001 
certification, an internationally recognised standard 
for information security management. Certification 
demonstrates that we have a clear commitment to 
best practice when it comes to data security and risk 
management practices, and that our customers and 
partners can take every confidence from our 
approach in managing large and highly sensitive 
data.  

GOVERNANCE  

In this year’s Annual Report, you will note that we 
have evolved our Remuneration Report by enhancing 
our disclosures around KMP pay and performance, 
increasing the disclosure of our remuneration 
philosophy and structure, and other changes as 
outlined by the Chair of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee further in this Report. In 
addition, in May of this year I stepped down from the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee, which 
means there are no longer any executives on that 
Committee. Whilst these are notable changes, we are 
on a journey, and we will continue to evolve our 
remuneration practices as is appropriate in the years 
ahead.   

CULTURE  

Catapult is proud to be a company defined by a 
pioneering and entrepreneurial spirit, a spirit that has 
been at the core of our identity since our founding in 
2006. That same drive continues to guide us as we 
innovate, push boundaries, and pursue our mission to 
unleash the potential of every athlete and team on 
earth. Importantly, this mission extends to our people. 
We are just as committed to unlocking the potential 
of our own team as we are to empowering our 
customers.  

As Catapult grows, our culture grows and evolves 
with us. In FY25, we accelerated our investment in 
building a high-performance environment that 
reflects the ambitions and aspirations of the 
professional teams we serve. We are aligning our 
people, programs, and leadership practices with a 
clear focus: to drive innovation, deliver meaningful 
outcomes, and cultivate a culture of accountability 
and excellence.  

The Board remains deeply engaged in supporting and 
nurturing Catapult’s culture. As custodians of long-
term value, we believe that a purpose-led, high-
performance culture, aligned to strategy and brought 
to life by our people, is essential to delivering 
profitable and sustainable growth.  

OUTLOOK* 

Looking ahead to FY26, our objective is to deliver on 
our strategic priorities, with a continued focus on 
profitable growth. In FY26 we expect: 

• ACV growth to remain strong with low churn 
• Continued improvement in cost margins towards 

our targets 
• Higher Free Cash Flow as our business scales 

Our mission, to serve the world’s best athletes and 
teams with unrivalled technology, continues to shape 
every product we build. In FY26, we will deepen this 
commitment – delivering even greater speed, clarity, 
and actionable insight across the workflows of our 
customers. 

THANK YOU  

I remain extremely grateful for the continued 
commitment and guidance of the Board, and the 
Executive team, and would like to thank Will for his 
leadership this year, ensuring our Company remains 
focused on our vision of unleashing the potential of 
every team and athlete on earth. I would also like to 
thank our incredible people all over the world, whose 
commitment inspires us all.  

Finally, on behalf of the Board I would also like to 
sincerely thank the athletes, teams, partners, vendors 
and shareholders for your ongoing collaboration and 
support. FY25 has been an exceptional year, and I look 
forward to seeing even more progress in the months 
and years ahead.  

Regards, 

 

Dr Adir Shiffman 
Executive Chairman 

 

 

UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS: This letter (including the Outlook section marked *) contains forward-looking statements including plans and objectives. Do not place undue reliance on 
them as actual results may differ, and may do so materially. They reflect Catapult’s views as at the time made, are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to uncertainties and 
risks, such as those described in Catapult’s most recent financial report. Subject to law, Catapult assumes no obligation to update, review or revise any information in this document. See the 
important notice on page 2. 
IMPORTANT NOTES: See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. Non-
IFRS information has not been independently audited or reviewed, and does not form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results. 
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Dear Shareholders,  

FY25 will be remembered as a breakout year for 
Catapult—a year where we not only met the high 
expectations we set for ourselves, but did so with the 
discipline, ambition, and operating leverage that 
define the world’s best SaaS companies. 

We crossed a significant milestone this year: ACV 
surpassed US$100 million (A$161 million), doubling in 
just four years. We achieved this while maintaining 
world-class customer retention and systematically 
driving operating efficiency. These are not isolated 
wins—they are signals of a business compounding 
strength, built on clear focus and a long-term 
orientation. 

Before reflecting on the year’s performance, I want to 
take a step back and reiterate why Catapult exists—
and why our opportunity today is larger than ever. 

THE MARKET IS MOVING OUR WAY 

The global professional sports technology market is 
projected to exceed US$71 billion by 2030—doubling 
over the next five years. As live sports solidify their 
place as one of the last must-see experiences in 
entertainment, capital is pouring into teams, leagues, 
and technology. That wave is lifting our industry—and 
Catapult is directly in its path. 

In August, the NFL broke precedent by allowing 
private equity investment in teams. The impact was 
immediate. Team valuations skyrocketed, with the 
average NFL team now worth US$6.5 billion—more 
than double the average just four years ago. In March, 
the Boston Celtics were sold for US$6.1 billion—a new 
high-water mark for U.S. sports franchises, unlikely to 
hold for long. 

This isn’t just about valuation. It’s about 
professionalism. Sports organizations are behaving 
more like businesses than ever before—and they are 
investing accordingly. With athletes earning more, 
games becoming data-rich broadcasts, and every 
percentage gain mattering, Catapult’s role—
optimizing performance, accelerating return to play, 
and preventing injury—is more critical than ever. 

And it's not just men’s sports driving this growth. 

 

WOMEN’S SPORTS ARE BREAKING THROUGH 

In 2024, we saw record-breaking viewership, 
sponsorship, and engagement across women’s 
leagues. The WNBA’s TV audience rose 87%, 
merchandise sales surged, and attendance hit all-time 
highs. The National Women’s Soccer League, NWSL, 
saw its viewership increase five-fold. These aren’t just 
headlines—they are budget expansions, category 
growth, and entirely new customer segments for 
Catapult. As women’s sports professionalize at scale, 
we are proud to support their evolution and success. 

A SAAS PLATFORM BUILT FOR THIS MOMENT 

Our all-in-one SaaS platform—purpose-built for 
sport—is built to help teams make faster, smarter 
decisions. It saves time, integrates seamlessly into 
team workflows, and turns context-rich data into a 
competitive edge. 

This year, our Performance & Health (P&H) and 
Tactics & Coaching (T&C) verticals both delivered 18% 
YoY ACV growth (CC). P&H, which includes our 
wearables business, expanded across soccer in EMEA 
and Latin America, while growing steadily in baseball 
and basketball in North America. We remain the 
undisputed global leader in athlete monitoring. 

In Tactics & Coaching, our video solutions saw their 
strongest growth in over six years. Fueled by our 
sideline video product launched in FY25, we gained 
traction across American football, soccer, and 
motorsport—clear validation of our long-term 
investment in video. 

UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS: This letter contains forward-looking statements including plans and objectives. Do not place undue reliance on them as actual results may differ, and may do 
so materially. They reflect Catapult’s views as at the time made, are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to uncertainties and risks, such as those described in Catapult’s most 
recent financial report. Subject to law, Catapult assumes no obligation to update, review or revise any information in this document. See the important notice on page 2. 
IMPORTANT NOTES: See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. Non-
IFRS information has not been independently audited or reviewed, and does not form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results. 
 

 

M R  W I L L  L O P E S  

C H I E F  

E X E C U T I V E  

O F F I C E R  &  

M A N A G I N G  

D I R E C T O R  
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THE STRATEGY IS WORKING 

Our strategy is deliberate and repeatable: land and 
expand. We first land with P&H, where we hold a 
globally dominant position. Then we expand through 
T&C through cross-sell increasing the number of 
customers that are multi-vertical, typically increasing 
margins and expanding per team expenditure with 
Catapult.  

In FY25: 

• We increased our multi-vertical Pro team 
customer base by 53% YoY, to 741 teams. 

• The average ACV per Pro team rose 12% (CC), 
now nearing US$27K. 

• And we welcomed another 400 teams—teams 
that compete at the highest level and choose 
Catapult because they know what’s at stake. 

DEFINING THE CATEGORY WITH VECTOR 8 

In March, we launched Vector 8—the most advanced 
athlete monitoring solution in the world. With a next-
gen wearable, industry-leading sensors, a powerful 
new smart dock, and real-time infrastructure 
supporting up to 120 athletes across 70% larger 
areas. This is live data at scale, with fidelity and speed 
the industry has never seen. Vector 8 is redefining 
what’s possible. It is a category-defining product—and 
a defining moment for Catapult. 

That momentum extended across our product 
portfolio: 

• Hub Pro introduced our next generation coaching 
experience integrating Catapult’s new and legacy 
solutions together, with powerful teaching tools, 
built for scale. 

• Focus Live for Practice expanded our live sideline 
solution into practice sessions – modernizing key 
workflows with wearable integration. 

• New Algorithms rolled-out this year introduced 
metabolic power measures and expanded sport-

specific parameters for basketball, rugby, and 
tennis. 

• Live Insights using our Vector products enhanced 
broadcasts for UEFA and LNR with real-time 
data overlays. 

• Vector Core Expansion broadened sport support 
and added localization in French, Spanish, 
Portuguese, and Japanese. 

THE RULE OF 40: OUR NORTH STAR 

We measure our performance against the Rule of 
40—a gold standard for SaaS businesses that 
combines growth and margin. In FY25, we reached 
31%—up from just 3% two years ago. This trajectory is 
a direct result of our focus on durable growth, 
operational leverage, and delivering more value to our 
customers without adding unnecessary complexity or 
cost. 

A CLOSING THOUGHT 

This year was exceptional—but it didn’t happen by 
accident. It happened because of the passion, 
dedication, and talent of our global team. To our 
400+ employees: thank you. These numbers reflect 
your work, your standards, and your belief in what 
we’re building together. 

To our Board and Executive team: thank you for your 
stewardship and partnership as we pursue this 
generational opportunity. 

And to you, our shareholders: thank you for your belief 
in Catapult. We are just getting started. 

Regards, 

 
Will Lopes 
Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director 

 

W e  c r o s s e d  a  s i g n i f i c a n t  m i l e s t o n e  t h i s  y e a r :  
A C V  s u r p a s s e d  U S $ 1 0 0  m i l l i o n  ( A $ 1 6 1  m i l l i o n ) ,  
d o u b l i n g  i n  j u s t  f o u r  y e a r s .  W e  a c h i e v e d  t h i s  
w h i l e  m a i n t a i n i n g  w o r l d - c l a s s  c u s t o m e r  
r e t e n t i o n  a n d  s y s t e m a t i c a l l y  d r i v i n g  o p e r a t i n g  
e f f i c i e n c y .   
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OUR VISION 
 

UNLEASH THE POTENTIAL OF EVERY TEAM AND ATHLETE ON EARTH 
 
 

OUR STRATEGY 
 

HELP TEAMS MAKE BETTER DECISIONS THROUGH A COMPREHENSIVE 
ALL-IN-ONE TECHNOLOGY 

 

SAVE TIME DISCOVER INSIGHTS 

Help teams make better use of time 
with improved workflows 

 

 

Contextualize data to increase access 
to meaningful insights 
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WE ARE THE STANDARD FOR PROFESSIONAL SPORTS 

 

Catapult exists to unleash the potential of every athlete and team on earth. Operating 
at the intersection of sports science and analytics, Catapult products are designed to 
optimize performance, avoid injury, and improve return to play. Catapult works with 
more than 4,600 teams in over 40 sports across more than 100 countries globally. 

These teams compete at the highest levels, and include some of the most demanding 
teams and leagues across the world such as the NFL, Premier League and Formula 1, 
with current and past champions across a number of different sports such as 
basketball, football, rugby and soccer. 

 

40+
100+

4,600+

S P O R T S

C O U N T R I E S

T E A M S  G L O B A L L Y

UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
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UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 

IMPORTANT NOTES:  
Chart 1: * Rule of 40 is defined as the sum of annual ACV growth percentage on a constant currency basis and Management EBITDA margin (Management EBITDA as a % of Revenue). 
Both: See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. Non-IFRS information 
has not been independently audited or reviewed, and does not form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results. 

DURING A YEAR THAT WE INTRODUCED OUR BIGGEST INNOVATIONS EVER 

Launched the world’s most 
powerful athlete monitoring 
system, a significant leap in 
speed and efficiency, in a 
completely new platform

VECTOR 8

Our next generation coaching 
experience integrating our 
new and legacy solutions 
together, with powerful 
teaching tools, built for scale

HUB PRO

Expanding our live sideline 
solution into practice 
sessions – modernizing key 
workflows with wearable 
integration

FOCUS LIVE 
FOR PRACTICE

New AI algorithms to measure 
metabolic power and expand 
sport specific parameters for 
basketball, rugby and tennis

NEW AI
ALGORITHMS

Introduced live performance 
insights to enhance 
broadcasts and analysis for
UEFA and the French Rugby 
League (LNR)

LIVE 
INSIGHTS

Expanded to more sports and 
added new language support 
including French, Spanish, 
Portuguese and Japanese

VECTOR CORE 
EXPANSION

FY25 WAS A MILESTONE YEAR FOR CATAPULT

-21.6
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Free Cash Flow (US$M)

3% 
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31% 
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Rule of 40 *
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IMPORTANT NOTES:  
ACV, ACV Growth (CC, constant currency), and ACV CAGR (CC) financial information on this page has not been independently audited or reviewed, and does not form part of Catapult’s FY25 
financial results. See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. 

STRONG GROWTH SEES ACV NOW EXCEEDING US$100 MILLION 

47.0
56.7
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86.8

101.2
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Total ACV (US$M)

 P&H  T&C  Other

 ACV, our leading indicator of future SaaS revenue, 
crossed a major milestone passing US$100M driven by 
a dual-growth engine

 Normalizing for a one-time impact of exiting Russia in 
H2, ACV grew 19% YoY (CC)

WE NOW HAVE TWO STRONG ACV GROWTH ENGINES

23.9 
27.7 

32.6 
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Tactics & Coaching ACV (US$M) 
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Performance & Health ACV (US$M)

New Video Solutions grew 42% (CC) YoY positively impacting total growth P&H grew 20% (CC) YoY when adjusted for the one-time impact
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IMPORTANT NOTES:  
ACV, ACV Growth (CC, constant currency), Multi Vertical Pro Teams, ACV Churn, and ACV Retention financial information on this page has not been independently audited or reviewed, and does 
not form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results. See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant 
currency (CC) calculations. 

ACV PER TEAM CONTINUED TO EXPAND AS TEAMS ADDED MORE SOLUTIONS
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Average Pro Team ACV (US$K) 
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Multi Vertical Pro Teams

WE CONTINUE TO EXCEED OUR RETENTION TARGET AND BE BEST-IN-CLASS

 ACV Churn remained well below our target of 5%

3.8% 
3.5% 

4.3% 
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ACV Churn % 
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GROWTH IN RECURRING REVENUE IS KEY TO PROFITABILITY

67.4 

81.9 

96.0 

10.3 

10.4 

13.7 

6.7 

7.7 

6.9 

84.4 

100.0 

116.5 

 20
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 140

 FY23  FY24  FY25

Revenue Categories (US$M)

 SaaS  Other Recurring  Capital

20% SaaS 
YoY Revenue 
Growth (CC)

Recurring
Revenue

US$110M
Recurring Revenue

94%

COST OF GROWTH CONTINUES TO DECLINE TOWARDS LONG TERM TARGET

 Variable Costs are made up of COGS, 
Delivery and Sales & Marketing 
functions

 Variable Costs continue to improve led 
by efficiencies in Sales & Marketing

 Cost to grow revenue is now only 6pp 
from our target of 45%

84.4

100.0

116.5

55.9 54.2 58.9
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Revenue & Variable Costs (US$M)

Revenue Variable Costs % of Revenue

IMPORTANT NOTES:  
Chart 1: SaaS (ACV) Revenue, SaaS (ACV) Revenue Growth, and Recurring Revenue financial information in this chart has not been independently audited or reviewed, and does not form part of 
Catapult’s FY25 financial results.  
Chart 2: Percentages in this chart do not include Non-Cash Employment Costs. The financial information in this chart, particularly the Target, is provided solely to illustrate how operating margin 
improves with scale. The information is not, and must not be relied upon as, a statement or estimate of Catapult’s current financial performance; a forecast of or guidance as to Catapult’s 
future financial performance, condition or prospects; or an indication of Catapult’s views regarding any of the foregoing. The information in this chart has not been independently audited or 
reviewed  and does not independently form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results.  
Both: See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. 
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WITH FIXED COST AS % OF REVENUE DROPPING W/ SCALE

 Fixed Costs consist of our G&A and R&D 
functions (R&D capitalized and expensed)

 Fixed Costs increased by less than 3% to 
US$43M, and combined with revenue 
growth, improved Fixed Costs as a % of 
revenue by 5pp

 Absolute Fixed Costs support the business 
at scale and are expected to rise 
modestly, while declining as a percentage 
of revenue toward our target 
of 25%*84.4
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ACCELERATING THE GROWTH OF OUR OPERATING PROFIT MARGIN

-16.9% 

4.2% 
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Revenue vs. OPEX and Profit Margin as a % of Revenue

Profit Margin Revenue OPEX % of Revenue

 We have now delivered US$19M of positive 
operating profit margin (Management EBITDA) 
since crossing our critical inflection point 
towards profitability

 As revenue continues to grow, operating profit 
margin is expected to increase towards long-
term target as OPEX (Variable + Fixed costs) as 
a % of revenue continues to decrease**

IMPORTANT NOTES:  
Chart 1: Percentages in this chart do not include Non-Cash Employment Costs.  
Chart 2: Profit Margins in this chart do not include Non-Cash Employment Costs.  
Both: R&D includes both capitalized and non-capitalized components. 
The statements marked * and ** on this page are forward-looking statements. Do not place undue reliance on them as actual results may differ, and may do so materially. The statements 
reflect Catapult’s views as at the time made, are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to uncertainties and risks, such as those described in Catapult’s most recent financial 
report. Subject to law, Catapult assumes no obligation to update, review or revise any information in this document. The other financial information on this page (particularly the Target in each 
chart) is provided solely to illustrate how operating margin improves with scale. The information is not, and must not be relied upon as, a statement or estimate of Catapult’s current financial 
performance; a forecast of or guidance as to Catapult’s future financial performance, condition or prospects; or an indication of Catapult’s views regarding any of the foregoing. The information 
in this slide has not been independently audited or reviewed , and does not independently form part of Catapult’s FY25 financial results. See page 2 for defined terms and calculation 
methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. 
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SIGNIFICANTLY EXPANDING OUR FREE CASH FLOW

 Free Cash Flow increased US$4.0M YoY

 Growth was driven by increased revenue 
and improved efficiencies

 Catapult is now in a net cash position of 
+US$7M on the Balance Sheet
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Free Cash Flow (US$M)

WITH CLEAR MEASURES OF SUCCESS

RULE OF 40 IS OUR FOCUS

ACV GROWTH (18%1) MANAGEMENT EBITDA (13%2)

Pro Team Count ACV per Pro Team ACV Retention Variable Cost 
Efficiency

Fixed Cost      
Discipline

3,602 

Continue to land new 
P&H logos with 

greenfield 
opportunity that 
exists in market

US$26.8k

Through a 
combination of cross-

sell, upsell, pricing, 
and new product 

solutions, continue 
increasing ACV per 

team

95.7%

Continue to invest in 
service and products 

to maintain ACV 
retention above 95%

50%

Support growth, 
while finding 

efficiencies in cost of 
growth

37%

Leverage our fixed 
cost foundation as we 

scale

IMPORTANT NOTES:  
Chart 1: While elements of the above FCF figures have been reviewed, the FCF calculations have not been separately independently audited or reviewed, and do not independently form part of 
Catapult’s FY25 financial results.  
Chart 2: 1 Constant currency.  
2 Expressed as the Management EBITDA margin. 
The information in chart 2 is not, and must not be relied upon as, a statement or estimate of Catapult’s current financial performance; a forecast of or guidance as to Catapult’s future financial 
performance, condition or prospects; or an indication of Catapult’s views regarding any of the foregoing. The information in this chart has not been independently audited or reviewed.  
Both: See page 2 for defined terms and calculation methodologies, including non-IFRS measures, pro forma financial information, and constant currency (CC) calculations. 
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This operating and financial review (the ‘OFR’) is designed to assist shareholders to make an informed assessment of 
Catapult’s operations, financial position, business strategies, and prospects for future financial years. The OFR forms 
part of the Directors’ Report and should be read together with the Financial Report section of this document that 
commences on page 52. 

While Catapult’s results are reported under International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), the OFR also includes 
non-IFRS information, such as Management Operating Profit, Management EBITDA, EBITDA, Gross Margin, 
Contribution Margin, Free Cash Flow (FCF), Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR), Annualized Contract Value (ACV), 
Lifetime Duration (LTD), ACV Retention, and ACV Churn. See, in particular, the Key Performance Metrics section 
below.  

The Board considers that the included non-IFRS metrics are necessary for shareholders to understand Catapult’s 
financial performance given that it is a Software-as-a-Service ('SaaS') business. The non-IFRS information has not 
been independently audited or reviewed, and should not be considered an indication of, or an alternative to, IFRS 
measures.  

KEY PERFORMANCE METRICS 

The Company measures its performance through the achievement of a number of principal SaaS metrics, and is 
pleased to report the following movements in all of these metrics: 

METRIC As at March 31, 2025 As at March 31, 2024 Change % 

ACV(i) US$101,202k US$86,813k 16.6% 

ACV Churn(ii) 4.3% 3.5% 22.9% 

Lifetime Duration (LTD)(iii) 7.8 years 7.0 years 11.4% 

Multi-vertical customers 741 483 53.4% 

The numbers in the table above are non-IFRS, have not been audited or reviewed, and have been provided for information purposes only. The non-IFRS 
metrics in the table above are defined as follows: 

(i)  ACV or Annualized Contract Value is the annualized value of all active subscription contracts in effect using an average exchange rate to US$ over 
a 1-month period ending on the Effective Calculation Date.  

(ii) ACV Churn is the reduction in ACV from the loss of customers over a period, which is calculated as the quotient (expressed as a percentage) of (x) 
the reduction in ACV from the loss of customers over the 12-month period prior to the Effective Calculation Date; divided by (y) the total ACV 
calculated as at the date that is 12 months prior to the Effective Calculation Date. 

(iii) Lifetime Duration or LTD is the average length of time that customers have continuously subscribed for Catapult’s products or services as at the 
Effective Calculation Date, weighted by each customer’s ACV as at that date. 

(iv) Multi-vertical customers is the number of customers that, as at the Effective Calculation Date, use a product from more than one of Catapult’s 
verticals.  

Effective Calculation Date means, as applicable, either March 31, 2025 or March 31, 2024.   
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL RESULTS 
     

US$’000  FY25 FY24  Change   % Change  
 Revenue  116,526  100,004 16,522 16.5% 
 Cost of goods sold 22,168 18,859 3,309 17.5% 
 Gross Profit  94,358 81,145 13,213 16.3% 
 Gross Margin % 81.0% 81.1% -0.1% -0.1% 
 Variable Costs (excluding cost of goods sold) 36,716 35,344 1,372 3.9% 
 Contribution Profit  57,642 45,801 11,841 25.9% 
 Contribution Margin %  49.5% 45.8% 3.7% 8.0% 
 Fixed Costs  42,968 41,927 1,041 2.5% 
Management Operating Profit 14,674 3,874 10,800 278.8% 
 Other Income  92  281 (189) -67.3% 
Management EBITDA 14,766 4,155 10,611 255.4% 
Management EBITDA Margin % 12.7% 4.2% 8.5% 205.0% 
Capitalized development 16,657 16,284 373 2.3% 
Share-based payments and purchase 
consideration  

(12,506) (10,181) (2,325) -22.8% 

Severance (807) (884) 77 8.7% 
 EBITDA  18,110 9,374 8,736 93.2% 
 EBITDA Margin % 15.5% 9.4% 6.1% 64.9% 
 Depreciation & Amortization  (26,891) (24,211) (2,680) -11.1% 
 Interest, taxes and other (25) (1,863) 1,838 98.7% 
 Net Profit after Tax  (8,806) (16,700) 7,894 47.3% 

  
 Management EBITDA is EBITDA excluding share-based payments, purchase consideration, and severance; and including capitalized development 

expense. Management Operating profit, EBITDA, Management EBITDA, Variable Costs, Fixed Costs, and Contribution Profit financial information 
(including growth rates and margins) are non-IFRS information. These measures are provided to assist in understanding Catapult’s financial 
performance. They have not been independently audited or reviewed, and should not be considered an indication of, or an alternative to, IFRS 
measures. 

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING PERFORMANCE 

➔ Revenue increased to $116,526k, which was 16.5% growth year on year (FY24: $100,004k, and 18.5% growth). 
This was primarily driven by growth of the Company’s subscription revenue to $95,879k, a growth of 17.1% year 
on year (FY24: $81,884k, and 21.5% growth).  

➔ Variable and Fixed costs increased only marginally during the year by 3.9% and 2.5% respectively, despite a 16.5% 
increase in revenue, reflecting disciplined cost control and efficiencies in cost of growth. 

➔ The Company achieved Free Cash Flow for FY25 of $8,598k (FY24: $4,648k), a $3,951k improvement from the 
prior year. 

➔ The Company is well positioned with $10,758k of cash at bank as at March 31, 2025 (FY24: $11,594k) after 
making net repayments of $7,500k against its existing secured revolving loan facility during the period, which 
has reduced the drawn down balance to $3,500k (FY24: $11,000k). 

➔ Customer retention remains strong, with ACV Churn at 4.3% (FY24: 3.5%).  

➔ In March 2025, the Company launched Vector 8, its most advanced athlete monitoring system to date, marking 
a significant leap forward in athlete performance monitoring. Vector 8 empowers teams to make precise, real-
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time decisions through an unprecedented live experience, streamline operations with faster, more efficient 
workflows, and gain clearer insights into athlete performance through a completely reimagined user experience. 

➔ Catapult launched the next generation of its Hub product, Hub Pro. Within Hub Pro, teams benefit from a next-
generation coaching experience, accessible from anywhere, integrating our new and legacy solutions together 
with powerful teaching tools, and built for scale. 

➔ The Company expanded its American Football Focus live sideline video solution into practice sessions, 
modernizing key workflows with wearable integration. 

➔ The Company launched new algorithms within the Vector product range to measure metabolic power and 
expand sport-specific parameters for basketball, rugby, and tennis. 

➔ The Company entered a multi-year partnership with the Rugby Football Union, Premiership Rugby, and 
Premiership Women’s Rugby to become their official provider of athlete monitoring and performance analysis 
technology. This collaboration equips the teams with Catapult’s advanced tools — including the Vector System, 
MatchTracker, Focus video analysis, and ClearSky local positioning system. 

➔ The Company secured an exclusive multi-year agreement with the Brazilian Football Confederation (CBF), 
becoming the official provider of athlete monitoring technology across all national teams. 

➔ The Company partnered with UEFA to deliver live insights for every match using MatchTracker at the 2024 
UEFA European Football Championship (Euro 2024). 

 

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS 

Catapult’s vision is to create the platform of solutions for teams and athletes, in order to improve the performance 
of athletes and teams globally.  

Within this platform Catapult has identified three “verticals” of technology solutions across two customer levels.  

 

 

During the financial year, the principal activities of the entities within the Group and across the verticals were: 

➔ In the Performance & Health vertical, a range of SaaS tracking technologies that use proprietary algorithms to 
quantify the load, effort and fatigue levels of athletes enabling them to maximize performance and minimize 
injury. 

➔ In the Tactics & Coaching vertical, a range of video analysis software that segments game footage, enables 
instant video manipulation and replay, scouting of upcoming opponents, and more effective tactical and 
coaching practices and outcomes. 

PLATFORM 

PERFORMANCE & 
HEALTH 

TACTICS & 
COACHING MEDIA & OTHER 

PERFORMANCE & 
HEALTH 

TACTICS & 
COACHING MANAGEMENT PROFESSIONAL 

SERVICES 
MEDIA & 

ENGAGEMENT 
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➔ In the Management vertical, AMS or the ‘athlete management system’, which is a cloud-based repository for 
wellness information that teams use to better understand athlete welfare, and an administration tool to plan 
rostering and the like. 

➔ In the Professional Services vertical, a range of services that maximize the productivity of customers’ sports 
technology, providing them with sports science insights and perspectives to gain a competitive edge. 

➔ In the Media & Engagement vertical, a range of services to manage and monetize the video content assets (i.e., 
footage) of customers, to drive fan engagement via social media, generate revenue from media licensing, and 
facilitate talent scouting of athletes. 

The Group’s wearable and video solution products are provided to elite clients on both a subscription and upfront 
capital sales basis, with subscription sales forming the vast majority of all sales to elite clients. Catapult is the global 
leader in wearable tracking technology and analytics solutions for the sports performance market, with more than 
4,600 teams (FY24: 4,200 teams). Catapult is also a market leader in providing innovative digital and video analytic 
software solutions to elite sports teams globally. 

With major offices in Australia, the United States, and the United Kingdom and over 440 staff in 27 countries 
(FY24: 430 staff in 26 countries), Catapult is a global technology success story that is committed to advancing the 
way data is used in elite sports. 

BUSINESS RISK  

In executing its growth plans, Catapult is subject to the market, operational and acquisition risks, including those 
outlined below: 

Geopolitical and Economic Risk  

Catapult may be affected by the global trend towards deglobalization and increasing restrictions on international 
trade, including tariffs and other measures regulating the import or export of goods, technology, and data. The 
imposition or escalation of such restrictions could increase costs of, and affect the availability of, components critical 
to Catapult’s products and services. These measures may also reduce demand for, and restrict Catapult’s ability to 
sell, its offerings in certain markets. Such trade restrictions may be introduced or intensified with little or no advance 
notice, creating uncertainty and operational risk. In FY25, Catapult relocated certain supplier manufacturing 
operations from China to Thailand in an effort to mitigate potential exposure arising from a deterioration in US – 
China trade relations. However, there can be no assurance that Catapult will be able to effectively mitigate any or all 
adverse impacts of the imposition or escalation of such restrictions.  

Catapult may be affected by general economic conditions. Changes in the broader economic and financial climate 
may adversely affect the conduct of Catapult’s operations. 

In particular, sustained economic downturns in key geographies or sectors (in particular, sports business and consumer 
sectors), where Catapult is focused may adversely affect its financial performance. Changes in economic factors 
affecting general business cycles, global health risks such as the pandemic, inflation, legislation, monetary and 
regulatory policies, the increased level of global uncertainty and volatility associated with the conflicts in Ukraine and 
the Middle East, the imposition of sanctions and export controls, as well as changes to accounting standards, may 
also affect the performance of Catapult. Additionally, while the 2023 US regional banking crisis did not adversely 
affect Catapult, further US bank or financial institution closures and continued global banking instability may affect 
Catapult’s ability to access cash, cash equivalents, and short and long-term investments, which could have a material 
adverse effect on Catapult’s business and financial condition. Such factors, in addition to other macroeconomic 
conditions, may adversely affect our customers and suppliers, which could also have a material adverse effect on 
Catapult’s business and financial condition. To help mitigate these risks, Catapult maintains a cash management 
strategy and continues to monitor its partner financial institutions and key markets. Further, detailed financial 
oversight allows responsive changes to the business following variations in the economic and financial climate.  
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Industry and Competition Risk  

Catapult’s performance could be adversely affected if existing or new competitors reduce Catapult’s market share, 
or its ability to expand into new market segments. Catapult’s existing or new competitors may have substantially 
greater resources and access to more markets than Catapult. Competitors may succeed in developing new 
technologies or alternative products which are more innovative, easier to use or more cost-effective than those that 
have been or may be developed by Catapult. This may place pricing pressure on Catapult’s product offering and may 
impact Catapult’s ability to retain existing customers, as well as Catapult’s ability to attract new customers. If 
Catapult cannot compete successfully, Catapult’s business, operating results, and financial position could be adversely 
impacted. Catapult mitigates these risks by continually striving for product innovation and development, pursuing 
strategic partnerships or acquisitions where appropriate, and monitoring competitor and industry activity to provide 
products that customers need. 

Technology and Hosting Platforms  

Catapult relies on third-party hosting providers to maintain continuous operation of its technology platforms, servers, 
and hosting services and the cloud-based environment in which Catapult provides its products. There is a risk that 
these systems may be adversely affected by various factors such as damage, faulting or aging equipment, power 
surges or failures, computer viruses, or misuse by staff or contractors. Catapult regularly monitors platform 
performance to attenuate this risk. 

Other factors, such as hacking, denial of service attacks, or natural disasters, may also adversely affect these systems 
and cause them to become unavailable. Catapult’s development of business continuity and crisis management plans 
is designed to help mitigate these concerns. 

Further, if Catapult’s third-party hosting provider ceased to offer its services to Catapult and Catapult was unable to 
obtain a replacement provider quickly, this could lead to a disruption of service to the Catapult website and cloud 
infrastructure. This could lead to a loss of revenue while Catapult is unable to provide its services, as well as adversely 
affecting its reputation. This could have a material adverse effect on Catapult’s financial position and performance. 

Cyber Security and Data Breaches 

Catapult provides its services through cloud-based and other online platforms. Despite investing in, and developing, 
our in-house technology capabilities, engaging reputable third-party IT service providers, and educating employees on 
data security and awareness, hacking or exploitation of any vulnerability on those platforms could lead to loss, theft 
or corruption of data. This could render Catapult’s services unavailable for a period while data is restored. Catapult’s 
services frequently involve processing sensitive personal or corporate confidential information. Such sensitive 
information could be taken, lost or viewed by unauthorized persons, either maliciously or via administrative or user 
error. Such a data breach or other cyber incident could lead to unauthorized disclosure of users’ data with associated 
reputational damage, claims by users, regulatory scrutiny, and fines. Although Catapult employs strategies and 
protections to improve the quality of its administrative processes and global cyber security review, including Audit and 
Risk Committee risk updates, and ongoing external cyber threat assessments to minimize security breaches and to 
protect data, these strategies and protections might not be entirely successful. In that event, disruption to Catapult’s 
services could adversely impact Catapult’s revenue, profitability, and growth prospects. The loss of customer data 
could have severe impacts on customer service, reputation, and the ability of customers to use the products. 

Manufacturing and Product Quality Risks 

Catapult currently uses third-party manufacturers to produce components of its products. There is no guarantee that 
these manufacturers will be able to meet the cost, quality and volume requirements that are required to be met for 
Catapult to remain competitive. Catapult’s products must also satisfy certain regulatory and compliance 
requirements, which may include inspection by regulatory authorities. Failure by Catapult or its suppliers to 
continuously comply with applicable requirements could result in enforcement action being taken against Catapult. 
Catapult continues to manage these risks by searching for replacement components, placing component orders well 
in advance, placing larger orders to increase stock on hand levels, and allowing the business sufficient time to respond 
to shortages and make necessary changes to manufacturers. 
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As a manufacturer, importer and supplier of products, product liability risk, faulty products and associated recall are 
key risks of the Catapult business. While Catapult has product liability insurance, not all claims will be covered by this, 
and any issues arising from product liability faults may be significant and beyond the protection of Catapult’s existing 
insurance coverage. 

Foreign Exchange  

Foreign exchange rates are particularly important to Catapult’s business, given the significant amount of revenue that 
Catapult derives outside the United States of America. Catapult’s financial statements are presented in US dollars. 
Adverse movements in foreign currency markets, which are regularly monitored by Catapult, could affect Catapult’s 
profitability and financial position.  

Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property 

Catapult relies on its ability to develop and commercialize its intellectual property. A failure to protect, develop and 
commercialize its intellectual property successfully could lead to a loss of opportunities and adversely impact the 
operating results and financial position of Catapult. Furthermore, any third party developing superior technology or 
technology with greater commercial appeal in the fields in which Catapult operates may harm the prospects of 
Catapult. 

Catapult’s success depends, in part, on its ability to obtain, maintain, and protect its intellectual property, including 
its patents. Actions taken by Catapult to protect its intellectual property, including regular trademark searches and 
strategic protection of the register, may not be adequate, complete or enforceable and may not prevent the 
misappropriation of its intellectual property and proprietary information or deter independent development of similar 
technologies by others. 

The granting of a patent does not guarantee that Catapult’s intellectual property is protected and that others will 
not develop similar technologies that circumvent such patents. There can be no assurance that any patents Catapult 
owns, controls or licenses, whether now or in the future, will give Catapult commercially significant protection of its 
intellectual property. 

While Catapult regularly monitors unauthorized use of its intellectual property rights, this can be difficult and costly. 
Catapult may not be able to detect unauthorized use of its intellectual property rights. Changes in laws in Australia 
and other jurisdictions in which Catapult operates may adversely affect Catapult’s intellectual property rights. 

Other parties may develop and patent substantially similar or substitute products, processes, or technologies to those 
used by Catapult, and other parties may allege that Catapult’s products incorporate intellectual property rights 
derived from third parties without their permission. Catapult may be subject to a claim that its current products 
infringe the intellectual property rights of a third party. Allegations of this kind, if successful, may result in injunctions 
being granted against Catapult, which could materially affect the operation of Catapult and Catapult’s ability to earn 
revenue, and cause disruption to Catapult’s services. The defense and prosecution of intellectual property rights 
lawsuits, proceedings, and related legal and administrative proceedings are costly and time-consuming, and their 
outcome is uncertain. In addition to its patent and licensing activities, Catapult also relies on protecting its trade 
secrets. Actions taken by Catapult to protect its trade secrets may not be adequate, and this could erode its 
competitive advantage in respect of such trade secrets. Further, others may independently develop similar 
technologies. 

Further Product Development Risk  

Catapult has developed its athlete video and tracking technology and software products and continues to invest in 
further systems and product development. 

Catapult cannot be certain that further development of its video and athlete tracking technology, software products, 
or online sports learning platform will be successful, that development milestones will be achieved, or that Catapult’s 
intellectual property will be developed into further products that are commercially exploitable. There are many risks 
inherent in the development of technologies and related products, particularly where the products are in the early 
stages of development. Projects can be delayed or fail to demonstrate any benefit or may cease to be viable for a 
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range of reasons, including scientific and commercial reasons. Catapult seeks to alleviate some of these risks by 
undertaking customer feedback programs to inform future product development priorities. 

Brand and Reputation Damage  

The brand and reputation of Catapult and its individual products are important in retaining and increasing the number 
of customers that utilize Catapult’s technology and products and could prevent Catapult from successfully 
implementing its business strategy. Any reputational damage or negative publicity surrounding Catapult, or its 
products could adversely impact Catapult’s business and its future growth and profitability. Catapult’s policies and 
procedures, and the training provided to employees, help to manage these risks. 

Product Liability 

Catapult’s business exposes it to potential product liability claims related to the manufacturing, marketing, and sale 
of its products. Catapult maintains product liability insurance and regularly reviews the level and scope of such cover 
to ensure it is appropriate. However, to the extent that a claim is brought against Catapult that is not covered or fully 
covered by insurance, such a claim could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial position, and results 
of Catapult. Claims, regardless of their merit or potential outcome, may adversely impact Catapult’s business and its 
future growth and profitability. 

Litigation  

Catapult may, in the ordinary course of business, be involved in disputes. These disputes could give rise to litigation 
which may be costly and may adversely affect the operational and financial results of Catapult. Catapult maintains 
financial oversight to enable responsive changes to spending in the event of such a dispute. 

Catapult Group International Ltd is the subject of a trademark opposition procedure filed before the United States 
Trademark Trial and Appeal Board (TTAB) by adidas AG in respect of a pending trademark application in the United 
States. It is not anticipated that this trademark opposition will materially affect the operation of Catapult or cause 
disruption to Catapult’s products and services. 

Given the above circumstances, no provisions have been recognized at March 31, 2025 in respect of this matter. 
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The Directors of Catapult Group International Ltd (‘Catapult’ or the 'Company’) present their Report together with 
the financial statements of the consolidated entity, being the Company and its controlled entities (the ‘Group’) for 
the 12-month period ended March 31, 2025 (‘FY25’ or ‘financial year’).  

DIRECTOR DETAILS  

The following persons were Directors of Catapult Group International Ltd during or since the end of the financial 
year.

DR ADIR SHIFFMAN  

MBBS, Medicine 

Executive Chairman  

Appointed September 4, 2013 

Member of SaaS Scaling Committee 

Dr Adir Shiffman, Executive Chairman of Catapult, has 
extensive CEO and board experience in the technology 
sector. 

Adir has founded and sold more than half a dozen 
technology startups, many of which were high growth 
SaaS (software as a service) businesses. His expertise 
includes strategic planning, international expansion, 
mergers and acquisitions, and strategic partnerships. 

Adir currently sits on several boards. He is regularly 
featured in the media in Australia, the US and Europe. 

Adir graduated from Monash University with a 
Bachelor of Medicine and a Bachelor of Surgery. Prior 
to becoming involved in the technology sector, he 
practised as a doctor. 

Directorships of listed companies over the past three 
years:  

hipages Group Holdings Limited (since July 2023)  

 

MR WILL LOPES  

BA 

Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director 

Appointed September 18, 2023 

As the former Chief Revenue Officer of Amazon 
subsidiary Audible, Mr Lopes brings world-class 
technology and growth experience from one of the 
world’s most successful technology businesses.  

Will’s successful international career at Audible saw 
him lead dramatic revenue growth and a global staff 
of hundreds of employees. He personally scaled the 
business internationally to help reach millions of 
customers across 40 different languages, and 
developed extensive enterprise partnerships to 
accelerate this customer growth.  

Will’s experience at Audible spanned some 18 years and 
he was present through its various corporate 
structures, including as a NASDAQ-listed public 
company and through its acquisition by Amazon in 
2008 as a significant subsidiary.  

Will holds a BA (magna cum laude) from Rutgers 
University. 

Directorships of listed companies over the past three 
years:  

None 
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MR SHAUN HOLTHOUSE  

B.E. (Hon), Mechanical Engineering, GAICD 

Founder, Non-Executive Director (previously Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) until April 30, 2017) 

Appointed September 4, 2013 

Member of Cyber Risk Subcommittee 

Shaun co-founded Catapult in 2006 and served as 
CEO up until April 30, 2017. During that time, he played 
a central role in developing Catapult’s wearable 
technology and is the author of many of its patents. 

Under his leadership Catapult launched and expanded 
sales into more than 15 countries - including 
establishing subsidiaries in the US and UK and 
becoming the dominant elite wearable company 
globally. 

Shaun was responsible for raising early capital, listing 
on the ASX, acquiring GPSports, XOS and Kodaplay 
(Playertek) and developing Catapult’s strategy to 
grow from a wearable only company to building out the 
technology stack for elite sport and leveraging this into 
consumer team sports. 

Prior to Catapult, Shaun had extensive experience in 
new technology transitioning into commercial 
products, including biotechnology, MEMS, fuel cells, 
and scientific instrumentation. 

Shaun holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) from the 
University of Melbourne and is a graduate member of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors. He is 
the author of numerous patents and patent 
applications in athlete tracking, analytics and other 
technologies. He also works as a professional Director 
as well as providing advisory services for technology 
start-ups. 

Directorships of listed companies over the past three 
years: 

None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MR IGOR VAN DE GRIENDT 

B.E. Electrical Engineering 

Founder, Non-Executive Director  

Appointed September 4, 2013 

Member of Audit and Risk Committee 

Chair of Cyber Risk Subcommittee 

Mr Igor van de Griendt has served as Chief Operating 
Officer (COO), Chief Technology Officer (CTO) and as 
an Executive Director before moving into a Non-
Executive Director role in July 2019. 

In his capacity as CTO, he was responsible for providing 
strategic direction and leadership in the development 
of Catapult’s products, both in the analytical and cloud 
space, as well as with respect to Catapult’s various 
wearable product offerings. Igor also provided 
guidance and operational support to Catapult’s 
Research & Development (R&D), software and cloud 
development teams during that time. 

Prior to co-founding Catapult, Igor was a Project 
Manager for the CRC for MicroTechnology which, in 
collaboration with the Australian Institute of Sport, 
developed several sensor platforms and technologies 
ultimately leading to the founding of Catapult. 

Prior to joining the CRC for MicroTechnology, Igor ran 
his own consulting business that provided engineering 
services for more than 13 years to technology 
companies such as Redflex Communications Systems 
(now part of Exelis, NYSE:XLS), Ceramic Fuel Cells 
(ASX:CFU), Ericsson Australia, Siemens, NEC Australia 
and Telstra. 

Igor holds a Bachelor of Electrical Engineering from 
Darling Downs Institute of Advanced Education (now 
University of Southern Queensland). Igor is also the 
author of numerous patents and patent applications in 
athlete tracking, and other sensor technologies. 

Directorships of listed companies over the past three 
years: 

None 
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MR JAMES ORLANDO  

BSc, MBA, GAICD 

Independent Non-Executive Director (previously 
interim Chief Financial Officer (CFO) from March 25, 
2019, until January 28, 2020) 

Appointed October 24, 2016 

Chair of Audit and Risk Committee 

Member of Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Member of Cyber Risk Subcommittee 

Mr James Orlando has held senior finance positions 
driving growth and shareholder value in the United 
States, Asia and Australia. Most recently he was the 
CFO of Veda Group Ltd (VED.ASX), leading the 
company through its successful IPO in December 2013. 

Before joining Veda, James was the CFO of AAPT 
where he focused on improving the company’s earnings 
as well as divesting its non-core consumer business. 

He also served as the CFO of PowerTEL Ltd, an ASX- 
listed telecommunications service provider which was 
sold to Telecom New Zealand in 2007. James also held 
various international treasury positions at AT&T and 
Lucent Technologies in the US and Hong Kong including 
running Lucent’s international project and export 
finance organization. 

Directorships of listed companies over the past three 
years: 

None 

MS MICHELLE GUTHRIE  

BA/Law (Hons) 

Independent Non-Executive Director  

Appointed December 1, 2019 

Chair of Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Member of Audit and Risk Committee 

Over the last 25 years, Michelle has held senior 
management roles at leading media and technology 
companies in Australia, the UK and Asia, including 
BSkyB, Star TV and Google. She has extensive 
experience and expertise in media management, and 
content development, with deep knowledge of 
traditional broadcasting, the digital media landscape 
and the transformation necessary to embrace the 
digital consumer. 

From 2003 to 2007, Michelle was based in Hong Kong 
as Chief Executive Officer of STAR TV, responsible for 
pay TV platforms and content development in India, 
China, Indonesia and across Asia. She then spent 
several years as an equity adviser and investor for 
Providence Equity covering Asia Pacific from Hong 
Kong, before moving to Singapore for a senior role at 
Google Asia Pacific. 

In her role at Google as Managing Director for Agencies, 
Michelle developed business partnerships with key 
global advertising agencies. 

From 2016 to 2018, Michelle was the Managing 
Director of the Australian Broadcasting Corporation 
where she led the transformation of the organization, 
increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of work 
across the ABC as well as investing in investigative 
journalism, regional journalism and innovative 
Australian content. 

Michelle holds a Bachelor of Arts and Law (Honours) 
from the University of Sydney. 

Directorships of listed companies over the past three 
years: 

StarHub Ltd (since August 2017), BNK Banking 
Corporation Limited (July 2021 to July 2023), and Chair 
of Mighty Kingdom Ltd (November 2020 to December 
2023). 
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MR THOMAS F. BOGAN 

BSBA 

Independent Non-Executive Director  

Appointed April 1, 2021 

Chair of SaaS Scaling Committee 

Mr Thomas Bogan currently serves as a director of 
several software companies. Until January 2022 
Thomas served as Vice Chairman of Workday, a 
leading provider of enterprise cloud applications for 
finance and human resources with an annual revenue 
of over $6 billion for its most recently completed fiscal 
year. 

Thomas joined Workday in 2018 following its US$1.5bn 
acquisition of Adaptive Insights, where he served as 
CEO. He was also a board member of several public 
and private software companies including Chairman of 
Citrix Systems (Nasdaq: CTXS). He was also Chairman 
of Nasdaq-listed Apptio until its approximate US$2bn 
acquisition by Vista Equity Partners in 2019. 

Previously, Thomas spent more than five years as a 
partner at high-profile venture capital fund Greylock 
Partners, where he focused on enterprise software 
investments. He also served as president and COO at 
Rational Software until it was acquired by IBM for 
US$2.1bn in 2003, as well as CEO at Avatar 
Technologies and Pacific Data. 

As Chairman of the SaaS Scaling Committee, Thomas 
supports the board and management with growth-
oriented SaaS-model innovations. 

Directorships of listed companies over the past three 
years:  

Workday, Inc. (since February 2022), Aspen Technology, 
Inc. (since May 2022), and CS DISCO, Inc. (since March 
2025).
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COMPANY SECRETARY 

Jonathan Garland commenced as Company Secretary on August 12, 2020. Jonathan’s career includes extensive ASX-
listed general counsel and Company secretarial experience, as well as a wide-ranging international corporate legal 
background. Jonathan graduated with honours degrees in both Law and Commerce from the University of Melbourne. 

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of Committees of Directors) held during the financial year, and 
the number of meetings attended by each Director, is as follows: 

Director Board Meetings Audit and Risk 
Committee* 

Nomination and 
Remuneration 

Committee 

SaaS Scaling 
Committee 

 A B A B A B A B 

Adir Shiffman 9 9 - - 4 4 4 4 

Will Lopes** 9 9 - - - - - - 

Shaun Holthouse 9 9 - - - - - - 

Igor van de Griendt 9 8 4 3 - - - - 

James Orlando 9 9 4 4 4 4 - - 

Michelle Guthrie 9 9 4 4 4 4 - - 

Thomas Bogan 9 8 - - - - 4 4 

Where: 

(i) Column A is the number of meetings the Director was entitled to attend; and  

(ii) Column B is the number of meetings the Director attended. 

*  The Cyber Risk Subcommittee of the Audit and Risk Committee held its first meeting on May 16, 2025. 

** Mr Lopes attends Nomination and Remuneration Committee and SaaS Scaling Committee meetings as an invitee. Mr Lopes also attends Audit 
and Risk Committee meetings as an invitee from time to time. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Group during the year were the sale of wearables subscriptions, wearable units and 
hardware, the rendering of software services and content licensing; all related to sports. 

DIVIDENDS 

In respect of the current financial year, no dividend has been paid by Catapult Group International Ltd. 

UNISSUED SHARES UNDER OPTION AND RIGHTS 

During the financial year ended March 31, 2025, the Company granted nil options as part of the Employee Share Plan.  

Unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option at the date of this report are as follows: 

Date Options 
Granted 

Expiry Date Fair Value at Grant 
Date(i) 

Exercise Price of 
Options 

Vesting Date Number under 
Options 

May 31, 2023 May 31, 2026 A$0.34 (US$0.22) A$0.97 (US$0.63) May 31, 2024 5,633,819 

     5,633,819 

(i) Grant date is the date when there is a shared understanding between employees and the Group of the terms and conditions of the plan. 

During the financial year ended March 31, 2025, the Company granted 11,821,257 rights as part of the Employee 
Share Plan.  
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Unissued ordinary shares of the Company under rights at the date of this report are as follows: 

Date Rights 
Allocated 

Expiry Date Fair Value at 
Grant Date(i)  

Exercise Price 
of Rights 

Vesting Date Number 
under Rights  

 July 1, 2021  June 30, 2025 A$1.99 A$0.00  June 30, 2024  114,100  

 July 25, 2022  June 30, 2026 A$0.95 A$0.00  June 30, 2025  1,177,100  

 July 31, 2022  June 30, 2026 A$1.00 A$0.00  June 30, 2025  413,600  

 November 1, 2022  September 30, 2026 A$0.87 A$0.00  September 30, 2025  39,540  

 March 27, 2023  September 30, 2026 A$0.70 A$0.00  September 30, 2025  50,800  

 April 1, 2023  June 30, 2026 A$0.67 A$0.00  June 30, 2025  168,300  

 July 1, 2023  June 30, 2025 A$1.00 A$0.00  June 30, 2024  508,321  

 July 1, 2023  June 30, 2025 A$1.40 A$0.00  June 30, 2024  383,540  

 July 1, 2023  June 30, 2027 A$1.00 A$0.00  June 30, 2026  1,042,019  

 July 1, 2023  June 30, 2027 A$1.40 A$0.00  June 30, 2026  1,700,460  

 October 1, 2023  June 30, 2025 A$1.07 A$0.00  June 30, 2024  6,290  

 October 1, 2023  June 30, 2027 A$1.07 A$0.00  June 30, 2026  141,980  

 October 1, 2023  June 30, 2027 A$0.69 A$0.00  June 30, 2026  343,013  

 January 1, 2024  September 30, 2025 A$1.38 A$0.00  September 30, 2024  22,792  

 January 1, 2024  December 31, 2025 A$1.38 A$0.00  December 31, 2024  5,236  

 January 1, 2024  December 31, 2027 A$1.38 A$0.00  December 31, 2026  10,670  

 April 1, 2024  June 30, 2025 A$1.55 A$0.00  June 30, 2024  7,610  

 April 1, 2024  December 31, 2025 A$1.55 A$0.00  December 31, 2024  1,100  

 August 6, 2024  June 30, 2026 A$2.00 A$0.00  June 30, 2025  384,236  

 August 6, 2024  June 30, 2026 A$2.00 A$0.00  June 30, 2025  565,890  

 August 6, 2024  June 30, 2028 A$2.00 A$0.00  June 30, 2027  503,130  

 September 1, 2024  June 30, 2026 A$2.12 A$0.00  June 30, 2025  5,863,083  

 September 1, 2024  June 30, 2026 A$0.67 A$0.00  June 30, 2025 1,335,008 

 September 1, 2024  June 30, 2028 A$0.67 A$0.00  June 30, 2027  925,802  

 September 1, 2024  June 30, 2028 A$2.12 A$0.00  June 30, 2027  1,243,362  

 September 2, 2024  June 30, 2026 A$2.10 A$0.00  August 31, 2027  263,560  

 September 2, 2024  June 30, 2026 A$2.10 A$0.00  June 30, 2025 168,180 

 September 2, 2024  June 30, 2028 A$2.10 A$0.00  June 30, 2027  93,300  

 October 1, 2024  June 30, 2026 A$2.44 A$0.00  June 30, 2025  76,330  

 January 1, 2025  September 30, 2026 A$3.58 A$0.00  September 30, 2025  29,570  

 January 1, 2025  December 31, 2026 A$3.58 A$0.00  December 31, 2025  32,600  

 January 1, 2025  September 30, 2028 A$3.58 A$0.00  September 30, 2027  37,720  

 January 1, 2025  December 31, 2028 A$3.58 A$0.00  December 31, 2027  10,110  

     17,668,352 

(i) Grant date is the date when there is a shared understanding between employees and the Group of the terms and conditions of the plan. 

All options and rights expire on their expiry date. All options and rights are issued in accordance with the Catapult 
Employee Share Plan, as approved by shareholders. 
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SHARES ISSUED DURING OR SINCE THE END OF THE YEAR AS A RESULT OF EXERCISE  

During the financial year ended March 31, 2025, the Company transferred to employees 12,509,792 treasury shares as 
options and performance rights exercised under the Employee Share Plan. The options and rights were exercised at 
an average exercise price of A$1.02 (US$0.67) and A$0.00 respectively. 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

The Operating and Financial Review (OFR), which is incorporated by reference into, and forms part of, this Directors’ 
Report, is presented separately on page 20. 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

The Remuneration Report (audited), which is incorporated by reference into, and forms part of, this Directors’ Report, 
is presented separately on page 37.  

INDEMNITIES GIVEN AND INSURANCE PREMIUMS PAID TO AUDITORS AND OFFICERS  

The Company indemnifies Directors, secretaries, and executive officers of the Company and its subsidiaries against 
any liability incurred as a result of them being, or acting in their capacity as, an officer of the Company or a subsidiary, 
to the maximum extent permitted by law. No payment has been made to indemnify any director, secretary or executive 
officer of the Company or its subsidiaries during, or since the end of, the financial year. 

The Company also maintains a Directors’ and Officers’ insurance policy which, subject to some exceptions, provides 
insurance cover to past, present or future officers of the Company and its subsidiaries, including all Directors of the 
Company. The Company paid an insurance premium for the policy during the year. Details of the amount of the 
premium paid in respect of insurance policies are not disclosed as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the 
contract. 

To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify Ernst & Young, as part of the terms of its audit 
engagement agreement, against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). No 
payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during, or since the end of, the financial year. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

During FY25, Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, performed no non-audit services for the Company (FY24: Nil) 

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under s307C of the Corporations Act 2001, is included 
on page 35 of this financial report and forms part of this Directors’ Report. 

ENVIRONMENTAL LEGISLATION 

Catapult’s operations are not subject to any particular or significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory in Australia. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, to take responsibility on 
behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Other than as set out in the Financial and Operating Performance section of the Operating and Financial Review, 
there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the year. 
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EVENTS ARISING SINCE THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD  

The Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year that has 
not been dealt with in this Directors’ Report or the Financial Report and that, in their opinion, has significantly affected, 
or may significantly affect in future years, Catapult’s operations, the results of those operations or the state of 
Catapult’s affairs. 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191 relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the Directors’ Report and, in accordance with that instrument, 
amounts in the Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the 
nearest dollar. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

Dr Adir Shiffman 
Executive Chairman 
May 20, 2025  

IMPORTANT NOTICE 

This document, including the Directors’ Report, Remuneration Report, and Financial Report, may contain forward-looking statements, 
including plans and objectives. Do not place undue reliance on them as actual results may differ and may do so materially. They 
reflect Catapult’s views as at the time made, are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to uncertainties and risks, 
such as those described in Catapult’s most recent financial report. Subject to law, Catapult assumes no obligation to update, review 
or revise any information in this document. 

While Catapult’s results are reported under IFRS, this document may also include non-IFRS information, such as Management 
Operating Profit, Management EBITDA, EBITDA, Gross Margin, Contribution Margin, Free Cash Flow (FCF), Annual Recurring 
Revenue (ARR), Annualized Contract Value (ACV), Lifetime Duration (LTD), ACV Retention, and ACV Churn. These measures are 
provided to assist in understanding Catapult’s financial performance, given that it is a SaaS business. They may not have been 
independently audited or reviewed, and should not be considered an indication of, or an alternative to, IFRS measures. 

The information in this document is for general information purposes only and does not purport to be complete. It should be read in 
conjunction with Catapult’s other market announcements. Readers should make their own assessment and take professional 
independent advice prior to taking any action based on the information. 

Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this document may not add up precisely to the totals provided, and percentages 
may not precisely reflect the presented figures.  
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

Ernst & Young 
8 Exhibition Street  
Melbourne  VIC  3000  Australia 
GPO Box 67 Melbourne  VIC  3001 

 Tel: +61 3 9288 8000 
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777 
ey.com/au 

 

Auditor’s independence declaration to the directors of Catapult Group 
International Ltd 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Catapult Group International Ltd for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2025, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit;  

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Catapult Group International Ltd and the entities it controlled during 
the financial year.  

 
 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ashley Butler 
Partner 
20 May 2025 
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Dear Shareholder,  

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the 
Remuneration Report for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2025 (FY25). The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee remains focused on 
applying a remuneration approach that supports 
Catapult's strategy across the various geographies of 
our operations and enables us to attract, retain and 
motivate employees to deliver outstanding business 
outcomes for all of our shareholders and 
stakeholders.  

A JOURNEY  

It has been an exceptional year for Catapult, as you 
will have read throughout this year's 2025 Annual 
Report. As a member of the Board, I have been 
privileged to witness the enormous strides our 
company has made, and I am even more excited by 
the global opportunity that is in front of us.  

As Chair of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee, this year I made it a priority to ensure our 
Remuneration Report continues to evolve, thereby 
assisting our shareholders and stakeholders in being 
well-informed on our approach to remuneration as it 
relates to our philosophy, policies, and practices. I am 
pleased to outline a number of changes in this year’s 
Remuneration Report:  

• Detailing our Remuneration Philosophy: we want 
our shareholders and stakeholders to understand 
how we think about remunerating our people and 
our leadership team. We are now providing 
information about our remuneration principles 
and philosophy.  

• Disclosing Key Performance Indicators and 
Outcomes: it is important we ensure 
shareholders and stakeholders have the utmost 
confidence that Catapult is judging and 
rewarding KMP performance on the basis of 
clear and transparent objectives and outcomes.  
We have now provided further information on 
KMP performance to assist shareholders and 
stakeholders in making these assessments.

 
 
 

 
 

• Clarifying Catapult’s Incentive Structure: we 
have taken on board feedback that our variable 
remuneration structure wasn’t clear. We have 
now simplified the explanation of the equity 
incentive plan, which outlines that Catapult has a 
single equity incentive plan, which is assessed on 
an annual basis.   

• Standardising Performance Disclosures: we have 
historically presented performance outcomes for 
KMP in different performance periods, which has 
caused some confusion. We have now 
standardised the reporting so that the disclosure 
of all KMP performance relates to the same 
performance period.  

• Explaining our Remuneration Benchmarking: we 
are now providing information on how we 
benchmark CEO & MD fixed remuneration, which 
also applies across the organization. 

Catapult is on a journey, but I am confident the 
improvements we have made this year will assist our 
shareholders and stakeholders to better assess and 
understand significantly more about our 
remuneration philosophy, practices and outcomes.  

Regards,  

 

Michelle Guthrie 
Chair of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee

  

* This letter does not form part of the Directors’ Report or Catapult’s FY25 financial results, and has not been independently audited or reviewed. 
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The Directors of the Company present the Remuneration Report for the year ended March 31, 2025 for Key 
Management Personnel (KMP), defined as persons with authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and 
controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director whether executive or otherwise. 
This Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors’ Report. It has been prepared in accordance with section 300A 
of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and is audited. 

Unless stated otherwise, each KMP held their position for the whole of FY25 and up to the date of this report. 

Non-Executive Directors Executive KMP 

Shaun Holthouse Adir Shiffman – Executive Chairman 

James Orlando Will Lopes – Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director 

Igor van de Griendt Bob Cruickshank – Chief Financial Officer 

Michelle Guthrie  

Thomas Bogan  

 

REMUNERATION STRUCTURE 

Catapult is a technology driven Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) company and operates in a competitive global 
marketplace for attracting and retaining the talent required to drive the Company’s ambitious vision and strategy. 
This requires a workforce with the skills, experience, and innovative mindset that is on par with comparable global 
technology companies. Catapult’s remuneration structure reflects this environment, and reflects the reality that it 
must be competitive with the remuneration practices of its global peers to maximize the Company’s ability to retain, 
attract, and develop top talent. As the majority of Catapult’s executive management and workforce are situated 
outside of Australia, particularly in the United States of America and Europe, Catapult’s remuneration structure 
reflects similar practices in these regions. Catapult’s remuneration structure is also consistent with the Board’s desire 
to align remuneration outcomes with the interests of shareholders. 

Remuneration Principles and Philosophy 

The Board’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) is responsible for determining and reviewing the 
remuneration of Directors and senior management. In doing so, the NRC’s objective is the implementation of principles 
aimed at: 

• Ensuring Director, other KMP, and employee remuneration is on an even playing field with comparable technology 
companies globally 

• Cultivating an integrated culture that is founded on innovation, creativity, and a relentless focus on maximizing 
value to Catapult’s customers in the spirit of founder-run companies 

• Creating an environment that employees ‘want’ to be part of, and evoking a missionary zeal to their work that 
triggers a flywheel effect across the Company that drives attraction and retention of top talent 
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Catapult’s remuneration structure is guided by the following philosophy: 
 

Collaborative Objective Competitive 

Create equity participation for all 
employees, and long-term participation 

amongst executive management 

Use objective and fact-based analysis 
based on available market data 

Be competitive across a global talent 
pool from high-growth tech and SaaS 

companies 
 

Flexible Affordable Alignment 

Create flexibility to allow for Board and 
executive management discretion 

Make it affordable based on the financial 
position of the Company 

Maintain limited dilution to current 
shareholder base and align with 

shareholder performance through ‘at 
risk’ variable remuneration through the 

Equity Incentive Plan (EIP) 
 

Catapult’s remuneration structure is reviewed annually by the NRC, and any proposed changes are considered by the 
Board. This forms part of a regular review process of Catapult’s Remuneration Policy, and ensures Catapult retains 
the maximum ability to incentivize, attract, and retain top talent in the various regions in which it operates. 

Executive Chairman Remuneration 
The Executive Chairman receives a fixed director fee of A$300,000 per annum (equal to approximately US$195,726) 
and is eligible for a short-term incentive settled in cash, being equal to 67% at target of the fixed director fee. 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
The Director Salary Sacrifice Plan continued to operate during FY25 and is designed to align Director remuneration 
outcomes with shareholders’ interests. Plan features are disclosed in this report. 

Executive KMP Remuneration 
Executive KMP have an opportunity at target remuneration, subject to the achievement of annual performance 
targets, to earn up to 80% of base salary via Performance Rights that vest 12 months after allocation, and an 
opportunity at target remuneration of up to 100% of base salary via Performance Rights that vest 36 months after 
allocation. Catapult’s FY25 KMP remuneration structure was unchanged from FY24 and is outlined overleaf. 
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Catapult Executive KMP Remuneration Objectives 

 
 

  
 

 
 Shareholder value creation 

through equity components 
An appropriate balance of 

‘fixed’ and ‘at risk’ 
components 

Creation of award 
differentiation to drive 

performance culture and 
behaviours 

Attract, motivate, and retain 
executive talent required at 

Catapult’s stage of 
development 

    

Base Salary and Total Target Remuneration (TTR)(i) is set by reference to relevant market benchmarks 

 

Fixed  
 At Risk 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Base Salary 
 
 Equity Incentive Plan (EIP) 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 Fixed remuneration is set 

based on relevant market 
relativities reflecting 

responsibilities, performance, 
qualifications, experience, 
and geographic location 

 
 

Performance outcomes are based on assessments of performance targets appropriate to 
the specific position and set each performance year(ii). 

 

    

Remuneration to be delivered as: 

 

Cash and includes other 
non-monetary employment 

benefits including long 
service leave, health 

insurance and pension 
contributions 

 
 

Performance Rights with a 12-month vesting 
period post allocation. 

Performance Rights with a 36-month 
vesting period post allocation. 

    

(i) TTR refers to the total amount of pay that a role will earn for 100% achievement of expected results. It is intended to be 
positioned in the 3rd quartile when compared to peer groups comprising of similar companies in terms of industry and 
financial performance. 

(ii)  Note that the Board retains discretion in relation to equity-based awards, including what aspects of corporate and personal 
performance are assessed in a performance year, what performance KPIs, hurdles, and outcomes are, when and what form 
rewards are made and vest. 
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The following figure illustrates the time horizon over which the FY25 executive management remuneration 
components operate. 

 
Based on Catapult’s remuneration principles and philosophy, Catapult’s target remuneration mix for executive KMP’s 
in FY25 was as follows: 

Remuneration Mix (Target) Fixed Remuneration Variable Remuneration 
(Cash Bonus or EIP) 

Total Target 
Remuneration 

Adir Shiffman – Executive Chairman 60% 40% 100% 

Will Lopes – CEO & MD 36% 64% 100% 

Bob Cruickshank – CFO 38% 62% 100% 

Based on Catapult’s remuneration principles and philosophy, Catapult’s maximum remuneration mix for executive 
KMP’s in FY25 was as follows: 

Remuneration Mix (Maximum) Fixed Remuneration Variable Remuneration 
(Cash Bonus or EIP) 

Total Maximum 
Remuneration 

Adir Shiffman – Executive Chairman 54% 46% 100% 

Will Lopes – CEO & MD 25% 75% 100% 

Bob Cruickshank – CFO 27% 73% 100% 

 
The remuneration mix disclosed in the above table is dependent on the future share price of Catapult Group 
International Ltd. It is calculated using the premium applied to the share price at allocation, as described on page 41. 

FIXED REMUNERATION 

The majority of Catapult’s current and future workforce is situated outside Australia. Therefore, Catapult does not 
consider other Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) listed entities as a suitable comparator group when considering 
an approach to the remuneration of its Directors, other KMP, and employees. As such, and in line with Catapult’s 
philosophy to have an objective remuneration structure, Catapult utilizes the Aon Radford Technology Compensation 
Database (the ‘Radford Database’) to independently assess and benchmark remuneration across all levels of the 
Company against the workforce at a comparator group of companies. 

The Radford Database provides comprehensive remuneration insights from almost 2,000 technology companies 
globally, enabling companies to use data to drive decision-making and inform their remuneration strategy. 
Contributing companies to the database include some of the largest technology companies, including Adobe, Amazon, 
Apple, Microsoft, Oracle, Salesforce and SAP. The insights derived from the Radford Database ensure Catapult’s 
remuneration is competitive, consistent with Catapult’s remuneration philosophy, and maximise the Company’s ability 
to retain, attract, and develop top technology talent.  



 

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

 CATAPULT GROUP INTERNATIONAL LTD 
 2025 ANNUAL REPORT
  
 
 

  41 UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 

Catapult, through the NRC, conducts an annual review of executive management remuneration to ensure the 
Company maintains the ability to retain its top talent, and to adjust for growth in the responsibilities of executive 
management. For FY25, there were no changes to the base salary of KMPs. For FY24, the NRC recommended to the 
Board, which subsequently approved, an increase to the base salary of the CEO & MD from US$450,000 to 
US$550,000. This positioned the CEO & MD’s base salary and target potential total remuneration in the midpoint of 
a range of the remuneration levels of other executives in a comparator group of companies from the Radford 
Database with the following characteristics:  

• Country: United States of America  
• City: Boston  
• Sector: Technology 
• Sub-sector: Software and Services  
• Revenue: US$50m - US$100m  
• Headcount: 500-999  
• Executive Geographical Responsibility: Global  

The Board is committed to regularly reviewing the appropriateness of senior management remuneration, as Catapult 
does for all employees, and to ensure the comparator group of companies reflects the most relevant group of 
companies of a commensurate profile, size, and stage of growth.  

VARIABLE REMUNERATION 

Catapult operates its EIP to incentivize, attract, and retain employees across all levels of the organization. The EIP 
framework allows for flexibility in setting performance targets year by year, which takes into account Catapult’s 
unique position as a fast-paced and high-growth technology company that is scaling globally and revolutionizing the 
sports technology industry. As such, the NRC believes Catapult’s EIP framework is appropriate for where the Company 
is in its journey, and it ensures there is strong alignment between KMP, and shareholder interests. As outlined earlier, 
the NRC reviews Catapult’s EIP framework annually to ensure it continues to be appropriate, and that Catapult 
retains the maximum ability to incentivize, attract, and retain top talent in the various regions in which it operates. 

EIP participants include KMP (excluding the Executive Chairman) and other employees as determined by the Board. 
Share-based payments under the EIP are made in the form of Performance Rights, which are exchanged for Catapult 
shares, and are allocated based on the outcome of a combination of financial measures (the Company scorecard, 
which is a mix of business-critical, financially- and Company-focussed objectives set for the KMP) and non-financial 
measures (Individual performance goals and objectives), as outlined further in this report. These measures are 
reviewed and set annually by the Board to ensure they are appropriate and that there is alignment between KMP and 
shareholder interests. 

For KMP to receive their EIP award, a 12-month and 36-month service-based vesting period applies from the allocation 
date. For FY25, performance rights allocated under the EIP on July 1, 2025, that vest after 12 months (June 30, 2026) 
are calculated using the 30-day Value Weighted Average Price (‘VWAP’) of Catapult ordinary shares prior to April 1, 
2025, and applying a 12.5% premium to the VWAP. The value of EIP awards that vest after 36 months (June 30, 2028) 
is calculated using the 30-day VWAP of Catapult ordinary shares prior to April 1, 2025, and applying a 62% premium 
to the VWAP. The allocation price for performance rights that vest on June 30, 2026 is A$4.0383, and for those that 
vest on June 30, 2027 is A$5.8232. By applying a premium to the VWAP at the time of allocation, there needs to be 
significant and ongoing shareholder returns generated – 12.5% after one year and 62% after three years – for KMP 
and employees to receive the full value of their EIP award when it vests. If shareholder returns are less than 12.5% 
after one year and 62% after three years, the value of EIP awards at vesting will be less than their value on the 
allocation date. 

Catapult’s EIP is settled in the form of share-based compensation. With an individual’s award subject to a service 
period of between 12 to 36 months from the date of allocation, and the associated long-term share price risk 
associated with that timeframe, the EIP provides for strong alignment between KMP, and shareholder interests, and 
for decisions to be made in the long-term interests of the Company. All awards are also subject to a Clawback, and 
Malus policy, and forfeiture depending on ‘good leaver status’.  
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In FY25, EIP allocated were based on the assessment of performance for the period April 1, 2023 to March 31, 2024 
(FY24). For accounting purposes, an estimate of incentives to be allocated in FY26 based on the performance period 
April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025 (FY25) has been recognized as at March 31, 2025. The estimate has been performed in 
accordance with Accounting Standards utilizing the same methodology as the plan and most recent allocations. Upon 
these incentives being allocated in the subsequent period, the estimate of units to be allocated will be revised. The 
Executive Chairman’s variable remuneration continued to be based on the annual Company scorecard and payable in 
cash.  

The FY25 Company scorecard for the performance period was focused on the Company’s goal of progress towards 
achieving the Rule of 40, and included an ACV growth metric target and Management EBITDA target. The FY25 
scorecard achieved a 130% goal attainment outcome against target hurdles. Goal attainment of the Company 
scorecard for FY25 was capped at 130%. A minimum attainment outcome against target hurdles was required to 
achieve the FY25 goal attainment floor outcome of 80%.  

Some additional key financial performance measures are highlighted in the following table: 
      

Item 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 

 (12 months) (12 months) (12 months) (12 months) (9 months) 
EPS (US Cents) (3.4) (7.0) (13.4) (14.8) (4.6) 
Dividends (US cents per 
share) - - - - - 

Revenue (US$’000) 116,526  100,004 84,360 77,013 50,042 
Management EBITDA* 

(US$’000) 14,766 4,155 (14,225) (13,860) (973) 

EBITDA (US$’000) 18,110 9,374 (11,015)  (14,270) 2,208 

Net loss (US$’000) (8,806) (16,700) (31,484)  (32,187) (8,841) 

Opening share price (A$) 1.550 0.665 1.445 1.890 1.125 

Closing share price (A$) 3.460 1.550 0.665 1.445 1.890 

* Management EBITDA is EBITDA excluding share-based payments, severance, purchase consideration, and including capitalized development 
expense. Included in the adjustments for each of the 2025, 2024, 2023, and 2022 financial years is the SBG acquisition consideration, which is 
treated as a share-based payment expense. Management EBITDA is a non-IFRS measure and is unaudited. 
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Performance Scorecard 

The following table outlines detailed outcomes of the EIP measures for the KMPs for FY25. The FY25 Company 
Scorecard required a minimum attainment outcome against target hurdles to achieve the FY25 goal attainment floor 
outcome of 80%. It also had a maximum stretch performance of 130%. The Individual Scorecard had a maximum 
stretch performance of 130%. The total maximum outcome for KMPs under the EIP was 169% of the target. The 
outcome of the FY25 Company scorecard will be used to calculate the EIP allocated in FY26 in July 2025. In assessing 
these outcomes, the Board considered performance against the following measures. 
The Rule of 40 is an important barometer for measuring Catapult’s progress as a SaaS business. The Rule of 40 
stipulates that world-class SaaS businesses will reach 40% when combining their growth and profit margin rates. 
Catapult uses ACV growth as the growth-rate metric, and Management EBITDA as the profit metric, to calculate its 
value on the Rule of 40. 
 

       

Target 
Measure 

Rationale Target Performance 
Outcome1 

Outcome Commentary 

Company Scorecard (up to 130%) 

Rule of 
40 

• ACV Growth is the key leading 
indicator of Catapult's future 
SaaS revenue 

• ACV Growth represents the 
growth in new subscription 
customers, and growth in 
upselling and cross-selling to 
existing subscription customers 

• Management EBITDA is the key 
measure of Catapult’s cash 
profitability 

• Management EBITDA removes 
the impact of material non-cash 
movements in the Profit and Loss 
statement, notably share-based 
payments and capitalised 
research and development 

100%  

 
 

130% • ACV growth 
increased by 18% 
YoY on a constant 
currency basis, 
driven by organic 
subscription 
revenue growth 

• Management 
EBITDA as a 
percentage of 
revenue was 13% 

• Together, Catapult 
scored 31% on the 
Rule of 40 

Total 
 

100% 
 

130% 
 

1 Performance outcome is based on a scale of threshold – target – stretch 
Individual Scorecard (up to 130%) 

Customer, 
Product & 
People 

• Individual criteria includes an 
assessment of performance 
associated with elevating the 
voice of the customer, initiatives 
on the FY25 product roadmap, 
the performance of the Executive 
team, the performance of the 
corporate functions, and 
maintaining employee 
engagement above a set 
threshold. 

 

100%  

 

 

110% • Assessed to have 
achieved a score of 
110% for Individual 
performance criteria 

Total   100%   110%   
      
Total Percentage Achieved 143%  
Total Percentage of Maximum Achieved  85%  
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Based on the outcomes of the FY25 Company Scorecard, the following variable remuneration is settled via cash: 

Name Target at Risk Amount 
(US$) 

Percentage achieved 
during the period 

Variable awards achieved 
(US$) 

Adir Shiffman – Executive 
Chairman(i) 130,484 130.0% 169,629 

(i)  All amounts for Australian-based directors and KMPs are translated from Australian Dollars to United States Dollars at an average exchange 
rate for the period ended March 31, 2025 of 0.6524. 

Based on the outcomes of the FY25 Company and Individual Scorecards, the following performance rights are 
expected to be allocated to KMPs in July 2025 or, in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director, 
following approval at the Company’s Annual General Meeting in August 2025. These performance rights vest on June 
30, 2026, 15 months after the end of the performance period. 

Name Target at Risk Amount 
(US$) 

Percentage achieved 
during the period 

EIP expected to be 
allocated (US$)(i) 

Will Lopes – Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing 
Director 

429,000 143.0% 613,470 

Bob Cruickshank – Chief 
Financial Officer 280,000 143.0% 400,400 

(i)  The performance rights allocated, calculated as allocation price multiplied by the number of performance rights allocated, are not expected to 
exceed the amounts disclosed in the table above. They will remain subject to a 15-month service condition ending on June 30, 2026. 

Based on the outcomes of the FY25 Company and Individual Scorecards, the following performance rights are 
expected to be allocated to KMPs in July 2025, or in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director, 
following approval at the Company’s Annual General Meeting in August 2025. These performance rights vest on June 
30, 2028, 39 months after the end of the performance period. 

Name Target at Risk Amount 
(US$) 

Percentage achieved 
during the period 

EIP expected to be 
allocated (US$)(i) 

Will Lopes – Chief Executive 
Officer and Managing 
Director 

550,000 143.0% 786,500 

Bob Cruickshank – Chief 
Financial Officer 280,000 143.0% 400,400 

(i)  The performance rights allocated, calculated as allocation price multiplied by the number of performance rights allocated, are not expected to 
exceed the amounts disclosed in the table above. They will remain subject to a 39-month service condition ending on June 30, 2028. 
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Director Fee Sacrifice Plan 

The Salary Sacrifice Offer is designed to encourage Directors to build their Shareholdings in the Company. It is not 
intended to be used for the purposes of providing Directors with additional remuneration. 

Participation in the Salary Sacrifice Offer by a Director in respect of their annual base fees is voluntary except the 
Board has determined that fees paid to Directors in their role as Chairman of a Board Committee will be satisfied by 
the issue of Rights. Therefore, participation in the Salary Sacrifice Offer by a Director for Chairman Committee fees 
will be mandatory. The current fee payable for the Chairmen of the SaaS Scaling Committee, Audit & Risk Committee, 
and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee is $100,000 AUD, $40,000 AUD, and $20,000 AUD, respectively. 

The material terms of the Salary Sacrifice Offer are set out below 

Amount sacrificed Voluntary Component 

Directors may, at their election, sacrifice up to a maximum of 100% of their total pre-tax base 
annual fees (inclusive of superannuation).  

There is no minimum amount that a Director must sacrifice in respect of the voluntary 
component. 

Directors may only sacrifice fees in relation to “prospective” fees. 

Mandatory Component 

Directors must sacrifice 100% of their pre-tax Chairman Committee fees (inclusive of 
superannuation).  

Number of Rights 
to be granted 

The maximum number of Rights that may be acquired by Directors depends on: 

• the amount chosen to be sacrificed by a Director; 
• the amount of a Director’s remuneration from time to time; 
• whether a Director is a Chairman of a Board Committee; and  
• the Share price at the time when Rights are granted.  

Calculation of the 
number of Rights 

The number of Rights to be granted will be calculated by reference to a price (the Reference 
Price), determined as follows: 

• the VWAP over the 30 trading days prior to April 1 of the year of the relevant July 
commencement month. 

Opting in and out Each Director may opt-in or opt-out of the Voluntary Component of the Salary Sacrifice Offer 
in accordance with the terms of the Salary Sacrifice Offer (such opt-in period being, the Opt-in 
Period). The Opt-in Period for newly appointed Directors may occur at a different time than 
those for existing Directors. 

Timing of 
allocation of 
Rights 

The timing of the allocation of Rights is as follows: 

• following the closing of the Opt-in Period for each Director or, where the grant of Rights to 
a Director is subject to receipt of shareholder approval, the date of the Company’s general 
meeting which approves the allocation of the Rights to that Director. 

Structure of 
Rights 

The structure of the Rights is as follows: 

• Rights have a 12-month vesting period (i.e., will vest at the end of the 12-month contribution 
period) subject to meeting a defined service condition; and 

• Rights convert automatically to restricted or unrestricted Securities (per the Director’s 
election) at the vesting date. 
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Restriction period 
on Shares 

Shares allocated on vesting of Rights will be subject to trading restrictions on dealing. 

The restriction period will be until the earlier of: 

• the restriction period nominated by the Director (which may be up to 15 years from the grant 
date for the Rights); or 

• the date the participant ceases to hold office as a Director. 

Exceptions to 
trading 
restrictions 

The Board may exercise its discretion to release all or part of the restricted Shares on a case-by-
case basis in exceptional circumstances (for example, demonstrated financial or personal 
hardship or other extenuating circumstances). 

Retirement and 
cessation of 
employment 

If a Director ceases office, then unvested Rights vest (pro-rated for time up to the date of 
cessation of office) and are automatically exercised on the date of cessation. The remaining 
unvested Rights immediately lapse on cessation of office. 

Dividends, capital 
returns and 
voting rights 

Rights do not carry dividend or voting entitlements. However, as Shares issued or transferred on 
the vesting of the Rights have been ‘earned’, participants will be immediately entitled to any 
dividends and capital returns paid on the Shares and to exercise voting rights attached to any 
Shares allocated. 
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KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION 

The relative proportions of remuneration, earned by Executive Directors and KMP during FY25, that are linked to 
performance and those that are fixed are as follows: 

Name Fixed 
Remuneration 

At Risk – Variable 
Remuneration/EIP 

Fixed Remuneration(i) 

($) 

Variable 
Remuneration/EIP 

($) Total ($) 

Adir Shiffman 54% 46% 195,726 169,629 365,355 

Will Lopes 30% 70% 590,122 1,355,121 1,945,243 

Bob Cruickshank 60% 40% 413,011 270,353 683,364 
(i) Fixed remuneration includes base salary plus other employment benefits, including long service leave, health insurance, and pension contributions 
 
For FY25, the EIP will be settled solely by way of Performance Rights, other than for the Executive Chairman’s at-risk 
variable component, which will be provided by way of cash. The percentages disclosed reflect the valuation of 
remuneration consisting of Rights, based on the value of Rights expensed during the year based on accounting 
standards and includes expenses associated with Rights allocated in FY25 as well as portions from other years not yet 
vested. 

Service Agreements 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Executive Directors and other Key Management Personnel are 
formalized in a Service Agreement. The major provisions of agreements with persons occupying such roles as at 
March 31, 2025 and which relate to remuneration are set out below: 

Name Position Base Salary 
(US$)  

Term of Agreement Duration of 
Agreement 

Notice Period 

Adir Shiffman Executive Chairman 195,726 Contract - 1 month 

Will Lopes Chief Executive Officer 550,000 Permanent - 6 months 

Bob Cruickshank Chief Financial Officer 350,000 Permanent - 6 months 

 
Details of Actual Remuneration 
As a general principle, Australian Accounting Standards require the value of share-based payments to be calculated 
at the time of grant and to be expensed over the performance period and applicable service period. This may not 
reflect what Executives actually receive or became entitled to during the year.  

The tables in this section are voluntary disclosures and are not prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. They are designed to provide greater transparency for shareholders on the pay and benefits for FY25 that 
the KMPs actually received or is payable, or in the case of share-based payments, were allocated during FY25 and 
FY24 while they were a KMP. KMPs receive a significant portion of their variable remuneration in the form of equity. 
The value they actually receive from that variable remuneration is tied directly to Catapult’s share price performance 
and whether the variable remuneration vests. 
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The table below details the actual remuneration received by or payable to KMPs of Catapult Group International Ltd 
during specified financial years and, in the case of share-based payments, includes allocations made during each 
relevant financial year. 

Director and Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

 Year Short-term employee benefits 
Post-

employment 
benefits 

Share-based payments (Options and 
Performance Rights) (iv) 

Total 

  Cash salary and 
fees Bonus Other (i) Pension EIP Salary Sacrifice 

 

US$   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Executive Directors         

Adir Shiffman  
Executive Chairman 

2025 195,726 169,629 - - - - 365,355 
2024 197,428 171,104 - -  - 368,532 

Will Lopes 
Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director 

2025 550,000 - 29,122 11,000 1,258,079 - 1,848,201 

2024 550,000 - 54,135 10,962 525,812 -  1,140,909 

Non-Executive Directors 

Shaun Holthouse 
2025 58,579 - - 6,663 - - 65,242 
2024 59,355 - - 6,455 - -  65,810 

James Orlando 
2025 8,082 - - 889 - 91,338 100,309 
2024 48,238 - - 5,232 -  46,066   99,536  

Igor van de Griendt 
2025 - - - - - 65,241 65,241 
2024 34,651 - - 3,737 -  43,873   82,261  

Michelle Guthrie 
2025 36,636 - - 4,140 - 45,669 86,445 
2024 59,355 - - 6,455 -  13,162   78,972  

Thomas Bogan 
2025 - - - - - 130,483 130,483 
2024 - - - - -  131,618   131,618  

Other Key Management Personnel 
Bob Cruickshank(ii) 
Chief Financial Officer 

2025 350,000 - 28,596 15,586 724,128 - 1,118,310 
2024 350,000 - 35,941 12,115 623,861 -  1,021,917  

Hayden Stockdale(ii) 
Chief Financial Officer 

2025 - - - - - - - 

2024(iii) 43,873 - 163,284 13,177 (96,508) -  123,826  

Total  2025 1,199,023 169,629 57,718 38,278 1,982,207 332,731 3,780,586 
Total  2024 1,342,900  171,104   253,360  58,133 1,053,165  234,719   3,113,381  

 
The amounts within this table are measured using a non-IFRS measure. The non-IFRS information has not been independently audited or reviewed, 
and should not be considered an indication of, or an alternative to, IFRS measures. 
All 2025 amounts translated from Australian Dollars to United States Dollars at an average exchange rate for the year ended March 31, 2025 of 
0.6524 (FY24: 0.6581) 
 
(i) Other remuneration includes company benefits such as health and dental insurance. 
(ii) Bob Cruickshank was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Group effective April 3, 2023. Hayden Stockdale transitioned out of that role as 

of May 31, 2023. The Directors resolved to grant Mr Stockdale “good leaver” status and, accordingly, Mr Stockdale was eligible to receive all 
outstanding share awards.  

(iii) This is the remuneration for the period April 1, 2023 to May 31, 2023 and includes an amount paid under a separation agreement at a value of 
US$132k shown within Other. 

(iv) Amounts related to the value of options and performance rights allocated during FY24 and FY25. These options and rights vest between May 2024 
and June 2028 and have continued service conditions. They have been valued based on the allocation price as described in the Variable Remuneration 
section on page 41. The realized value of any options and performance rights that ultimately vest will be dependent on the share price at vesting 
date. 
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Details of Statutory Remuneration 

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each KMP of Catapult Group International 
Ltd are shown in the table below, and have been prepared in accordance with the requirement of the Corporations 
Act and relevant Australian Accounting Standards. As such, the amounts included under the share-based payments 
columns, are based on accounting values and do not reflect actual payments received. As continuing employment 
conditions and/or performance conditions apply, not all share-based payments may vest. 

 
All 2025 amounts translated from Australian Dollars to United States Dollars at an average exchange rate for the year ended March 31, 2025 of 0.6524 
(FY24: 0.6581) 
 
(i) Other remuneration includes accrued annual leave, and company benefits such as health and dental insurance. 
(ii) Bob Cruickshank was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Group effective April 3, 2023. Hayden Stockdale transitioned out of that role as 

of May 31, 2023. The Directors resolved to grant Mr Stockdale “good leaver” status and accordingly Mr Stockdale was eligible to receive all 
outstanding share awards.  

(iii) This is the remuneration for the period April 1, 2023 to May 31, 2023 and includes an amount paid under a separation agreement at a value of 
US$132k shown within Other. 

(iv) Amounts related to the value of Director Salary Sacrifice performance rights are calculated based on a daily pro-rata vesting during the service 
period and are therefore exposed to movements in the share price during the financial year. 

 

 

Director and Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

 Year Short-term employee benefits 
Post-

employment 
benefits 

Share-based payments (Options 
and Performance Rights) Total 

  Cash salary and 
fees Bonus Other(i) Pension EIP Salary Sacrifice(iv) 

 

US$   $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Executive Directors 

Adir Shiffman  
Executive Chairman 

2025 195,726 169,629 - - - - 365,355 

2024 197,428 171,104 - - - - 368,532 
Will Lopes 
Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director 

2025 550,000 - 29,122 11,000 1,355,121 - 1,945,243 

2024 550,000 - 54,135 10,962 668,416 -  1,283,513  

Non-Executive Directors         

Shaun Holthouse 
2025 58,579 - - 6,663 - - 65,242 
2024 59,355 - - 6,455 - - 65,810 

James Orlando 
2025 8,082 - - 889 - 186,091 195,062 
2024 48,238 - - 5,232 - 59,929 113,399 

Igor van de Griendt 
2025 - - - - - 147,262 147,262 
2024 34,651 - - 3,737 - 49,817 88,205 

Michelle Guthrie 
2025 36,636 - - 4,140 - 84,330 125,106 
2024 59,355 - - 6,455 - 18,756 84,566 

Thomas Bogan 
2025 - - - - - 316,957 316,957 
2024 - - - - - 181,041 181,041 

Other Key Management Personnel 
Bob Cruickshank(ii) 
Chief Financial Officer 

2025 350,000 - 47,425 15,586 270,353 - 683,364 

2024 350,000 - 35,941 12,115 316,234 -  714,290  

Hayden Stockdale(ii) 
Chief Financial Officer 

2025 - - - - - - - 
2024(iii) 43,873 - 163,284 13,177 80,648 - 300,982 

Total  2025 1,199,023 169,629 76,547 38,278 1,625,474 734,640 3,843,591 
Total 2024 1,342,900 171,104 253,360 58,133 1,065,298   309,543   3,200,338 
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Share-based Remuneration 

All options and performance rights are in respect of ordinary shares in the Company, and are exercisable on a one-for-
one basis under the terms of the agreements. 

Options 

Role 
Opening 
Balance 

Allocated 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 

Lapsed 
during the 

year 
Closing 

Balance 

Vested 
during the 

year 

Value of options 
exercised during 

the year(i) 

(US$) 

Will Lopes CEO 2,185,098 - - - - 2,185,098 2,185,098 - 

Bob 
Cruickshank CFO 546,275 - - - - 546,275 546,275 - 

Performance 
Rights 

Role 
Opening 
Balance 

Allocated 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Forfeited 
during the 

year 

Lapsed 
during the 

year 
Closing 

Balance 

Vested 
during the 

year 

Value of 
performance 

rights exercised 
during the year(i) 

(US$) 

Will Lopes CEO 1,454,710 1,069,020 (726,520) - - 1,797,210 726,520 917,157 

Bob 
Cruickshank CFO 837,625 629,389 (494,612) - - 972,402 494,612 624,397 

James 
Orlando NED 101,493 105,477 (101,493) - - 105,477 101,493 127,063 

Igor Van de 
Griendt NED 96,660 75,340 (96,660) - - 75,340 96,660 121,012 

Michelle Lee 
Guthrie NED 28,998 52,738 (28,998) - - 52,738 28,998 36,304 

Thomas 
Bogan NED 289,981 150,681 (289,981) - - 150,681 289,981 366,071 

(i) Calculated using the Catapult ordinary share price as at the date of exercise. 

 

  Performance Rights Allocated during the Period 
 

Role 
Units 

Allocated Grant Date(i) Allocation Date Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Value per Right 
at Grant Date  

(AUD) 

Value per Right 
at Grant Date  

(USD) 

Total Value of 
Right at Grant 

Date  
(AUD) 

Total Value of 
Right at Grant 

Date  
(USD) 

Will Lopes CEO 
565,890 August 6, 2024 September 1, 2024 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2026 $2.00 $1.30 1,131,780 735,657 

503,130 August 6, 2024 September 1, 2024 June 30, 2027 June 30, 2028 $2.00 $1.30 1,006,260 654,069 

Bob 
Cruickshank CFO 

371,654 April 1, 2023 September 1, 2024 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2026 $0.67 $0.44 247,150 163,528 

257,735 April 1, 2023 September 1, 2024 June 30, 2027 June 30, 2028 $0.67 $0.44 171,394 113,403 

James 
Orlando NED 105,477 August 6, 2024 August 6, 2024 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2026 $2.00(ii) $1.30 210,954 137,120 

Thomas 
Bogan NED 150,681 August 6, 2024 August 6, 2024 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2026 $2.00(ii) $1.30 301,362 195,885 

Igor van de 
Griendt NED 75,340 August 6, 2024 August 6, 2024 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2026 $2.00(ii) $1.30 150,680 97,942 

Michelle 
Guthrie NED 52,738 August 6, 2024 August 6, 2024 June 30, 2025 June 30, 2026 $2.00(ii) $1.30 105,476 68,559 

(i) Grant date is the date when there is a shared understanding between employees and the Group of the terms and conditions of the plan. 
(ii) The value per performance right at the grant date for the Non-Executive Directors relating to the Salary Sacrifice Plan are determined based on 

the share price at the time of approval. 
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Details of Shareholdings 

The movement during the year in the number of ordinary shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially, for each of 
the board members and KMPs, including their related parties, is as follows: 

Name Held at 
April 1, 2024 

Received on exercise 
of options/ rights 

Purchased or (sold) 
during the period 

Net change other Held at 
March 31, 2025 

Adir Shiffman 6,042,100 - (1,000,000) - 5,042,100 

Shaun Holthouse 17,675,000 - (3,550,016) - 14,124,984 

Igor van de Griendt  20,508,000 96,660 (700,000) - 19,904,660 

James Orlando(i) 394,937 101,493 - - 496,430 

Michelle Guthrie 482,922 28,998 - - 511,920 

Thomas Bogan 737,768 289,981 - - 1,027,749 

Will Lopes 689,901 726,520 (256,372) - 1,160,049 

Bob Cruickshank  - 494,612 (174,555) - 320,057 

(i)  James Orlando holds a relevant interest in 80,000 shares by way of his relationship with Kimberly Ann Foltz. 
 
 

Other Transactions and Balances with KMP and their Related Parties  

Details and terms and conditions of other transactions with KMP and their related parties:  

Operating expenses 

➔ During FY25, the Company spent $42,328 (FY24: $36,923) with Workday Group’s Adaptive Insights Pty Ltd as 
part of an ongoing software subscription agreement to utilize Adaptive Insights’ budgeting and forecasting 
software within its finance divisions. Mr Tom Bogan is a director of Workday Group. 

➔ No amounts were payable as at March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 to Adaptive Insights Pty Ltd.  
 

Amounts recognized at the reporting date in relation to other transactions:  

Operating expenses Year ended  

March 31, 2025 

US$ 

Year ended  

March 31, 2024 

US$ 

Software Costs 42,328 36,923 
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  2025 2024 
 Note US$’000 US$’000 
Revenue 7 116,526  100,004 
    
Other income 8 92  281 
    
Cost of goods sold 9 (22,168) (18,859) 
Employee benefits expense 20.1 (44,325) (44,508) 
Employee share-based payment expense 20.1 (12,266) (9,712) 
Capital raising and listing expenses  (159) (106) 
Travel, marketing and promotion  (5,405) (4,528) 
Occupancy  (1,403) (939) 
Professional fees  (3,711) (3,557) 
Other expenses 38 (9,071) (8,702) 
Operating profit before depreciation and amortization    18,110  9,374 
Depreciation and amortization 13, 15 (26,891) (24,211) 
Loss from operations  (8,781) (14,837) 
Finance costs 23 (2,619) (3,039) 
Finance income 23 60  55 
Other financial items 24 (554) 1,814 
Loss before income tax   (11,894) (16,007) 
Income tax benefit/(expense) 25 3,088 (693) 
Loss after income tax for the year  (8,806) (16,700) 
      
Loss per share      
Basic and diluted loss per share (US$ cents per share)   27 (3.4) (7.0) 
Basic and diluted loss per share (A$ cents per share)   27 (5.2) (10.6) 

 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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  2025 2024 
  US$’000 US$’000 
 
Loss for the year from continuing operations  (8,806) (16,700) 
 
 
Other comprehensive loss    
    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations, net of tax  83 (1,818) 
Hyperinflation reserve movement  98 (625) 
Other comprehensive profit/(loss) for the year, net of tax  181 (2,443) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of 
Catapult Group International Ltd and non-controlling interests  (8,625) (19,143) 
 
Loss for the year is attributable to:    
Members of the parent entity  (8,754) (16,680) 
Non-controlling interest  (52) (20) 
  (8,806) (16,700) 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the year is attributable to:    
Members of the parent entity  (8,568) (19,120) 
Non-controlling interest  (57) (23) 
  (8,625) (19,143) 

 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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  March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 
 Note US$’000 US$’000 
Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 10 10,758   11,594  
Trade and other receivables  11 16,801   16,168  
Inventories 12 2,211   994  
Total current assets  29,770   28,756  
    
Non-current assets    
Trade and other receivables 11 464   452  
Property, plant and equipment 13 30,003   27,836  
Goodwill 14 51,261   51,312  
Intangible assets 15 49,097   49,000  
Deferred tax assets 16 5,296   7,391  
Total non-current assets  136,121   135,991  
Total assets  165,891   164,747  
    
Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 17 14,166   9,823  
Contract liabilities  18 37,813   34,471  
Other liabilities 18 6,775   4,768  
Employee benefits 20.3 7,628   7,626  
Other financial liabilities 22.1 1,431   861  
Total current liabilities  67,813   57,549  
    
Non-current liabilities    
Contract liabilities 18 3,630   3,078  
Other liabilities  18  -   284  
Borrowings 19.2 3,500   11,000  
Employee benefits 20.3 111   106  
Deferred tax liabilities 16 4,044   7,730  
Other financial liabilities 22.1 4,873   6,578  
Total non-current liabilities  16,158   28,776  
Total liabilities  83,971   86,325  
Net assets  81,920   78,423  
    
Equity    
Share capital 21 217,185   204,482  
Share option reserve  18,040   16,450  
Foreign currency translation reserve  (6,597) (6,685) 
Other reserves  (1,054)   1,019  
Accumulated losses  (145,417) (136,668) 
Equity attributable to the owners of Catapult Group 
International Ltd  82,157   78,598  
Non-controlling interest  (237) (175) 
Total equity  81,920   78,423  

 

This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Share 

Capital 
Share Option  

Reserve 

Foreign 
Currency  

Translation 
Reserves 

Other 
Reserves 

Accumulated 
Losses 

Non-
Controlling  

Interests Total equity 
 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Balance as at April 1, 2023  194,836   14,781   (4,870)  1,471   (119,993)  (147)  86,078  
        
Loss after income tax for the 
year - - - -  (16,680)  (20)  (16,700) 
Other comprehensive loss for 
the year, net of tax - -  (1,815)  (625) -  (3)  (2,443) 
Total comprehensive loss for 
the year - -  (1,815)  (625)  (16,680)  (23)  (19,143) 
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:    

 
   

 
Share-based payments  4,840   2,936  - - - -  7,776  

Treasury shares tax impact - - -  1,243  - -  1,243  
 
Deferred consideration on 
acquisition(i)  4,806   (1,267) -  (1,070) - -  2,469  
 
Transfer of ownership to 
minority interest - - - -  5   (5)  -  
Total transactions with 
owners  9,646   1,669   -   173   5   (5)  11,488  

Balance as at March 31, 2024  204,482    16,450   (6,685)  1,019   (136,668)   (175)   78,423  

 

 
 

Share 
Capital 

Share Option  
Reserve 

 
Foreign 

Currency  
Translation 

Reserves 
Other 

Reserves 
Accumulated 

Losses 

Non-
Controlling  

Interests Total equity 
 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Balance as at April 1, 2024  204,482   16,450   (6,685)  1,019   (136,668)  (175)  78,423  
        
Loss after income tax for the 
year - - - -  (8,754)  (52)  (8,806) 
Other comprehensive 
profit/(loss) for the year, net 
of tax - -  88   98  -  (5)  181  
Total comprehensive 
profit/(loss) for the year - -  88   98   (8,754)  (57)  (8,625) 
Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:        

Share-based payments   9,933   3,174  - - - -  13,107  

Treasury shares tax impact - - -  (2,171)  - -  (2,171)  

Deferred consideration on 
acquisition(i)  2,770   (1,584) -  -  - -  1,186  
 
Transfer of ownership to 
minority interest - - - -  5   (5)  -  
Total transactions with 
owners  12,703   1,590  -  (2,171)  5  (5)   12,122  

Balance as at March 31, 2025  217,185   18,040   (6,597)  (1,054)   (145,417)  (237)  81,920  
(i) See Note 36 for further information on the SBG acquisition. 
 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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  2025 2024 
 Note US$’000 US$’000 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash receipts from customers   124,613   110,419  
Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (86,251)  (78,930) 
    
Cash generated from operations   38,362   31,489  
    
Interest received   60   55  
Government grants and other income   168   282  
Income taxes paid   (138)  (123) 
    
Net cash flows from operating activities 29  38,452   31,703  
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for property, plant and equipment   (12,808)  (10,486) 
Payments for intangibles   (17,046)  (16,569) 
    
Net cash used in investing activities   (29,854)  (27,055) 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Loans repayment– net of transaction costs paid   (7,543)  (5,247) 
Repayments of leasing liabilities   (1,324)  (1,881) 
Interest paid   (1,856)  (1,825) 
Proceeds from share options   1,393   345  
    
Net cash used in financing activities   (9,330)  (8,608) 
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (732)  (3,960) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 10  11,594   16,225  
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (104)  (671) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 10  10,758   11,594  

 
This statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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NOTE 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

Catapult Group International Ltd and its controlled entities (the ‘Group’ or the ‘Company’) principal activities are the 
development and supply of innovative technologies that improve the performance of athletes and sports teams. This 
includes the development and sale of performance and health technology solutions, including wearable tracking and 
analytics, to elite sporting teams, leagues and associations; the development and sale of tactical and coaching 
technology solutions, including digital video and analytics, to elite sporting teams, leagues and associations; the 
development and sale of performance and health technology solutions, including wearable tracking and analytics, to 
prosumer athletes, sporting teams and associations; the development and sale of an athlete management platform 
and analytics to elite sporting teams, leagues and associations; and the development and growth of a subscription 
online sport learning platform.  

NOTE 2. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The consolidated general-purpose financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
results in full compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Catapult Group International Ltd is a for-profit entity for the purpose of 
preparing the financial statements.  

Catapult Group International Ltd is the Group’s Ultimate Parent Company. Catapult Group International Ltd is a 
Public Company incorporated and domiciled in Australia and listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. The address 
of its registered office and its principal place of business is Level 2, 630 Church Street, Richmond, Victoria, Australia. 

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended March 31, 2025, were approved by the Board of 
Directors and authorized for issue on May 20, 2025. 

Going concern 

The report has been prepared on the going concern basis of accounting, which contemplates continuity of normal 
business and the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  

As at March 31, 2025, the Group had a current asset deficit of $38,043k (FY24: $28,793k). Current liabilities include 
contract liabilities of $37,813k (FY24: $34,471k), which are expected to release into revenue within 12 months. Current 
contract liabilities are expected to be delivered over the next 12 months; therefore, no actual cash outflows are 
expected other than those required to pay costs associated with delivering the service.  

The Group uses current working capital to invest in long-term assets, particularly software development. This 
approach is consistent with common practices in the technology sector and reflects the nature of our business model. 
As a result, a deficiency in current assets is not unusual, as these investments are classified as non-current 

As disclosed at Note 19.2, the Group has a drawn down balance of $3,500k from the revolving loan facility. The Group 
expects the existing $20,000k facility with Western Alliance Bank to be sufficient for all its working capital needs for 
the ensuing 12 months from the date of this report.  

The Group continues to be well positioned with $10,758k of cash and cash equivalents at March 31, 2025.  

Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that the going concern principle is appropriate. 
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NOTE 3. CHANGES TO REPORTING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

A number of new accounting standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations have also been issued and will 
be applicable in future periods. While these remain subject to ongoing assessment, no significant impacts on the 
financial statements of the Group have been identified to date. These standards have not been applied in the 
preparation of these Financial Statements. 

IFRS/AASB 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements was issued in April 2024 and will replace AASB101 
Presentation of Financial Statements. AASB 18 mandatorily applies to the Group for the year ending 31 March 2028 
and will apply retrospectively. The Group is currently working to identify all impacts the amendments will have on the 
primary financial statements and notes to the financial statements. 

3.1 New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group  

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements are 
consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2024, except for the adoption of new standards effective as of April 1, 2024. The Group has not early 
adopted any standard, interpretation, or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective. Several 
amendments apply for the first time in 2025 but do not have a significant impact on the Group’s annual consolidated 
financial statements. 

Amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements regarding the classification of liabilities became 
effective from 1 January 2024. While these amendments have not affected our classification of loans, we have included 
additional disclosures on loan covenants to provide the enhanced clarity intended by the amendments. 

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial report has been prepared using the material accounting policies and measurement bases 
summarized below. 

4.1 Overall considerations  

Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of financial position, and statement of changes in equity of the 
consolidated entity. Losses incurred by the consolidated entity are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full, 
even if that results in a deficit balance.  

4.2 Basis of consolidation  

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 
March 31, 2025. The Parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the subsidiary and could affect those returns through its power over the subsidiary. All subsidiaries have a 
financial year-end reporting date of March 31 and are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group 
at this date. Catapult Sports Technology Beijing Co Ltd (based in China) reports its local financial statements on 
December 31.  

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealized gains 
and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealized losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed 
on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group perspective. Amounts reported in 
the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group.  

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year is recognized 
from the date when the control is obtained, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable. 

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and net 
assets that are not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries 
between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests. 
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4.3 Business combination  

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration transferred by 
the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets 
transferred, liabilities incurred, and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the fair value of any asset 
or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred. 
Consideration to the seller, subject to their continued employment, is recognized separately as an expense during the 
period the service is provided. 

The Group recognizes identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of 
whether they have been previously recognized in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values. 

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the sum 
of (a) the fair value of consideration transferred, (b) the recognized amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree, and (c) the acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-
date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate 
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all 
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at the acquisition 
date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate 
consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss. 

4.4 Foreign currency translation 

Presentation currency 

The presentation currency of the Group is United States Dollars, and the functional currency of the parent entity is 
Australian Dollars. 

Foreign currency transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items at year-end 
exchange rates are recognized in profit or loss.  

Non-monetary items are not re-translated at period-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the 
exchange rates at the date of the transaction), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value, which are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. 

Foreign operations  

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities, and transactions of Group entities with a functional currency 
other than the US dollar are translated into the US dollar upon consolidation. The functional currency of the entities 
in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.  

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into the US dollar at the closing rate at the reporting date. 
Under this method, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for each year and period have been translated into the presentational currency using the 
average exchange rates prevailing during each reporting period (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated 
at the dates of the transaction). Exchange differences are charged or credited to other comprehensive income and 
recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign operation the cumulative 
translation differences recognized in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and recognized as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal.  

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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4.5 Revenue  

Revenue arises from the sale of goods and the rendering of services. It is measured by reference to the fair value of 
consideration the Group is entitled to, excluding sales taxes, rebates, and trade discounts.  

The Group enters into sales transactions involving an outright sale to the customer, on a subscription basis, or for the 
rendering of services. The Group applies the revenue recognition criteria set out below to each separately identifiable 
component of the sales transaction in order to reflect the substance of the transaction.  

To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Group follows a five-step process:  

1. Identifying the contract with a customer  

2. Identifying the performance obligation(s)  

3. Determining the transaction price  

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligation(s)  

5. Recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied  

When the Group enters into transactions involving its products and services, the total transaction price for a contract 
is allocated amongst the various performance obligations. Revenue is recognized either at a point in time or over time, 
when the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to customers.  

Subscription – Software as a Service 

Subscription revenue comprises the recurring monthly recognition of revenue from wearables subscription sales, 
rendering of software services and content licensing. Unbilled revenue at the period end is recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as contract assets and included within trade and other receivables. 
Unearned revenue at the period end is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as deferred 
revenue and included within contract liabilities.  

Revenue is recognized as performance obligations under customer contracts are met. Performance obligations consist 
of the provisioning of the software/cloud/SaaS subscription and related maintenance and support services over the 
term of the contract.  

( i)  W e a ra b le s  s ub s cr ip t ion  s a le  

The Group provides access to its software under subscription agreements which are referred to as Software as a 
Service (SaaS) revenue, and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period. To enable its customers to 
access the software platform offered by the Group, customers are provided with hardware devices. The Group has 
determined that Catapult’s customers do not have the right to direct the use of Catapult’s hardware devices. Due to 
the interdependency between the software services and the hardware devices, the Company considers these revenue 
transactions to form part of a single performance obligation. These contracts are therefore accounted for as service 
contracts. There are no variable consideration terms within the contracts.  

These hardware units enable customers to access the software platform offered by the Group. The transactions 
involving hardware and accessories do not convey a distinct good or service. The provision of hardware does not 
transfer control to the customer as the Group provides a significant service of integrating the software service to 
produce a combined output. The provision of the hardware, accessories, and software services is referred to as 
Software as a Service (SaaS) revenue, which is recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period.  

The Group’s continual assessment of and review relating to the subscription agreements continues to indicate that 
the subscription agreements do not contain a lease component.  

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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( ii)  Re nd e r ing  o f  s e rvice s  

The Group is involved in providing software, support and maintenance services. The Group recognizes revenue from 
such activities on a monthly basis in equal amounts for each month of the subscription agreement. 

( iii)  Co n t e n t  lice ns ing  

The Group is involved in the provision of licensed video content to customers. Where video content is purchased on a 
one-off basis, associated revenue is recognized upon delivery of the licensed content. Where video content is purchased 
via a term contract with content available for consumption during the contract term, associated revenue is recognized 
on a monthly basis in equal amounts for each month of the content licensing agreement.  

( iv)  Mult ip le  e le m e n t  co n t ra ct s  

The Group may enter into a contract or multiple contracts with customers that may include multiple performance 
obligations. Where multiple contracts are entered into, the Group determines whether it is required to be measured 
with another pre-existing contract by determining whether the performance obligations promised are being sold at 
their stand-alone selling price (‘SASP’). Where pricing is equal to SASP, the contract is treated as a stand-alone 
contract. Where pricing is not equal to SASP, the contract is combined with the pre-existing contract with the 
customer as a multiple-performance obligation (‘multi-PO arrangement’). Where a multi-PO arrangement is entered 
into, each performance obligation is allocated a proportional amount of revenue based on the transaction price of the 
contract and the relative SASP of each performance obligation. Included in subscription revenue are additional revenue 
items related to the media revenue. Revenue is recognized either at a point in time or over time, when the Group 
satisfies performance obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to customers.  

Capital goods 
Capital revenue is the sale of goods to third parties and is recognized at a point in time when the Group has transferred 
to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership, and control of the goods. The timing of the transfer of 
risks and rewards/control varies depending on the individual terms of the sales agreement. For sales of wearable units 
and sale of hardware in the video analytics business, the transfer usually occurs once the software account has been 
activated. Included in capital revenue are also additional revenue items related to the sale of hardware, training, and 
installation revenue. Revenue is recognized at a point in time when the Group satisfies performance obligations by 
transferring the promised goods or services to customers.  

Significant financing component 
In assessing the transaction price for the sale of its subscription products, the Group considers the existence of a 
significant financing component. From time to time, the Group receives payments from customers for 2-3 years in 
advance of the performance obligation being satisfied. Subject to the assessment of a customer’s geographic and 
individual credit risk, analysis of specific contract pricing relative to similar customer segments for short-term 
contracts, and materiality to the overall sales contract, there may be a significant financing component for these 
contracts considering the length of time between the customer’s payment and the satisfaction of the performance 
obligation, as well as the prevailing interest rate in the market. As such, where a significant financing component is 
identified, the transaction price is discounted using the interest rate implicit in the contract. For the year ending 
March 31, 2025, there is a significant financing component that the Group recognized as a finance cost when the 
consideration is received in advance. 

Finance income 

Interest income and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. Dividends, other 
than those from investments in associates, are recognized at the time the right to receive payment is established. 

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
4.5 Revenue (continued) 
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4.6 Operating expenses  

Operating expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the service or at the date of their origin.  

4.7 Borrowing costs  

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized 
during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs (see Note 23).  

4.8 Goodwill  

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually 
identified and separately recognized. See Note 4.3 for information on how goodwill is initially determined. Goodwill is 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer to Note 14.1 for a description of impairment testing 
procedures. 

4.9 Other intangible assets  

Acquired intangible assets  

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and install the 
specific software. Brand names and customer lists acquired in a business combination that qualify for separate 
recognition are recognized as intangible assets at their fair values (see Note 4.3).  

Internally developed software and hardware IP  

Expenditure on the research phase of projects to develop new customized software and hardware IP for athlete 
tracking and analytic analysis is recognized as an expense as incurred.  

Costs that are directly attributable to a project’s development phase are recognized as intangible assets, provided 
they meet the following recognition requirements: 
• The development costs can be measured reliably;  
• The project is technically and commercially feasible; 
• The Group intends to and has sufficient resources to complete the project; 
• The Group has the ability to use or sell the software/hardware IP; and  
• The software/hardware IP will generate probable future economic benefits.  
• Development costs not meeting these criteria for capitalization are expensed as incurred.  
• Directly attributable costs include employee costs and costs incurred on software and hardware IP development. 
Subsequent measurement  

All intangible assets, including capitalized internally developed software and hardware IP, are accounted for using the 
cost model whereby capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as these 
assets are considered finite. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date. In addition, they are 
subject to impairment testing as described in Note 4.12.  

The following useful lives are applied:  
• Software (licenses and internally developed): 3–9 years, except with regard to identified projects with 2 years 
• Brand names: 2–5 years  
• Customer relationships: 7–10 years  
• Hardware IP: 3 years 
• Distributor relationships: 10 years  
• Distributor contracts: 10 years  
• Goodwill: annually assessed by management for impairment.  

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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4.10 Property, plant and equipment  

Plant and office equipment and fixtures and fittings are initially recognized at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost, 
including any costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management. Plant and office equipment as well as 
fixtures and fittings are subsequently measured using the cost model, cost less subsequent depreciation and 
impairment losses.  

The following useful lives are applied: 

• Subscription loan units:  
o Devices and related accessories: 4 years 
o Vests: 2 years 

• Plant and office equipment: 2-20 years  
• Fixture and fittings: life of lease  
• Leasehold improvements: life of lease  
• Right-of-use leased assets: life of lease 
Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis to write down the cost less estimated residual value of subscription, 
service, demonstration wearable units and plant and office equipment over their useful life. In the case of leasehold 
property, expected useful lives are determined by reference to comparable owned assets or over the term of the lease, 
if shorter. 

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually.  

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference between 
the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognized in profit or loss within other income 
or other expenses. 

4.11 Leased assets  

Short–term and low value leases  

The Group has elected not to recognize a lease liability for short-term leases (leases with an expected term of 12 
months or less) or for leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed as incurred. In 
addition, certain variable lease payments are not permitted to be recognized as lease liabilities and are expensed as 
incurred (see Note 22). Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred. 

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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4.12 Impairment testing of goodwill, intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets  

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent 
cash inflows (cash-generating units). Goodwill is allocated to those group of cash-generating unit (CGU) that are 
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the 
Group at which management monitors goodwill.  

CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as equivalent, or at a lower level, 
to its product verticals) are tested for impairment at least annually. CGUs are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use. To determine the value-in-use, management 
estimates expected future cash flows from each CGU and determines a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the 
Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganizations and asset 
enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each CGU and reflect management’s assessment of 
respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors.  

Impairment losses for CGUs reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the group of CGUs. Any 
remaining impairment loss is charged across the other assets in the CGU to the extent that the charge does not reduce 
the value of the assets below their recoverable amount. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently 
reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no longer exist. An impairment charge 
is reversed if the CGUs recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. 

4.13 Financial instruments 

Recognition, initial measurement and de-recognition 

Financial assets, except trade receivables, are initially recognized at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price. 

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value minus, in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs.  

Financial assets are de-recognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 
when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is de-recognized 
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Subsequent measurements of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.  
 
Classification and Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets  

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging 
instruments are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition: 

• Amortized cost;  
• Financial assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (‘FVTPL’);  
• Financial assets reported through Other Comprehensive Income (‘FVOCI’);  
The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit 
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.  

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within 
the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the 
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).  

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.  

Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. All income 
and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognized in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, 
finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within other 
expenses.  

Amortized cost  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) 
method and are subject to impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The 
Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.  

Classification and subsequent measurement of Financial Liabilities  

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial instruments.  

Financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for 
financial liabilities held for trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or 
losses recognized in profit or loss. All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging 
instruments are accounted for at FVTPL. 

4.14 Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all expenses directly attributable to 
the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production overheads, based on normal operating 
capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are assigned using the first in, first out cost formula. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any applicable selling expenses. 

4.15 Income taxes  

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax not recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.  

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, the Australian Taxation 
Office (‘ATO’) and other fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting periods that are unpaid at the 
reporting date.  

Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. Calculation of 
current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. 

  

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
4.13 Financial instruments (continued) 
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Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition 
of goodwill or on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination 
or affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred tax on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and joint ventures is not provided if reversal of these temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is 
probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realization, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that they will be able to be utilized against future 
taxable income, based on the Group’s forecast of future operating results which is adjusted for significant non-taxable 
income and expenses and specific limits to the use of any unused tax loss or credit. Deferred tax liabilities are always 
provided for in full.  

The carrying amount of recognized and unrecognized deferred tax assets, including deferred tax assets derived from 
tax losses, are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax assets recognized are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously 
unrecognized deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable profits 
available to recover the asset and convincing other evidence exists to this effect. 

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend 
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to 
be settled or recovered. 

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, 
except where they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income (such as the revaluation of land) 
or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, 
respectively.  

Catapult Group International Ltd and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have formed a tax consolidated 
group. Therefore, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities 
are set off in the consolidated financial statements.  

AASB Interpretation 23 requires the assessment of whether the effect of uncertainty over income tax treatments 
should be included in the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits 
and tax rates. The interpretation outlines the requirements to determine whether any entity considers uncertain tax 
treatments separately, the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 
authorities, how an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates and how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.  

4.16 Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.  

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
4.15 Income taxes (continued) 
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4.17 Equity, reserves and dividend payments 

Share capital represents the fair value of shares that have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the 
issuing of shares are deducted from share capital, net of any related income tax benefits.  

The tax effect of share-based payment awards granted is recognized in current income tax expense/(benefit), except 
to the extent that the total tax deductions are expected to exceed the cumulative remuneration expense. In this 
situation, the excess of the associated current or deferred tax is recognized in equity and forms part of the treasury 
shares reserve. 

Share capital also includes the treasury shares held by the Employee Share Trust for future issues to participants on 
exercise of options/restricted stock units. Treasury shares are presented as a reduction in contributed equity and 
disclosed in Note 21. 

Other components of equity include the following:  

Share option reserve – comprises the grant date fair value of options issued but not exercised. 

Foreign currency translation reserve – comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation 
of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s presentation currency, USD (see Note 
4.4).  

Other reserve – comprises of deferred considerations in relation to the SBG acquisition. and hyperinflation (see Note 
4.23). 

Other reserve also includes the tax effect of tax deductions for contributions to the Employee Share Trust in excess 
of the associated cumulative remuneration expense is recorded directly in equity and forms part of the treasury shares 
reserve. Amounts are transferred out of this reserve and into accumulated losses when the relevant equity rights are 
converted into shares.  

Retained earnings – include all current and prior period retained profits. Dividend distributions payable to equity 
shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved in a general meeting prior to the 
reporting date. 

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. 

4.18 Post-employment benefits and short-term employee benefits  

Post-employment Benefit Plans  

The Group provides post-employment benefits through defined contribution plans.  

Short-term Employee Benefits  

Short-term employee benefits are benefits, other than termination benefits, that are expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. Examples of such 
benefits include wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave. Short-term employee 
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

4.19 Share-based employee remuneration 

The Group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. None of the Group’s plans 
feature any options for employees to require a cash settlement.  

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair values. 
Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of employees’ services are determined 
indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. This fair value is appraised at the grant 
date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions (for example performance conditions). Grant date is 
the date when there is a shared understanding between employees and the Group of the terms and conditions of the 
plan. 
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All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognized as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding credit to 
share option reserve. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting 
period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest.  

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become 
exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the number of share options expected 
to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is recognized in the current period. 
No adjustment is made to any expense recognized in prior periods if share options ultimately exercised are different 
to that estimated on vesting.  

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated 
to share capital.  

4.20 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Provisions for right-of-use make good, product warranties, legal disputes, onerous contracts or other claims are 
recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing 
or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. 

No liability is recognized if an outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligation is not probable. Such 
situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities, unless the outflow of resources is remote in which case no disclosure 
is required. 

Restructuring provisions (when applicable) will only be recognized if a detailed formal plan for the restructuring has 
been developed and implemented, or management has at least announced the plan’s main features to those affected 
by it. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most 
reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present 
obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present 
values, where the time value of money is material.  

Any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation 
is recognized as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related provision.  

4.21 Goods and Services Tax, Sales taxes and Value Added Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the appropriate tax authority in the relevant tax jurisdiction. In these circumstances the GST 
is recognized as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and 
payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.  

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST components of investing 
and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.  

4.22 Significant management judgement and sources of estimation uncertainty  

When preparing the financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  

Significant management judgement  

The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group that have the 
most significant effect on the financial statements. 

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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Recognition of subscription revenue  

Determining when to recognize revenues from subscription agreements requires an understanding of the customer’s 
use and the useful life of the products, historical experience and knowledge of the market. The Group provides GPS 
tracking units and other associated hardware items for team sports under a subscription model. Under this model, 
the customer has the right to use the hardware units for the period of the subscription, however they must return the 
hardware to the Group at the end of the subscription period, and the Group retains ownership and control of the 
hardware throughout the subscription period.  

All revenue under subscription sales is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the subscription period, 
reflecting management’s best estimate of the delivery of services over the term of the agreements, and all 
subscription hardware items are capitalized and recorded on the Company’s fixed asset register and depreciated over 
the expected useful life of the assets. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets 
The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment of the probability of the Group’s 
future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized, as described in Note 16. In addition, 
significant judgement is required in assessing the impact of any legal or economic limits or uncertainties in various tax 
jurisdictions.  

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income 
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend 
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to 
be settled or recovered.  

Estimation uncertainty  
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially different. 

Impairment 

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset or cash-generating unit based 
on expected future cash flows and uses a weighted average cost of capital to discount them. Estimation uncertainty 
relates to assumptions about future operating results and the determination of a suitable discount rate (see Note 
4.12).  

Useful lives of depreciable assets  

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the 
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the 
utility of certain software and IT equipment. 

During the year, the Group revised the estimated useful life of its Subscription Loan Units - Vests from 4 years to 2 
years based on a review of wear and tear, usage intensity and replacements. This change in estimate is applied 
prospectively and resulted in a $0.9M increase in depreciation expense for the year ended March 31, 2025. The future 
impact on deprecation as a result of this change is not expected to have a material effect on the Group’s financial 
position or performance. 

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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Inventories  

Management estimates the net realizable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable evidence 
available at each reporting date. The future realization of these inventories may be affected by future technology or 
other market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices.  

Expected credit loss (ECL) 

The Group applies the simplified approach to measure Expected Credit losses (ECLs), which uses a lifetime expected 
loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables 
and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due. The Group has 
established a provision matrix that is based on the payment profile of customers and the corresponding historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for current and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment. Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst other things, the failure of 
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with Catapult and a failure to make contractual payments for an extended 
period of time. 

Business combinations  

Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the various elements of a business 
combination (see Note 4.3). Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of 
many variables that affect future profitability. 

4.23 Hyperinflation 

AASB 129 – Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary economies, requires that the financial statements of entities 
whose functional currency is that of a hyperinflationary economy to be adjusted for the effects of changes in a suitable 
general price index and to be expressed in terms of the current unit of measurement at the closing date of the 
reporting period. For the purposes of concluding on whether an economy is categorized as high inflation under AASB 
129, the standard details a series of factors to consider, including a cumulative inflation rate over three years that is 
close to or exceeds 100%. Inflation has increased significantly since early 2018 and the three-year cumulative inflation 
rate has exceeded 100%. Since 2018, Argentina has been considered as a hyperinflationary economy. 

In accordance with AASB 129, the financial statements of an entity that reports in the currency of a high inflation 
economy must be reported in terms of the unit of measure in effect at the date of the financial statements. All 
amounts in the statement of financial position that are not indicated in terms of the current unit of measure at the 
date of the financial statements must be restated by applying a general price index. All the components of the income 
statement must be indicated in terms of the unit of measurement updated at the date of the financial statements, 
applying the change in the general price index that has occurred since the date on which the income and expenses 
were originally recognized in financial statements. 

The Argentine Securities Commission established that the series of indexes to be used in the AASB 129 application is 
the one established by the Argentine Federation of Professional Councils in Economic Sciences. 

4.24 Comparative figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 

NOTE 4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
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NOTE 5. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

Set out below are details of the subsidiaries held directly by the Group: 

Parent Entity  

Catapult Group International Ltd(i),(iii) 

  Group Ownership Interest 
 Principal Place of Business / 

Principal Activity 
2025 2024 

Name of the Subsidiary** % % 
    
Catapult Sports Pty Ltd(i),(ii),(iii) Australia – design and sale of wearable 

products and software 
100  100 

Catapult Gameday Pty Ltd Australia – trading entity for relationships 
with Media sector 

100 100 

Catapult International Pty Ltd(i),(ii) Australia – holding company 100 100 
GPSports Systems Pty Ltd(iii) Australia – design and sale of wearable 

products and software 
100 100 

Catapult Innovations Pty Ltd Australia – non trading entity 100 100 
Catapult Group US Inc.(iii) United States of America – holding company 100 100 
Catapult Sports LLC(iii) United States of America – North American 

sales operations 
100 100 

Catapult Sports Inc. (formerly XOS Technologies, 
Inc.) 

United States of America – Video Analytics 100 100 

Collegiate Images LLC United States of America – Content Licensing 100 100 
Catapult Sports Limited(iii) United Kingdom – UK sales operations 100 100 
Catapult Sports Godo Kaisha Japan – Asia sales operations 100 100 
Catapult Sports Europe Limited Ireland – holding company 100 100 
Catapult Sports EMEA Ltd(iii) (formerly Kodaplay 
Limited) 

Ireland – manufacturing, design and sale of 
wearable products and software in EMEA 

100 100 

Catapult Sports SAS Argentina – South American sales operations 100 100 
Catapult Sports Technology Beijing Co Ltd China – Asia sales operations 100 100 
Science for Sport Limited(iv) United Kingdom – subscription online sport 

learning platform 
70  75 

SBG Sports Software Ltd* Isle of Man – holding company 100 100 
SBG Sports Software UK Ltd* United Kingdom – United Kingdom sales 

operations 
100 100 

Catapult Sports GmbH* (formerly SBG Sports 
Software GmbH) 

Germany – European sales operations 100 100 

SBG Sports Software Inc.* United States of America – North American 
sales operations 

100 100 

Catapult Sports Licensing LLC United States of America – Content Licensing 100 100 
Catapult Sports ESP Trust Australia – Employee Share Trust N/A(v) N/A 

*  Refer to Note 36 for further information. 

**  Catapult is in the process of dissolving its US wholly owned subsidiaries, Forbes Recruit Evaluation, Inc. and Forbes Recruit Evaluation, LLC.  

(i) Catapult Group International Ltd (the Company) and Catapult Sports Pty Ltd are party to a Deed of Cross Guarantee dated June 26, 2017. 
Catapult International Pty Ltd joined the Deed of Cross Guarantee via a Deed of Assumption dated March 29, 2021. The Company, Catapult Sports 
Pty Ltd and Catapult International Pty Ltd together constitute the ‘Closed Group’ or ‘Extended Closed Group’. The effect of the deed is that the 
Company has guaranteed to each creditor to pay any deficiency in the event of the winding up of any of the controlled entities in the Closed Group. 
All entities in the Closed Group have also given a similar guarantee in the event that the Company is wound up – refer to Note 35.  

(ii) Pursuant to ASIC Corporations (Wholly owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 Order 98/1418 (as amended) relief has been granted to Catapult 
Sports Pty Ltd and Catapult International Pty Ltd from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial 
reports and directors’ reports. 

(iii) These entities have provided guarantees to Western Alliance Bank in respect of credit facilities of US$20,000k granted to Catapult Sports Inc and 
Collegiate Images LLC. 

(iv) 5% equity was issued to the existing minority owner on February 19, 2025 as part of an existing share purchase agreement. Catapult now holds 70% 
of the issued share capital in Science for Sport Limited. 

(v) This entity is a trust and therefore the ownership percentage is not applicable. 
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NOTE 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group’s product verticals represent the main offerings provided by the Group. The Group’s three main product 
verticals are: 

• Performance & Health: design, development and supply of wearable technology and athlete monitoring software 
solutions to sports teams, athletes, and the prosumer market. 

• Tactics & Coaching: design, development and supply of video analysis, editing, and publishing software solutions to 
sports teams. 

• Media & Other: provides media licensing, athlete management and professional services to customers. 

 
The Group identifies the Chief Executive Officer as Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) and monitors the 
performance of the Group’s product verticals with reference to revenue and other non-IFRS measures such as 
annualised contract value, customer retention, and similar metrics. Measures of Group profitability are reported to 
the CODM and monitored on a consolidated basis only. Product vertical profitability is not reported to the CODM and 
is not monitored separately for the purposes of making decisions about resource allocation and performance 
assessment. As a result, the Group has determined that there are no individually reportable operating segments of 
the business, and the comparative information presented has been adjusted to align with the information presented 
to the CODM.  
The revenues from contracts with customers generated by each of the Group’s product verticals and divided into the 
following geographical areas was: 

   
 

 
 

 

 
Performance 

& Health 
Tactics  

& Coaching 
Media  

& Other Total 
 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
12 months to March 31, 2025     
Australia 4,318  73  69  4,460  
APAC 6,120  500  4  6,624  
EMEA 22,785  6,550  517  29,852  
United States of America 22,599  28,234  15,807  66,640  
Rest of Americas 7,645  1,305  -  8,950  
Total 63,467  36,662  16,397  116,526  
     
12 months to March 31, 2024      
Australia 3,923  94  111  4,128  
APAC 5,179  371  35  5,585  
EMEA 20,163  5,581  463  26,207  
United States of America 19,861  24,651  12,940  57,452  
Rest of Americas 5,553  1,060  19  6,632  

Total 54,679  31,757  13,568  100,004  

All revenue is generated from external customers, and there are no revenues between product verticals. 

Revenues from external customers in the Group’s domicile, Australia, as well as its major markets, Europe, Middle East 
and Africa (EMEA), Asia-Pacific excluding Australia (APAC) and the Americas, have been identified on the basis of the 
customer’s geographical location. 

There is no revenue arising from any one customer that amounts to more than 10% of total consolidated revenue. 
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NOTE 7. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 

Revenue has been generated from the following types of sales transactions: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Capital revenue (i) 6,852 7,666 
Subscription and service (ii), (iii) 109,674 92,338 
   
Total revenue from contracts with customers 116,526 100,004 

(i)  Capital revenue is goods and services transferred at a point of time. 
(ii)  Subscription and service revenue is transferred over time. 
(iii) Subscription and service revenue for FY25 includes a significant financing component of $733k (non-cash) (FY24: $960k). 

 

NOTE 8. OTHER INCOME 

Other income has been generated from the following sources:  

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Government grants and assistance 2 - 
Other income 90 281 
   
Total other income 92 281 

Government grants are initially recognized at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be 
received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants of a revenue nature are 
recognized in the profit and loss as other income on a systematic basis in the periods in which the related expenses 
are recognized. 

 

NOTE 9. COST OF GOODS SOLD 

Cost of goods sold for the period includes the following: 
    2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 

Purchases 8,935 5,917 
Royalties 6,531 4,885 
Data centre and cloud hosting  3,983 3,358 
Freight and delivery  2,964 2,454 
Inventory movements (1,216) 1,249 
Other 971 996 
   
Total cost of goods sold 22,168 18,859 
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NOTE 10. CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components:  

  
 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
USD 3,142 5,181 
AUD  1,000  2,242 
GBP 1,148 1,429 
CNY 2,735 1,284 
EUR 1,944 948 
ARS  344   360  
JPY  445   150  

Total cash and cash equivalents 10,758 11,594 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise only cash at bank as at March 31, 2025, and March 31, 2024. 
 

NOTE 11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

Trade and other receivables consist of the following:  

The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the 
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price. Contract assets are recognized over the period in which 
performance obligations are completed and represent the Group’s right to consideration to date but not yet invoiced. 

  
 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Trade receivables, gross  10,360   10,767  
Contract assets  2,823   1,997  
Allowance for expected credit losses  (921)  (670) 
Trade receivables and contract assets, net  12,262   12,094  

Other receivables  848   972  
Other non-current financial asset  360   402  
Total financial assets   13,470   13,468  

Other receivables  789   469  
Taxes receivable  804   616  
Prepayments  2,098   2,017  
Non-current other receivables  104   50  
Total non-financial assets  3,795   3,152  
Total trade and other receivables  17,265   16,620  
   
Current trade and other receivables  16,801   16,168  
Non-current trade and other receivables  464   452  
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All of the Group’s trade and other receivables that have been classified as financial assets have been reviewed at every 
reporting period for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery but are still subject to enforcement activity. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are 
credited against the same line item. During the year ended March 31, 2025, an amount of $552k (FY24: $1,340k) was 
found to be impaired, and subsequently these bad debts were written off. Furthermore, details on Group’s impairment 
policy are mentioned in Note 31. 

Set out below is the movement in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Balance at beginning of the year  670  1,556 
Write-off (552) (1,340) 
Provision for expected credit losses 803 454 

Balance at year end  921   670  
 

NOTE 12. INVENTORIES 

  
 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Raw materials and consumables (at cost) 376 381 
Finished goods (at lower of cost and net realizable value)  1,835   613  

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value 2,211   994  
In FY25, the total cost of $10,683k associated with inventories was included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit 
and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income as an expense (FY24: $9,621k). At March 31, 2025, the provision for obsolete 
stock was $736k (FY24:$1,041k).  

 

NOTE 11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
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NOTE 13. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and their carrying amounts are as follows: 
  

 

   
 

 
 

 

 
Subscription 

Loan Units 
Plant & Office 

Equipment 
Fixture & 

Fittings 
Leasehold  

Improvements 
Leased 

 Assets* Total 
 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
       
Gross carrying amount       
Balance as at April 1, 2024  27,545  8,921    314    2,271   12,043    51,094  
Additions  12,009   1,342   63   701   257   14,372  
Disposals  (2,067)  (100)  (6)  (799)  (1,757)  (4,729) 
Foreign exchange differences  (617)  (19)  -   (40)  (187)  (863) 
       
Balance as at March 31, 2025  36,870   10,144   371   2,133   10,356   59,874  
       
Depreciation       
Balance as at April 1, 2024  (9,073)  (7,227)  (27)  (1,487)  (5,444)  (23,258) 
Depreciation   (7,546)  (1,221)  (26)  (190)  (1,533)  (10,516) 
Disposals  1,183   74   5   799   1,612   3,673  
Foreign exchange differences  129   20   2   34   45   230  
       
Balance as at March 31, 2025  (15,307)  (8,354)  (46)  (844)  (5,320)  (29,871) 
       
Carrying amount  
as at March 31, 2025  21,563   1,790   325   1,289   5,036   30,003  

 
Subscription 

Loan Units 
Plant & Office 

Equipment 
Fixture & 

Fittings 
Leasehold 

Improvements 
Leased  

Assets* Total 
 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
       
Gross carrying amount       
Balance as at April 1, 2023  23,910   8,506   267   1,863   8,234   42,780  
Additions  8,753   1,130   41   426   5,406   15,756  
Disposals  (5,267)  (25)  -   -   (1,491)  (6,783) 
Foreign exchange differences  149   (690)  6   (18)   (106) (659) 
       
Balance as at March 31, 2024  27,545  8,921    314    2,271    12,043    51,094  
       
Depreciation       
Balance as at April 1, 2023  (8,925)  (6,263)  (20)  (1,431)  (4,932)  (21,571) 
Depreciation   (4,862)  (1,331)  (7)  (78)  (1,845)  (8,123) 
Disposals  4,788   25   -   -   1,318   6,131  
Foreign exchange differences  (74)  342   -   22   15   305  
       
Balance as at March 31, 2024  (9,073)  (7,227)  (27)  (1,487)  (5,444)  (23,258) 
       
Carrying amount  
as at March 31, 2024  18,472   1,694    287   784    6,599    27,836  

* All assets within the category Leased Assets relate to the leasing of property  

All depreciation and amortization charges are included within depreciation and amortization expense. 

The net book value of non-property assets held as leases at March 31, 2025 was $4k (FY24: $104k) and is included in 
Office Equipment. 
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NOTE 14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – GOODWILL 

The movements in the net carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:  

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Balance at beginning of the year 51,312 51,372 
Foreign exchange effect on goodwill (51) (60) 
   
Balance at year end 51,261 51,312 

 

14.1 Impairment Testing 

Goodwill allocation  
2025 

US$’000 
2024 

US$’000 

   
Performance & Health 3,859 3,899 
Tactics & Coaching 31,451 31,450 
Media & Engagement 15,505 15,505 
Management 362 376 
Professional services  84 82 
   
Balance at year end 51,261 51,312 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that the CGU or group of CGUs may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for the CGU or group of CGUs is required, the 
Group estimates the CGU or group of CGUs recoverable amount. The CGU or group of CGUs recoverable amount is 
the higher of the CGU or group of CGUs fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 

The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of the CGU or 
group of CGUs exceeds its recoverable amount, the CGU or group of CGUs is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the statement of profit or 
loss in expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset. 

The recoverable amounts were determined based on value‐in‐use calculations, covering the detailed five‐year forecast, 
followed by a terminal growth rate of expected cash flows for the units.  

Cash flows 

The present value of the expected cash flows of each CGU or group of CGU’s is determined by applying a suitable 
discount rate. In measuring value-in-use, cash flow projections are based on:  

• Reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent management’s best estimate of the range of 
economic conditions that will exist over the remaining useful life of the asset; and 

• Most recent financial budgets/forecasts approved by Management, but exclude any estimated future cash 
inflows or outflows expected to arise from future restructurings or from improving or enhancing the asset’s 
performance; and  

• Estimated cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts by 
extrapolating the projections based on the budgets/forecasts using a steady or declining growth rate for 
subsequent years. 

 



 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 CATAPULT GROUP INTERNATIONAL LTD 
 2025 ANNUAL REPORT
  
 
 

  78 UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 

 Terminal Growth rates Discount rates 
 2025 2024 2025 2024 
     
Performance & Health 2.5% 2.5% 12.8% 12.1% 
Tactics & Coaching 2.5% 2.5% 12.8% 12.1% 
Media & Engagement 2.5% 2.5% 13.0% 12.1% 
Management 2.5% 2.5% 13.0% 12.1% 
Professional services  2.5% 2.5% 13.0% 12.1% 

 
Impact of possible changes in key assumptions  

The Directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions 
and have not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amount of the group of CGUs above to exceed its 
recoverable amount. 

Growth rates 

Five years of cash flows were included in the discounted cash flow model. The cash flow projections included specific 
estimates for five years and a terminal growth rate thereafter. The terminal growth rate is 2.5% in FY25. This is 
determined based on management’s estimate of the long-term compound annual EBITDA growth rate, consistent 
with industry trends and in line with US Federal Reserve long term inflation rate projection. 

Revenue growth was projected taking into account the average growth levels experienced over the past five years and 
the estimated sales volume and price growth for the next five years. It was assumed that the sales price would increase 
in line with forecast inflation over the next five years. 

Continued investment in core product development to underpin revenue growth, particularly in wearables, video and 
tactical products. 

The growth rates reflect management’s estimates, as publicly published growth rates for this industry segment are 
not readily available. 

Discount rates 

The discount rate is based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) of a typical current market participant 
taking into account appropriate adjustments relating to market risk and specific risk factors of the Group and its 
CGUs. These specific risk factors are reviewed annually based on publicly available data.  

NOTE 14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 
14.1 Impairment Testing (continued) 
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NOTE 15. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

Acquired 
Software 

Licenses 
Hardware 

IP 
Brand 
Name 

Distributor 
Relationships 

Distributor 
Contracts 

Customer 
Relationships 

Internally 
Developed 
Software Total 

 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 $US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Gross carrying amount  
Balance as at April 1, 2024 1,138 15,691 4,604 278 63 21,430 90,026 133,230 
Additions 62 3,320 - - - - 13,121 16,503 
Foreign exchange difference 169 (497) (6) (11) (3) (20) (663) (1,031) 
         
Balance as at March 31, 2025 1,369 18,514 4,598 267 60 21,410 102,484 148,702 
         
Amortization          
Balance as at April 1, 2024 (878) (9,915) (4,225) (271)  (63) (16,859) (52,019) (84,230) 
Amortization  (98) (2,458) (169) (7) - (670) (12,971) (16,373) 
Foreign exchange difference 37 385 7 11 3 23 532 998 
         
Balance as at March 31, 2025 (939) (11,988) (4,387) (267) (60) (17,506) (64,458) (99,605) 
         
Carrying amount March 31, 2025 430 6,526 211 - - 3,904 38,026 49,097 

 

 

Acquired 
Software 

Licenses 
Hardware 

IP 
Brand 
Name 

Distributor 
Relationships 

Distributor 
Contracts 

Customer 
Relationships 

Internally 
Developed 
Software Total 

 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 $US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Gross carrying amount  
Balance as at April 1, 2023 1,083 13,266 4,609 285 64 21,445 76,696 117,448 
Additions 81 2,974 - - - - 13,545 16,600 
Foreign exchange difference (26) (549) (5) (7) (1) (15) (215) (818) 
         
Balance as at March 31, 2024 1,138 15,691 4,604 278 63 21,430 90,026 133,230 
         
Amortization         
Balance as at April 1, 2023 (776) (8,070) (4,061) (250) (64) (15,263) (40,200) (68,684) 
Amortization  (121) (2,024) (169) (28) - (1,609) (12,136) (16,087) 
Foreign exchange difference 19 179 5 7 1 13 317 541 
         
Balance as at March 31, 2023 (878) (9,915) (4,225) (271)  (63) (16,859) (52,019) (84,230) 
         
Carrying amount March 31, 2024 260 5,776 379 7 - 4,571 38,007 49,000 
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NOTE 16. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

Deferred taxes arising from temporary differences and unused tax losses can be summarized as attributable to the 
following:  

   
 

 
 

   
 

 

Deferred Tax 
April 1, 

2024 

Recognized 
directly in 

equity 

Recognized 
in Profit & 

Loss 

 
Recognized in 

Goodwill 
March 31, 

2025 
Assets/(Liabilities) US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Deferred Tax Assets      
Intangibles  291  -  440  -  731  
Provision for employee benefits  98  -  57  -  155  
Other provisions   80  - 39 - 119 
Contract liabilities  387  -  217  -  604  
Lease liabilities  19  -  48  -  67  
Equity raising costs  31  -  (7) -  24  
Tax losses  8,662  -  (2,770)  - 5,892 
Share-based payments(i)  1,203  -  (1,203) - - 
 10,771  (3,179) - 7,592 
Deferred Tax Liabilities      
Property, plant and equipment  (152) -  (437) -  (589) 
Foreign exchange gains and losses  (750) -  (862) -  (1,612) 
Acquisition intangibles  (10,208) -  6,070  -  (4,138) 
 (11,110) - 4,771 -  (6,340) 
Deferred tax movement - - 1,592 - - 
 
Net deferred tax (liability)/asset (339)    1,252 
Reflected in the financial position as 
follows: 

     

Deferred tax asset 7,391    5,296 
Deferred tax liability (7,730)    (4,044) 
 (339)    1,252 

(i)  The tax effect of share-based payment awards granted is recognized in current income tax expense, except to the extent that the total tax 
deductions are expected to exceed the cumulative remuneration expense. In this situation, the excess of the associated current or deferred tax is 
recognized in equity and forms part of the other reserves in equity. In FY25 the deferred tax asset was derecognised. 
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Deferred Tax 
April 1, 

2023 

Recognized 
directly in 

equity 

Recognized 
in Profit & 

Loss 

 
Recognized 
in Goodwill 

March 31, 
2024 

Assets/(Liabilities) US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Deferred Tax Assets      
Intangibles  1,027  -  (736) -  291  
Provision for employee benefits  519  -  (421) -  98  
Other provisions   716  - (636) - 80 
Contract liabilities  1,954  -  (1,567) -  387  
Lease liabilities  4  -  15  -  19  
Equity raising costs  275  -  (244) -  31  
Tax losses  4,678  -  3,984 -  8,662  
Share-based payments(i)  964  472  (233) -  1,203  
 10,137 472 162 - 10,771 
Deferred Tax Liabilities      
Property, plant and equipment  (419) -  268  -  (152) 
Foreign exchange gains and losses  (661) -  (90) -  (750) 
Acquisition intangibles  (10,168) -  (40) -  (10,208) 
 (11,248) - 138 - (11,110) 
Deferred tax movement - 472 300 - - 
 
Net deferred tax liability (1,111)    (339) 
Reflected in the financial position 
as follows:  

    

Deferred tax asset 6,621    7,391 
Deferred tax liability (7,732)    (7,730) 
 (1,111)    (339) 

(i)  The tax effect of share-based payment awards granted is recognized in current income tax expense, except to the extent that the total tax 
deductions are expected to exceed the cumulative remuneration expense. In this situation, the excess of the associated current or deferred tax is 
recognized in equity and forms part of the other reserves in equity. In FY25 the deferred tax asset was derecognised. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable 
profits, together with future tax planning strategies.  

The Group has $79,488k (FY24: $88,694k) of tax losses carried forward. These losses relate to subsidiaries that have 
a history of losses and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the Group. The Group has recognized 
deferred tax assets of $5,892k (FY24: $8,662k) on a portion of its US losses, the vast majority of which are available 
for a period of twenty years. 

If the Group was able to recognize all deferred tax assets on its losses, profit and equity would have increased by 
$18,331k (FY24: $24,422k). 

NOTE 16. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
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NOTE 17. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade and other payables consist of the following: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
Current   
Trade and other payables 14,166   9,823  

All amounts are short-term. The carrying values of trade and other payables are considered to be a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. 

 

NOTE 18. CONTRACT LIABILITIES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

Contract liabilities and other liabilities consist of the following: 
    2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Contract liabilities – current(i) 37,813 34,471 
Customer deposits   679  724 
Other liabilities 5,726 3,535 
Contingent consideration – current(ii) 370 509 
Other liabilities – current  6,775   4,768  

Total contract and other liabilities – current 44,587 39,239 
   
Contract liabilities – non-current(i) 3,630 3,078 
Contingent consideration – non-current(ii) - 284 
   
Total contract and other liabilities – non-current 3,630 3,362 

(i) All amounts recognized relating to contract liabilities are assessed for current versus non‐current classification and are applied to revenue as 
recognized in relation to the timing of the customer contract. The Group expects to recognize $37,813k (FY24: $34,471k) of contract liabilities during 
the next 12 months following March 31, 2025, with the non-current balance of contract liabilities being recognized from April 1, 2026 onwards. The 
increase in contract liabilities is due to the higher subscription revenue and the ACV growth recorded in FY25. 

(ii) On July 1, 2021, Catapult acquired SBG Sports Software Limited (SBG). Catapult agreed to acquire 100% of the entire issued share capital of the 
company for a total consideration of US$45,000k. Please refer to Note 36 for further information.
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NOTE 19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

19.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

Note 4.13 provides a description of each category of financial assets and financial liabilities and the related accounting 
policies. The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities in each category are as follows: 

          
 

 
Trade and other receivables 
(carried at amortized cost) 

Other assets 
(carried at 

amortized cost) Total 
March 31, 2025 Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Financial Assets     
Non-current receivables 11  360  -  360  
Trade receivables and contract assets, net 11  12,262  -  12,262  
Other receivables 11  848  -  848  
Cash and cash equivalents 10 - 10,758  10,758  
  13,470 10,758 24,228 
     

  
Other Liabilities 

(carried at amortized cost) 
Other liabilities at 

FVTPL Total 
March 31, 2025 Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Financial Liabilities     
Trade and other payables 17 14,166  - 14,166  
Other liabilities (current) 18 - 370 370 
Other liabilities (non-current) 18 - - - 
Borrowings 19.2  3,500  -  3,500  
Other financial liabilities (current) 22.1 1,431  - 1,431  
Other financial liabilities (non-current) 22.1 4,873  - 4,873  
  23,970 370 24,340 
     
 

 
Trade and other receivables 
(carried at amortized cost) 

Other assets 
(carried at 

amortized cost) Total 
March 31, 2024 Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Financial Assets     
Non-current receivables 11  402  -  402  
Trade receivables and contract assets, net 11  12,094  -  12,094  
Other receivables 11  972  -  972  
Cash and cash equivalents 10 -  11,594   11,594  
  13,468  11,594  25,062 
     

  
Other Liabilities 

(carried at amortized cost) 
Other liabilities at 

FVTPL Total 
March 31, 2024 Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Financial Liabilities     
Trade and other payables 17  9,823  -  9,823  
Other liabilities (current) 18 - 509 509 
Other liabilities (non-current) 18 - 284 284 
Borrowings 19.2  11,000  -  11,000  
Other financial liabilities (current) 22.1  861  -  861  
Other financial liabilities (non-current) 22.1  6,578  -  6,578  
  28,262 793 29,055 
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19.2 Borrowings and other financial liabilities 

Borrowings include the following financial liabilities: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Borrowings (non-current)  3,500   11,000  

Total borrowings 3,500 11,000 

Catapult Sports Inc., a US Subsidiary of the Group, entered into a secured revolving loan facility with Western Alliance 
Bank in April 2017.  

The $20,000k revolving loan facility with Western Alliance Bank matures on May 31, 2027. The loan balance associated 
with the facility has, therefore, been classified as a non-current liability. Bank borrowings are secured by all property 
of the Company, Catapult Sports Pty Ltd and Catapult Group US, Inc., except for customary excluded collateral.  

Current interest rates on the bank borrowing are variable and average 9.0% (2024: 9.5%).  

The revolving loan facility is subject to the following covenants; 

• achieving three-month trailing adjusted EBITDA targets, assessed against budgets submitted to the financier 
as adjusted by an agreed buffer; 

• not exceeding a maximum threshold for annual budgeted capital expenditure; and 
• maintain eligible monthly recurring revenue to support a notional borrowing base calculated using an agreed 

multiple formula. 

Whilst the structure of these covenants remains consistent for each year of the facility agreement, the values subject 
to assessment are agreed with the financier on an annual basis. 

Covenants are tested monthly, and the Group has no indication that it will have difficulty complying with these 
covenants. 

The Company was in compliance with its financial covenants during the reporting period and as at March 31, 2025. 

NOTE 20. CURRENT LIABILITIES – EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION 

20.1 Employee benefits expense 

 Expenses recognized for employee benefits are analyzed below: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Wages and salaries  37,507   37,850  
Share-based payments (equity-settled)(i), (ii)  12,266   9,712  
Social security costs   4,792   4,477  
Superannuation – defined contribution plans  2,026   2,181  
   
Total employee benefit expenses  56,591   54,220  

(i)  During the year, the Group only incurred expenses arising from equity-settled share-based payments. This amount includes $499k (FY24: $2,307k) 
for SBG consideration being treated as share-based payments. Refer to Note 36 for more details. 

(ii)  Includes a share-based payment expense that has been recognised as at March 31, 2025 which is based on an estimate of the EIP awards for FY25 
that have been granted for accounting purpose based on the performance period April 1, 2024 to March 31, 2025. The EIP is only expected to be 
allocated by July 2025. The estimate has been performed in accordance with Accounting Standards utilising the same methodology as the Employee 
Share Plan and most recent allocations, utilizing a statutory fair value range of A$1.55 - A$3.46 (US$0.97 - US$2.17). 

NOTE 19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
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20.2 Share-based employee remuneration 

Director Fee Sacrifice Plan 

The Salary Sacrifice Offer is designed to encourage Directors to build their Shareholdings in the Company. It is not 
intended to be used for the purposes of providing Directors with additional remuneration. 

Participation in the Salary Sacrifice Offer by a Director in respect of their annual base fees is voluntary, except the 
Board has determined that fees paid to Directors in their role as Chairman of a Board Committee will be satisfied by 
the issue of Rights. Therefore, participation in the Salary Sacrifice Offer by a Director for Chairman Committee fees 
is mandatory. The current fee payable for the Chairman of each of the SaaS Scaling Committee, Audit & Risk 
Committee and the Nomination & Remuneration Committee is A$100,000, A$40,000, and A$20,000, respectively. 

Employee share plan  

Catapult has continued to utilise its established Employee Share Plan (Employee Plan) to assist in the motivation, 
retention and reward of executives and employees. The Employee Plan is designed to align the interests of employees 
with the interests of Shareholders by providing an opportunity for eligible employees (including any person who is a 
full-time or permanent part-time employee or officer, or director of Catapult or any related body corporate of 
Catapult) to receive an equity interest in Catapult through the granting of Options, Performance Rights or other 
Awards. 

The Shares held by the Employee Plan Trustee are Restricted Securities such that the Employee Plan Trustee is not 
able to dispose of them within 24 months of Official Quotation. The key terms of the Employee Plan are set out below: 

Eligibility  

Eligibility to participate in the Employee Plan and the number of Options, Performance Rights or other Awards offered 
to each individual participant will be determined by the Board. 

Grants 

Under the rules of the Employee Plan, Options, Performance Rights and/or other Awards may be offered or granted 
to eligible employees of Catapult or any related body corporate of Catapult from time to time, subject to the discretion 
of the Board. 

Terms and conditions 

The Board has the discretion to set the terms and conditions (including conditions in relation to vesting, disposal 
restrictions or forfeiture and any applicable exercise price) on which it will offer or grant Options, Performance Rights 
or other Awards under the Employee Plan and may set different terms and conditions which apply to different 
participants in the Employee Plan. The Board will determine the procedure for offering or granting Options, 
Performance Rights and/or other Awards (including the form, terms and content of any offer, invitation or acceptance 
procedure) in accordance with the rules of the Employee Plan. 

Options and Performance Rights and other Awards will vest and become exercisable to the extent that the applicable 
performance, service, or other vesting conditions specified at the time of the grant are satisfied (collectively the 
“Vesting Conditions”).  

Shares issued (including shares issued upon exercise of Options or Performance Rights granted) under the Employee 
Plan will rank equally in all respects with the other issued shares. 

Subject to satisfaction of Vesting Conditions, a participant may exercise an Option, Performance Right or other Award 
by lodging an exercise notice with Catapult and complying with any requirements under the Employee Plan. 

A participant will have a vested and indefeasible entitlement to any dividends declared and distributed by Catapult 
on any shares which, at the closing date for determining entitlement to those dividends, are standing to the account 
of the participant. A participant may exercise any voting rights attaching to shares registered in the participant’s 
name. 

        
     

NOTE 20. CURRENT LIABILITIES – EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 
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Catapult may, in its discretion, issue new shares or cause existing shares to be acquired or transferred to the 
participant, or a combination of both alternatives, to satisfy Catapult’s obligations under the Employee Plan. If 
Catapult determines to cause the transfer of Shares to a participant, the shares may be acquired in such manner as 
Catapult considers appropriate, including from a trustee appointed under the Employee Plan. 

Pursuant to the Employee Plan, Catapult has appointed the Employee Plan Trustee to acquire and hold Shares on 
behalf of participants and for the purposes of the Employee Plan. Catapult may give directions to the Employee Plan 
Trustee as contemplated in the trust deed or if in connection with any Award. During FY25, Catapult subscribed for 
8,000,000 shares (FY24: 15,500,000) to the Catapult Employee Share Plan Trust. At March 31, 2025 the Employee 
Plan Trustee holds 7,212,986 shares (2024: 11,840,144 shares) on behalf of participants and for the purposes of the 
Employee Plan. 

Options, Performance Rights and other Awards which have not been exercised will be forfeited if the applicable 
Vesting Conditions and any other conditions to exercise are not met during the prescribed vesting period or if they are 
not exercised before the applicable expiry date. In addition, Options, Performance Rights and other Awards will lapse 
if the participant deals with the Options, Performance Rights or other Awards in breach of the rules of the Employee 
Plan or in the opinion of the Directors, a participant has acted fraudulently or with gross misconduct. 

Options, Performance Rights and other Awards will not be quoted on the ASX. Catapult will apply for official quotation 
of any Shares allotted under the Employee Plan unless the Board resolves otherwise. 

The Board may, in its absolute discretion, determine that a participant is required to pay an exercise price to exercise 
the Options, Performance Rights or other Awards offered or granted to that participant. 

Grants of Options, Performance Rights or other Awards under the Employee Plan to a Director may be subject to the 
approval of Shareholders, to the extent required under the ASX Listing Rules. 

Participants in the Employee Plan must not enter into transactions or arrangements, including by way of derivatives 
or similar financial products, which limit the economic risk of holding unvested Awards. 

Subject to the rules of the Employee Plan, the Board must not offer Options, Performance Rights or other Awards if 
the total of the following exceeds 5% of the number of Shares on issue at the time of the offer: 

• The number of Shares which are the subject of the offer of Awards; 
• The number of Shares which are the subject of any outstanding offers of Awards;  
• The number of Shares issued during the previous 5 years under the Employee Plan, but not including existing 

Shares transferred to a participant after having been acquired for that purpose; and  
• The number of Shares which would be issued under all outstanding Awards that have been granted but which 

have not yet been exercised, terminated or expired, assuming all such Awards were exercised ignoring any 
Vesting Conditions, but disregarding any offer made, or Award offered or issued or Share issued by way or as 
a result of:  

­ an offer that does not meet disclosure to investors because of section 708 or section 1012D of the 
Corporations Act;  

­ an offer made pursuant to a disclosure document or product disclosure statement; or  
­ other offers that are excluded from the disclosure requirements under the Corporations Act. 

The Board may impose restrictions on dealing in Shares or Awards which are acquired under the Employee Plan, for 
example, by prohibiting them from being sold, transferred, mortgaged, pledged, charged, or otherwise disposed of or 
encumbered for a period of time. 

If the Board determines that for taxation, legal, regulatory or compliance reasons it is not appropriate to issue or 
transfer Shares, Catapult may in lieu of and in final satisfaction of Catapult’s obligation to issue or transfer Shares 
as required upon the exercise of an Award by a participant, make a cash payment to the participant equivalent to the 
fair market value of the Awards. 

NOTE 20. CURRENT LIABILITIES – EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 
20.2 Share-based employee remuneration (continued) 
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Where there is a change of control of Catapult, including where any person acquires a relevant interest in more than 
50% of the Shares, or where the Board concludes that there has been a change in the control of Catapult, the Board 
will determine, in its sole and absolute discretion, the manner in which all unvested and vested Awards will be dealt 
with. 

Where there is a takeover bid made for all of the Shares or a scheme of arrangement, selective capital reduction or 
other transaction is initiated which has a similar effect to a full takeover bid for Shares, then participants are entitled 
to accept the takeover offer or participate in the other transaction in respect of all or part of their Awards 
notwithstanding any restriction period has not expired. Further, the Board may, at its discretion, waive unsatisfied 
Vesting Conditions in relation to some or all Awards in the event of such a takeover or other transaction. 

If, prior to the exercise of an Award, Catapult makes a pro-rata bonus issue to Shareholders, and the Award is not 
exercised prior to the record date in respect of the bonus issue, the Award will, when exercised, entitle the participant 
to one Share plus the number of bonus shares which would have been issued to the participant if the Award had been 
exercised prior to the record date. 

If Catapult undergoes a capital reorganization, then the terms of the Awards for the participant will be changed to 
the extent necessary to comply with the ASX Listing Rules. 

The Employee Plan also contains terms having regard to Australian law for dealing with the administration, variation 
and termination of the Employee Plan.  

Share options and weighted average exercise prices are as follows for the reporting periods presented: 

 Options Program Performance Rights 

 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price (A$) 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price (A$) 
     
Outstanding at April 1, 2024 7,820,862 0.9866 16,704,094 - 
Allocated - - 11,821,257 - 
Forfeited (25,000) 1.2580 (399,538) - 
Exercised (2,097,043) 1.0194 (10,412,749) - 
Expired (65,000) 1.2580 (44,712) - 
Outstanding at March 31, 2025 5,633,819 0.9700 17,668,352 - 
Exercisable at March 31, 2025 5,633,819 0.9700 1,048,989 - 

 
 

Options Program Performance Rights 

 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price (A$) 
Number of 

Shares 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price (A$) 

     
Outstanding at April 1, 2023 5,177,719 1.2451 9,689,913 - 
Allocated 7,689,522 0.9700 14,077,240 - 
Forfeited (3,943,267) 1.2733 (1,364,250) - 
Exercised (651,112) 0.8094 (5,672,492) - 
Expired (452,000) 1.4200 (26,317) - 
Outstanding at March 31, 2024 7,820,862 0.9866 16,704,094 - 
Exercisable at March 31, 2024 450,000 1.2580 1,157,308 - 

 

NOTE 20. CURRENT LIABILITIES – EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 
20.2 Share-based employee remuneration (continued) 
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The Group, in valuing its allocated performance rights, has used its share price at the grant date.  
The following table list the inputs to the valuation model used for the options granted in the prior year: 
 

  

 2024 
Weighted average fair values at the measurement date A$0.34 (US$0.22) 
Dividend yield  0.0% 
Expected volatility  55.6% 
Risk---free interest rate  3.5% 
Expected life of share options  2 years 
Weighted average share price  A$1.00 (US$0.65) 
Model used Black-Scholes 

 

The expected life of the share options is based on historical data and current expectations and is not necessarily 
indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical 
volatility over a period similar to the life of the options is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the 
actual outcome. 
 
20.3 Employee benefits 

The liabilities recognized for employee benefits consist of the following amounts: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Wages and salaries 3,012 2,889 
Social security costs and payroll taxes 454 560 
Defined contribution plans  1,177  1,315 
Accrued leave entitlements 2,985 2,862 
   
Total current employee benefits 7,628 7,626 
   
Non-current   
Accrued leave entitlements  111   106  
   
Total non-current employee benefits  111   106  

  
The current portion of these liabilities represents the Group’s obligations to its current employees that are to be settled 
during the next 12 months and its accrued annual leave liabilities and current accrued long service leave.  

NOTE 20. CURRENT LIABILITIES – EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) 
20.2 Share-based employee remuneration (continued) 
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NOTE 21. EQUITY – SHARE CAPITAL 

The share capital of Catapult Group International Ltd consists only of fully paid ordinary shares; the shares do not 
have a par value. All shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of capital and represent one 
vote at the shareholders’ meeting of Catapult Group International Ltd.  

  
      

  March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 March 31, 2025 March 31, 2024 

 Note 
Authorized 

Shares 
Authorized 

Shares US$’000 US$’000 
      
Shares issued and fully paid for:  271,424,126 261,107,456 217,185  204,482  
      
Beginning of the year  261,107,456 244,057,884 213,151 198,751  

Shares issued to the Catapult 
Employee Share Plan Trust 

 
8,000,000 15,500,000 12,082 10,907 

Movement in treasury shares  - - (9,858) (6,153) 

Exercise of performance 
options and equity options 

 
- - 9,933 4,840 

Shares issued for acquisition  2,316,670 1,549,572 2,770 4,806 

Total contributed equity  271,424,126 261,107,456 228,078 213,151 

Treasury shares 21.1  (7,212,986) (11,840,144) (10,893) (8,669) 
      
Total contributed equity  264,211,140  249,267,312  217,185  204,482  

During the financial year: 

• 2,316,670 shares were issued as part of the share consideration in relation to the SBG acquisition (FY24: 1,549,572). 
• 8,000,000 shares were issued to the Employee Share Plan Trust during the period (FY24: 15,500,000). 
21.1 Treasury Shares 

Treasury shares are shares in Catapult Group International Ltd that are held by the Catapult Sports Employee Share 
Plan Trust for the purpose of issuing shares under the Catapult Sports Employee Share Plan in respect of options and 
performance rights issued under that Plan: 

 2025 2024 
 Shares Shares 
   
Opening Balance  11,840,144 2,663,748 
Shares issued during the year 8,000,000 15,500,000 
Rights and options exercised during the year  (12,627,158)  (6,323,604) 
   
Balance at year end 7,212,986 11,840,144 

 
During the financial year, the following occurred under the Employee Share Plan: 
• 10,412,749 performance rights that were exercised at an average exercise price of A$0.00 (FY24: 5,672,492 at an 

average exercise price of A$0.00). The amount raised was A$Nil (US$Nil).  
• 1,737,043 options were exercised at an average exercise price of A$0.97. The amount raised was A$1,684,932 

(US$1,110,025). 
• 360,000 options exercised at an average exercise price of A$1.26. The amount raised was A$452,880 (US$301,319). 
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21.2 Performance rights and options allocated  

During the financial year, the following were allocated under the Employee Share Plan: 

• 32,050 performance rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair value of 
A$1.55 (US$1.01) 

• 384,236 Director Fee Sacrifice Rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair 
value of A$2.00 (US$1.34) 

• 1,069,020 performance rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair value of 
A$2.00 (US$1.30) 

• 2,260,810 performance rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair value of 
A$0.67 (US$0.45) 

• 7,362,191 performance rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair value of 
A$2.12 (US$1.43) 

• 525,040 performance rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair value of 
A$2.10 (US$1.42) 

• 77,910 performance rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair value of 
A$2.44 (US$1.69) 

• 110,000 performance rights that were allocated at an average exercise price of A$0.00 and had a fair value of 
A$3.58 (US$2.23) 

 

 

 

NOTE 21. EQUITY – SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 
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NOTE 22. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES – LEASES 

22.1 Lease liabilities 

The Group’s lease liabilities, which are secured by the related assets held under leases, are classified as follows: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Lease liabilities (current) 1,431   861  
Lease liabilities (non-current)  4,873   6,578  

Total lease liabilities 6,304 7,439 
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the year: 

   

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
As at April 1 7,439 3,830 
Additions 113 1,597 
Adjustment to lease liabilities (151) 3,524 
Termination (311) - 
Interest expense 629 351 
Lease liability repayment  (1,324)  (1,881) 
Foreign exchange differences (91) 18 

Balance as at March 31  6,304 7,439 
 

Lease payments not recognized as a liability 

The Group has elected not to recognize a lease liability for short-term leases (leases with an expected term of 12 
months or less) or for leases of low-value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line 
basis. In addition, certain variable lease payments are not permitted to be recognized as lease liabilities and are 
expensed as incurred. 

The expense relating to payments not included in the measurement of a lease liability is as follows: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   

Short-term leases 101 126 

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $1,953k in FY25 (FY24: $2,159k). 
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NOTE 23. FINANCE COSTS AND FINANCE INCOME 

Finance costs for the year consist of the following: 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Interest expenses for borrowings and other financial liabilities:   
Interest expense (1,886) (2,079) 
Significant financing component (non-cash) (733) (960) 

Total finance costs (2,619) (3,039) 
   
Finance income for the year consists of the following: 

2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Interest income from cash and cash equivalents 60 55 

 

NOTE 24. OTHER FINANCIAL ITEMS 

Other financial items consist of the following:  

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
(Loss)/gain on exchange differences  (554)  1,814  

 

NOTE 25. CURRENT LIABILITIES – INCOME TAX  

The major components of income tax and the reconciliation of the expected income tax based on the domestic 
effective tax rate of Catapult Group International Ltd at 30% (2024: 30%) are: 

    2025 2024 
Numerical reconciliation of income tax at the statutory rate US$’000 US$’000 

Loss before income tax  (11,894) (16,007) 
   
Prima facie tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 30%  (3,568) (4,802) 
Overseas tax rate differential  400  246 
Net tax losses not recognized/(utilized)  2,110  2,116 
Share-based payments (859)  1,339 
Other local assessable income 2,590 1,428 
Other non-deductible expenses 965 320 
Adjustment of intangible assets tax base  (4,770) - 
Local country taxes  44  46 

Actual tax (benefit)/expense (3,088) 693 
Made up of:   
Current tax 250 118 
Deferred tax (3,338) 575 

Income tax (benefit)/expense (3,088) 693 
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NOTE 26. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

Fees paid and payable to the Group’s auditor during the year consisted of the following: 
   

 2025 2024 
 US$ US$ 
   
Assurance Services   
   Audit and review of the Financial Report – Ernst & Young 385,548 349,405 
Other services   
   Other services – Ernst & Young - - 
   
Total auditor’s remuneration 385,548 349,405 

 

NOTE 27. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Both the basic and diluted earnings per share have been calculated using the loss attributable to shareholders of the 
Parent Company (Catapult Group International Ltd) as the numerator (i.e., no adjustments to profit were necessary 
in 2023 or 2024). 23,302,171 (FY24: 24,524,956) options and performance rights have not been included in calculating 
diluted EPS because their effect is anti-dilutive. 

The reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares for the purpose of diluted earnings per share to the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share is as follows: 

27.1 Basic and diluted loss per share  

 2025 2024 
 (US Cents) (US Cents) 
   
Basic loss and diluted loss per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of 
the Company (3.4) (7.0) 

 

27.2 Reconciliation of loss used in calculating loss per share 

 
2025 

US$’000 
2024 

US$’000 
Basic and diluted loss per share   
Loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating 
loss per share:   
From continuing operations (8,754) (16,680) 

 

27.3 Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator 

 2025 2024 
 Shares ‘000 Shares ‘000 
   
Weighted average number of shares used in basic and diluted earnings per share 256,136 239,464 
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NOTE 28. EQUITY – DIVIDENDS 

28.1 Dividends paid and proposed 

There is no dividend paid or proposed in the current financial year (FY24: Nil). 

28.2 Franking credits 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
The amount of the franking credits available for subsequent reporting periods 
are:    

Balance of franking account at the beginning of the year (2,538) (2,608) 
Impact of foreign exchange rates 44 70 
Balance of franking account adjusted for deferred debits arising from past 
R&D tax offsets received and expected R&D tax offset to be received for the 
current year (2,494) (2,538) 

During the year ended March 31, 2025, the Group made no payments related to income tax, refunds or dividends 
paid that would have an impact on the franking credits. 

 

NOTE 29. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

 

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Loss after income tax expense for the year (8,806) (16,700) 
   
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation and amortization 26,891 24,211 
Share-based payments 12,266 9,712 
Foreign exchange differences 125    (1,651)  
Net interest and dividends received included in investing and financing 1,856   1,825  
Impairment losses on obsolete stock, receivables and other items 1,698   1,663  
Share-based payments tax (benefit)/expense (2,934) 1,249 
Loss on disposal 841 428 
   
Change in operating assets and liabilities:   
Increase in trade and other receivables and contract assets (645)  (8)  
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,217)  1,249  
Decrease/(increase) in non-current tax assets 2,095 (770)  
Increase in trade and other payables 4,343  585  
(Decrease)/increase in provision for income tax 183 (7)  
Increase in employee benefits 7  1,597  
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (3,686)  (2)  
Increase in other liabilities 5,434  8,322  

Net cash from operating activities  38,452   31,703  
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NOTE 30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Group’s related parties include its associates, key management, post-employment benefit plans for the Group’s 
employees and others as described below.  

 2025 2024 
 US$ US$ 
   
Transactions with key management 42,328 36,923 

 
During FY25, the Company spent $42,328 (FY24: $36,923) with Workday Group’s Adaptive Insights Pty Ltd to as part 
of an ongoing software subscription agreement to utilize Adaptive Insights budgeting and forecasting software within 
its finance divisions. 

 

30.1 Transactions with key management personnel 

Key management of the Group are the executive members of Catapult Group International’s Board of Directors and 
certain members of Catapult’s executive team.  

Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no guarantees were 
given or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash. 

   

  
 2025 2024 
 US$ US$ 
   
Salaries including bonuses 1,445,199 1,635,746 
Post-employment benefits 38,278 58,133 
Share-based payments 1,625,474 1,065,298 
Director salary sacrifice 734,640 309,543 
Other - 131,618 

Total remuneration 3,843,591 3,200,338 
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NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK 

31.1 Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group is exposed to various risks in relation to financial instruments. The Group’s financial assets and liabilities by 
category are summarized in Note 19.1. The main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

The Group’s risk management is coordinated in close cooperation with the Board of Directors and focuses on actively 
securing the Group’s short to medium-term cash flows by minimizing exposure to financial markets. The Group does 
not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes, nor does it write options. The most 
significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.  

31.2 Market risk analysis 

The Group is exposed to currency risk resulting from its operating activities. 

Foreign Currency Sensitivity 

Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from the Group’s overseas sales and purchases, which are primarily 
denominated in Australian dollars (AUD), Pound Sterling (GBP), Euro (EUR), Japanese Yen (JPY) and Chinese Yuan 
(CNY) 

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities which expose the Group to currency risk are disclosed 
below. The amounts shown are those translated into US$ at the closing rate: 

 AUD GBP EUR JPY CNY 
Other 

Currencies 
March 31, 2025 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
       
Short Term Exposure        
Financial assets 2,058 2,192 4,496 584 3,011 437 
Financial liabilities (3,593) (3,371) (1,383) (17) (121) (206) 

Total exposure (1,535) (1,179) 3,113 567 2,890 231 
 

 AUD GBP EUR JPY CNY 
Other 

Currencies 
March 31, 2024 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
       
Short term Exposure        
Financial assets  3,747   2,452   3,161   432   1,723   736  
Financial liabilities (3,881) (2,903) (1,076) (9) (44) (54) 

Total exposure (134) (451) 2,085 423 1,679 682 
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The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit and equity in regards to the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities and the various exchange rates ‘all other things are equal’. It assumes a +/- 10% change of the various 
exchange rate for the year ended March 31, 2025 (2024: 10%).  
If the USD had strengthened by 10% against the respective currencies then this would have had the following impact: 

Foreign currency risk 

 AUD GBP EUR JPY CNY 
Other 

currencies Total 
March 31, 2025 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Financial assets (187) (199) (409) (53) (274) (40) (1,162) 
Financial liabilities 327 306 126 2 11 17 789 
        
March 31, 2024        
Financial assets (341) (223) (287) (39) (157) (67) (1,114) 
Financial liabilities 353 264 98 1 4 5 725 

 
If the USD had weakened by 10% against the respective currencies, then this would have had the following impact: 

        

 AUD GBP EUR JPY CNY 
Other 

currencies Total 
March 31, 2025 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Financial assets 229 244 500 65 335 49 1,422 
Financial liabilities (399) (375) (154) (2) (13) (20) (963) 
        
March 31, 2024        
Financial assets 416 272 351 48 191 82 1,360 
Financial liabilities (431) (323) (120) (1) (5) (6) (886) 

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume of overseas 
transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s exposure to currency 
risk. 

NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK (CONTINUED) 
31.2 Market risk analysis (continued) 
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31.3 Credit risk analysis 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. The Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of the financial assets recognized at the reporting date, as 
summarized below:  

 2025 2024 
 US$’000 US$’000 
   
Classes of financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 10,758   11,594  
Trade receivables and contract assets, net  12,262   12,094  
Other receivables  848   972  
Other non-current financial assets  360   402  

Total 24,228 25,062 
Receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to 
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract 
assets. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. 

Also, where available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or reports on customers and other counterparties 
are obtained and used. The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy counterparties. 

The amounts at March 31, 2025, analyzed by the length of time past due, are: 

 2025 2024 
 US$'000 US$’000 
   
Not more than three (3) months 8,855 9,455 
More than three (3) months but not more than six (6) months 471 596 
More than six (6) months but not more than one (1) year 564 439 
More than one (1) year 470  277  
   
Total  10,360   10,767  

 
In respect of trade receivables, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single 
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. Trade receivables consist of a large number 
of customers in various sports and geographical areas.  

As at March 31, 2025, the group had a cash and cash equivalent balance of $10,758k (FY24: $11,594k). 

NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK (CONTINUED) 
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31.4 Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group might be unable to meet its obligations. The Group manages its liquidity needs 
by monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term financial liabilities as well as forecast cash inflows and 
outflows due in the running of the day-to-day business. Liquidity needs are monitored on a week-to-week basis, as 
well as on the basis of a rolling 90-day projection. The Group's US subsidiary, Catapult Sports Inc, finalized the 
execution of extending the $20,000k debt facility with Western Alliance Bank during March 2024. The multi-year 
facility now has a maturity date of May 31, 2027. At March 31, 2025, the Group had drawn down funds of $3,500k 
from the debt facility (2024: $11,000k). 

As at March 31, 2025, the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities have contractual maturities (including interest 
payments where applicable) as summarized below: 

 Current Non-current 
 Within 

6 months 
6 - 12 

months 
 

5+ years  1-5 years 
 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
     
March 31, 2025     
US-Dollar loans(i) 149 149 3,847 - 
Other financial liabilities 1,039 960 5,383 253 
Trade and other payables 14,166 - - - 
Contingent consideration - 370 - - 
     
Total 15,354 1,479 9,230 253 

(i)  Interest payments is calculated at 8.5% (being the Wall Street Journal rate + 1.00%) up to the maturity date based on the carrying amount of 
borrowings as at March 31, 2025 (FY24: 9.5%). 

This compares to the maturity of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities in the previous reporting period as 
follows: 

 Current Non-current 
 Within 

6 months 
6-12 

months 
 

5+ years  1-5 years 
 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 
     
March 31, 2024     
US-Dollar loans (i) 523 523 13,265 - 
Other financial liabilities 946 774 5,247 497 
Trade and other payables 9,823 - - - 
Contingent consideration - 509 284 - 
     
Total 11,292 1,806 18,796 497 

 

NOTE 31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK (CONTINUED) 
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NOTE 32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital. Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of its gearing ratio. 
In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Group considers its issue of new capital, return of capital to 
shareholders and dividend policy as well as its plan for acquisition or disposal of assets. The Group was fully compliant 
with all bank facility covenants during the financial year. 

NOTE 33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

The Group has obtained two bank guarantees as security in respect of lease agreements for its premises and credit 
card liabilities amounting to $248k as of March 31, 2025 (2024: $245k). These amounts, disclosed as contingent 
liabilities, remain inaccessible to the Group. 

NOTE 34. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

Information relating to Catapult Group International Ltd (‘the Parent Entity’): 

 2025 2024 
 US$'000 US$'000 
   
Statement of financial position   
Current assets 1,584 1,353 
Total assets 137,186 142,036 
Current liabilities 1,199 1,054 
Total liabilities 3,016 2,213 
Net assets 134,170 139,823 
Issued capital 217,187 204,482 
Foreign currency reserve (25,088) (21,155) 
Other reserves (2) 2,171  
Accumulated losses (75,967) (62,124) 
Share option reserve 18,040 16,450 
Total equity 134,170 139,823  

  
Statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive loss   
Loss for the year (13,843) (17,135) 
Other comprehensive loss (3,931) (2,980) 
Total comprehensive loss (17,774) (20,115) 

The parent entity has no capital commitments at the year-end (2024: Nil). 

The parent entity entered into the following guarantee on June 26, 2017: 

A Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Group guarantees debts in respect of one of its subsidiaries. 
Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the deed are disclosed in Note 35. 
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NOTE 35. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE 

A consolidated income statement and consolidated balance sheet comprising the Company and controlled entities 
which are a party to the Deed of Gross Guarantee (members of the “Closed Group”), after eliminating all transactions 
between parties to the Deed of Gross Guarantee, are as follows. 

    Closed Group 
 2025 2024 
 US$'000 US$'000 
Summarized income statement and statement of comprehensive income 
and accumulated losses   
Loss before income tax  (10,883) (14,403) 
Income tax benefit/(expense) 1,400 (4,854) 
Loss after income tax (9,483) (19,257) 
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (82,075) (62,818) 
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (91,558) (82,075) 
   
Statement of financial position   
   
Current assets   
Cash and equivalents 2,728 2,848 
Trade and other receivables 31,064    30,745  
Inventories 117    261  
Other current assets -  307  
   
Total current assets 33,909    34,161  
   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment 15,316    13,167  
Intangible assets 19,442    17,928  
Investments 87,704    89,740  
Deferred tax assets - 685  
Other non-current assets 3   32  
   
Total non-current assets 122,465 121,552 
   
Total assets 156,374   155,713  
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 2025 2024 
 US$'000 US$'000 
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 7,094    7,163  
Contract liabilities 5,780    6,106  
Employee benefits 1,831    2,185  
Other current liabilities 15,937   14,077 
Other financial liabilities 236 - 
   
Total current liabilities 30,878   29,531  
   
Non-current liabilities   
Contract liabilities 914   840  
Employee benefits 111   106  
Deferred tax liabilities 116 - 
Other non-current liabilities 1,411    1,695  
   
Total non-current liabilities 2,552    2,641  
   
Total liabilities 33,430   32,172  
   
Net assets 122,944  123,541  
   
Shareholders' equity   
Issued capital 217,185  204,482  
Share option reserve 18,040 16,450 
Foreign currency reserve  (20,721) (17,486) 
Other reserves  (2) 2,170  
Accumulated losses (91,558) (82,075) 
   
Total Shareholders’ equity 122,944 123,541  
   

The members of the Closed Group comprise Catapult Group International Ltd, Catapult Sports Pty Ltd, and Catapult 
International Pty Ltd. 

Catapult Group International Ltd (the Company) and Catapult Sports Pty Ltd are party to a Deed of Cross Guarantee 
dated June 26, 2017. Catapult International Pty Ltd joined the Deed of Cross Guarantee via a Deed of Assumption 
dated March 29, 2021. The effect of the deed is that the Company has guaranteed to each creditor to pay any 
deficiency in the event of the winding up of any of the controlled entities in the Closed Group. All entities in the Closed 
Group have also given a similar guarantee in the event that the Company is wound up.  

NOTE 35. DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (CONTINUED) 
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NOTE 36. ACQUISITION OF SBG SPORTS SOFTWARE LIMITED 

On July 1, 2021, Catapult completed the strategic acquisition of leading sports software video solutions provider, SBG 
Sports Software Limited (SBG). The Company acquired 100% of the issued share capital in SBG for a total price of 
$40,000k-$45,000k, comprising $20,000k in cash, $20,000k in deferred Catapult shares and $5,000k in Catapult 
shares which is subject to the achievement of agreed key performance indicators.  

Consideration breakdown 
Fair value at acquisition 

date US$'000 
Amount settled in cash 20,000 
Amount settled in deferred shares(i) 5,352 
Amount settled as contingent consideration(ii)  1,225 
Other amounts   
Amount settled in deferred shares(iii) 14,732 
Amount settled as contingent consideration(iv)  3,691 
Total  45,000 

(i) To be issued in instalments over the 12-month period commencing on the anniversary of completion 
(ii) Subject to achievement of agreed key performance indicators, to be measured at the end of FY23 and FY24 
(iii) To be issued in instalments over the 12-month period commencing on the anniversary of completion, for several key employees of SBG (recognized 

as share-based payments) 
(iv) Subject to achievement of agreed key performance indicators, to be measured at the end of FY23 and FY24, for several key employees of SBG 

(recognized as share-based payments)  

The valuation of the acquisition was finalized and included in the financial statements for the year-ended March 31, 
2022. 

Contingent consideration 

As part of the purchase agreement with the previous owners of SBG, a contingent consideration component has been 
agreed, with $5,000k of Catapult shares available, subject to the achievement of key performance indicators that are 
aligned to the performance metrics used for the Executive team’s annual EIP award. The $5,000k contingent 
consideration is split into two tranches of $2,500k, with the first tranche calculated in June 2023 as $2,200k, and the 
second tranche calculated in June 2024 as $3,250k, after taking into consideration the achievement of key 
performance indicators for FY23 and FY24 respectively. 

A portion of the contingent consideration that pertains to several key employees of SBG is being recognized as share-
based payments in the accounts, of which $4,171k has been recognized as at March 31, 2025. The fair value of the 
remaining contingent consideration at March 31, 2025 is $370k (FY24: $793k). 

The contingent consideration has been remeasured at the reporting date March 31, 2025. Refer to Note 37 for further 
details. 

Deferred share consideration  

During the year ended March 31, 2025, Catapult issued 2,316,670 shares with a grant date fair value of $2,770k as part 
of the deferred share consideration due in respect of the acquisition of SBG Sports Software Limited. 
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NOTE 37. FAIR VALUE 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position when the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair 
value adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured 
initially at fair value.  

The following table presents a reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements for financial liability categorized 
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: 

 Financial Liability 
 March 2025 March 2024 
 US$'000 US$'000 
Opening balance 793 428 
Settlement of deferred consideration (646) (159) 
Remeasurement recognized in profit and loss 223 524 
Closing Balance 370 793 
   
Current 370 509 
Non-current - 284 
Total 370 793 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognized or disclosed are categorized within the fair value hierarchy 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows:  

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable 
• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable  

For assets and liabilities that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers 
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

Contingent consideration in relation to the SBG acquisition was classified as a financial liability measured at fair value 
at the date of acquisition and subsequently remeasured at the reporting date with changes in fair value recognized in 
profit or loss. The Group has adopted the deterministic payout approach associated with each possible outcome to 
determine the fair value of the contingent consideration at the date of acquisition. The significant unobservable inputs 
adopted by the Group were based on a combination of the entity’s key performance indicators being achieved, such 
as the number of Customers, Annualized Contract Value (ACV) and Multi Vertical Customers with a maximum 
outcome of 130% having been assessed. As at March 31, 2025, the group has remeasured the fair value of the 
contingent consideration.  
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NOTE 38. OTHER EXPENSES 

The following information relates to the Group’s other expenses: 
 

 2025 2024 
 US$'000 US$’000 
   
Software costs 3,669 3,425 
Distributor commissions 871 835 
Insurance 673 679 
Bad debt expense 816 531 
Loss on disposal of assets 841 428 
Other expenses 2,201 2,804 
   
Total 9,071 8,702 

 

NOTE 39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since March 31, 2025, that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, 
the consolidated entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity’s state of affairs in 
future financial years.  
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In accordance with the requirements of Subsection 295(3A) of the Australian Corporations Act 2001, set out below is 
the consolidated entity disclosure statement disclosing information in respect of Catapult Group International Ltd 
and entities it controlled as at March 31, 2025. 

Entity name 
Body corporate, 

partnership or trust 

Place 
incorporated or 

formed 

Percentage 
of share 

capital held 

Australian or 
Foreign tax 

resident  

Jurisdiction for 
Foreign tax 

resident  
Catapult Group International Ltd Body corporate Australia N/A Australian N/A 
Catapult Sports Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia  100% Australian N/A 
Catapult Gameday Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia  100% Australian N/A 
Catapult International Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia  100% Australian N/A 
GPSports Systems Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia  100% Australian N/A 
Catapult Innovations Pty Ltd Body corporate Australia  100% Australian N/A 
Catapult Group US Inc. Body corporate United States of 

America 
100% Foreign United States of 

America 
Catapult Sports LLC Body corporate United States of 

America 
100% Foreign United States of 

America 
Catapult Sports Inc. (formerly 
XOS Technologies, Inc.) 

Body corporate United States of 
America 

100% Foreign United States of 
America 

Collegiate Images LLC Body corporate United States of 
America 

100% Foreign United States of 
America 

Catapult Sports Limited Body corporate United Kingdom 100% Foreign United Kingdom 
Catapult Sports Godo Kaisha Body corporate Japan 100% Foreign Japan 
Catapult Sports Europe Limited Body corporate Ireland 100% Foreign Ireland 
Catapult Sports EMEA Ltd 
(formerly Kodaplay Limited) 

Body corporate Ireland 100% Foreign Ireland 

Catapult Sports SAS Body corporate Argentina 100% Foreign Argentina 
Catapult Sports Technology 
Beijing Co Ltd 

Body corporate China 100% Foreign China 

Science for Sport Limited Body corporate United Kingdom 70% Australian N/A 
SBG Sports Software Ltd Body corporate Isle of Man 100% Foreign United Kingdom 
SBG Sports Software UK Ltd Body corporate United Kingdom 100% Foreign United Kingdom 
Catapult Sports GmbH (formerly 
SBG Sports Software GmbH) 

Body corporate Germany  100% Foreign Germany  

SBG Sports Software Inc. Body corporate United States of 
America 

100% Foreign United States of 
America 

Catapult Sports Licensing LLC Body corporate United States of 
America 

100% Foreign United States of 
America 

Forbes Recruit Evaluation, Inc Body corporate United States of 
America 

100% Foreign United States of 
America 

Forbes Recruit Evaluation, LLC Body corporate United States of 
America 

100% Foreign United States of 
America 

Catapult Sports ESP Trust Trust Australia N/A N/A N/A 
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In the opinion of the Directors of Catapult Group International Ltd: 

➔ the attached financial statements and notes set out on pages 52 to 105 are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

­ complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and 

­ giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at March 31, 2025 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

➔ there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable;  

➔ at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended 
Closed Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by 
virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in Note 35 to the financial statements; and 

➔ the consolidated entity disclosure statement required by section 295(3A) of the Corporations Act 2001 is true 
and correct. 

The effect of the first bullet is that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer for the year ended March 31, 2025. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 
2001. 

 

Dr Adir Shiffman 
Executive Chairman 
May 20, 2025 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Catapult Group 
International Ltd 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial report of Catapult Group International Ltd (the Company) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information, 
the consolidated entity disclosure statement and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025 
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit 
addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial report. 
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1. Revenue recognition and contract liabilities 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

The Group has the following key revenue streams: 

▪ „Subscription and service revenue 

▪ Capital revenue 

As disclosed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial 
report, the Group’s revenue is primarily generated 
from subscription and service revenue from customers 
for the provision of access to software services, which 
may also contain the provision of associated hardware.  
The Group also generates other revenues through the 
sale of hardware video equipment which is recognised 
as capital revenue. 

The Group’s subscription and service revenues are 
accounted for as service contracts and the associated 
revenue is recognised over time.  These contracts may 
be longer than 12 months in duration. 

Capital revenue is accounted for at a point in time, as 
and when the risks and rewards associated with the 
goods are transferred to the customer.  

Revenue recognition for these key revenue streams 
was considered a key audit matter due to the 
complexity and judgement contained in both short-
term and long-term contracts involving either or both 
Software as a Service (“SaaS”) and capital revenue 
arrangements.   The revenue recognition for such 
arrangements can be complex and involves 
management judgement when identifying performance 
obligations and the existence of any significant 
financing component within the sales contracts, and 
allocating revenue to obligations identified.  

Our audit procedures included the following: 

▪ Assessing whether the revenue recognition policy 
applied by the Group to the terms and conditions of 
the revenue transactions was in accordance with 
AASB 15 Revenues from Contracts with Customers. 

▪ Assessing whether the Group’s SaaS agreement 
terms and conditions met the definition of service 
contracts to be recognised over time, including 
assessing the existence of multi element 
arrangements. 

▪ Testing the operating effectiveness of controls over 
the capture, timing and measurement of revenue 
recognition in relation to subscription and service 
revenue. 

▪ For a sample of subscription and service revenue 
transactions, testing whether the revenue 
recognised was appropriate by understanding the 
revenue recognised based on the terms of the 
subscription agreements with customers and 
agreeing this to the associated contract liability 
balance recognised at the reporting date where 
applicable. 

▪ Assessing whether a significant financing component 
was identified on long-term contracts in relation to 
subscription and service revenue and considered 
whether any adjustment was required for those 
identified significant financing components. 

▪ Performing data correlation analysis between the 
initial subscription and service contract liability to 
accounts receivable and cash, and between the 
contract liability and revenue.  This included 
performing testing to cash receipts for a sample of 
revenue transactions. 

▪ For a sample of capital revenue transactions, we 
tested invoices to proof of delivery and receipt of 
cash. 

▪ Evaluating the adequacy of the revenue recognition 
policy disclosures contained in Note 4.5 of the 
consolidated financial report. 
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2. Capitalisation of development costs 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial 
report, the Group capitalises costs related to the 
internal development of software products. The 
carrying value of capitalised internally developed 
software at 31 March 2025 totalled US$38.0m.  

The accounting for capitalised development involves 
management judgement, including considering: 
technical and commercial feasibility; the Group’s 
intention and ability to complete the intangible asset; 
future economic benefits to be generated by the asset; 
the ability of the Group to measure the costs reliably; 
and determining the useful lives for capitalised 
development costs.  

In addition, determining whether there is any indication 
of impairment of the carrying value of capitalised 
development costs requires judgement in making 
assumptions which are affected by future market or 
economic developments. 

The capitalisation of development costs was 
considered a key audit matter given the significant 
judgement required in accounting for internal 
capitalised development costs, the value of these 
assets relative to total assets, the rapid technological 
and economic changes in the software industry, and 
the specific Australian Accounting Standards criteria 
that have to be met to enable costs incurred to be 
capitalised. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 

▪ Assessing the eligibility of the development costs for 
capitalisation as an intangible asset in accordance 
with AASB 138 Intangible Assets. 

▪ Selecting a sample of capitalised development costs 
by project and assessed whether the nature of the 
projects and costs incurred were supported by 
underlying evidence such as employee time 
recording, employment records, and the appropriate 
allocation of costs to the projects. 

▪ Enquiring of project managers and developers to 
understand development activities undertaken and 
the feasibility of project completion, including any 
related assumptions, and reviewing the percentage 
of employee time allocated to the projects, where 
applicable. 

▪ Assessing whether the timing of amortisation 
commencement and amortisation rates used were 
appropriate. 

▪ Considering whether there were any indicators of 
impairment, including project milestone assessments 
by management. 

▪ Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures in Note 
15 of the consolidated financial report. 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Company’s 2025 annual report other than the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the directors’ report that is to be included in the annual report, 
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the annual 
report after the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report 
and our related assurance opinion.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  



 

 

AUDITOR’S REPORT 

  111 UNLEASH POTENTIAL ™  
 

 CATAPULT GROUP INTERNATIONAL LTD 
 2025 ANNUAL REPORT
  
 
 

 

  

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 

▪ The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; 
and  

▪ The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001; and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 

▪ The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

▪ The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

▪ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

▪ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

▪ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
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▪ Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  

▪ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

▪ Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the Group financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review 
of the audit work performed for the purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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Report on the audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 37 to 51 of the Directors’ Report for the 
year ended 31 March 2025. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Catapult Group International Ltd for the year ended 31 
March 2025, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ashley Butler 
Partner 
Melbourne 
20 May 2025  
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Additional information required by the ASX Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report is set out below. 

1. NUMBER OF HOLDERS OF EACH CLASS OF EQUITY SECURITY 

As at June 17, 2025, the number of holders of each class of the Company’s equity securities is as follows: 

Equity security class Number of 
holders 

Ordinary shares 8,825 

Employee options and performance rights 341 

2. DISTRIBUTION SCHEDULE IN EACH CLASS OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
As at June 17, 2025, the distribution schedule in each class of the Company’s equity securities is as follows: 

Ordinary Shares 

Category (size of holding) Total  
Holders 

Number of  
Shares 

% of 
Shares 

1 - 1,000 4,013 1,970,784 0.73 

1,001 - 5,000 3,212 7,979,174 2.96 

5,001 - 10,000 837 6,177,815 2.29 

10,001 - 100,000 698 17,426,407 6.47 

100,001 - 65 235,706,694 87.54 

 8,825 269,260,874 100.00 

Employee options and performance rights 

Category (size of holding) Total 
Holders 

Number of 
Units 

% of 
Units 

1 - 1,000 11 7,600 0.04 

1,001 - 5,000 75 220,398 1.04 

5,001 - 10,000 55 412,810 1.94 

10,001 - 100,000  171 4,286,817 20.20 

100,001 - 29 16,296,953 76.78 

 341 21,224,578 100.00 

3. UNQUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES 
As at June 17, 2025, the number of unquoted equity securities that was on issue was 21,224,578, and the number of 
holders was 341. 

4. MARKETABLE PARCELS 
Based on a closing price of A$5.79 on June 17, 2025, the number of holders holding less than a marketable parcel of 
the Group’s main class of securities (being fully paid ordinary shares) was 284. 

5. VOTING RIGHTS ATTACHED TO EACH CLASS OF EQUITY SECURITY 
At a general meeting, each ordinary shareholder present (whether in person, by proxy, or by representative) is 
entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each fully paid ordinary share held. 
Option and performance rights holders do not have voting rights. 
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6. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The Company has received notice of the following substantial shareholders as at June 17, 2025: 

 
Substantial holder 

Date of last 
notice 

Number of 
securities in last 

notice 

% 

Charlaja Pty Ltd < Van De Griendt Family A/C >;  
Igor Van De Griendt Jun 13, 2025 17,154,660 6.26% 

Manton Robin Pty Ltd < Shaun Holthouse Family A/C >; 
Shaun Holthouse Feb 21, 2025 14,124,984 5.20% 

One Managed Investment Funds Limited Apr 22, 2021 11,083,762 5.53% 
The above table sets out the number and percentage of securities held by substantial shareholders in the Company as disclosed in their last 
substantial shareholder’s notice. Note that those shareholders may have acquired or disposed of securities in the Company since the date of that 
notice. A substantial shareholder is only required to disclose acquisitions or disposals where there has been a movement of at least 1% in their 
shareholding. 

7. 20 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

The 20 largest holders of ordinary shares and number of ordinary shares and percentage of capital held by each as 
at June 17, 2025 are follows: 

Rank Shareholder Shares Held % held 

1 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 50,389,701 18.71 

2 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 44,497,300 16.53 

3 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 41,816,279 15.53 

4 CHARLAJA PTY LTD <VAN DE GRIENDT FAMILY A/C> 17,058,000 6.34 

5 MANTON ROBIN PTY LTD <SHAUN HOLTHOUSE FAMILY A/C> 13,926,332 5.17 

6 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 6,514,983 2.42 

7 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <GSCO CUSTOMERS A/C> 6,152,010 2.28 

8 SOLIUM NOMINEES (AUS) PTY LTD <UNALLOCATED A/C> 5,826,137 2.16 

9 SOLIUM NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) PTY LTD <VSA A/C> 5,642,540 2.10 

10 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 4,708,199 1.75 

11 B B H F PTY LTD 4,609,000 1.71 

12 BNP PARIBAS NOMS (NZ) LTD 4,011,016 1.49 

13 3RD WAVE INVESTORS PTY LTD 4,000,000 1.49 

14 PAYNE MEDIA PTY LTD 2,044,516 0.76 

15 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <AGENCY LENDING A/C> 1,551,299 0.58 

16 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <NT-COMNWLTH SUPER CORP A/C> 1,471,625 0.55 

17 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT> 1,355,712 0.50 

18 WARBONT NOMINEES PTY LTD <UNPAID ENTREPOT A/C> 1,192,465 0.44 

19 AOTEAROA INVESTMENT COMPANY PTY LIMITED <ROBERTS INVESTMENT NO2 A/C> 1,145,197 0.43 

20 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <HUB24 CUSTODIAL SERV LTD> 1,116,707 0.41 

  219,029,018 81.34 
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8. RESTRICTED SECURITIES, VOLUNTARY ESCROW SECURITIES 

As at June 17, 2025, Catapult had no restricted securities.  

The securities subject to voluntary escrow as at that date were as follows: 

Class  Escrow End Date Number of Units 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Jul 3, 2025 309,916 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Jul 3, 2025 463,334 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Oct 3, 2025 463,334 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Dec 4, 2025 1,249,130 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Jan 5, 2026 463,334 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Apr 3, 2026 463,334 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Jun 4, 2026 1,249,097 

Fully Paid Ordinary  Jul 3, 2026 463,334 

   5,124,813 

9. ON MARKET BUY-BACK 

There is no current on-market buyback. 

10. SECURITIES ISSUED TO DIRECTORS UNDER THE CATAPULT ESP 

Details of securities that were issued to Directors under Catapult’s Employee Share Plan, and which were approved 
by Shareholders for the purposes of ASX Listing Rule 10.14, are as follows: 

• the issue of securities set out on page 45 to Directors under the Director Salary Sacrifice Offers, which were 
approved at the Company’s 2021, 2022, and 2024 AGMs; and 

• the issue of securities set out on page 50 to the CEO and Managing Director, which were approved at the 
Company’s 2024 AGM. 

11. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
Catapult’s corporate governance statement for the period ended March 31, 2025 will be available at the following 
URL: catapult.com/investor/corporate-governance/  

  

http://www.catapult.com/investor/corporate-governance/
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REGISTERED OFFICE 

Catapult Group International Ltd ABN 53 164 301 197 
Level 2, 630 Church Street, Richmond, VIC 3121, 
Australia 
Telephone: +61 (0)3 90958401 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Jonathan Garland 
General Counsel and Company Secretary  

SHARE REGISTRY 

MUFG Corporate Markets (AU) Limited  
Postal Address 
Locked Bag A14 
Sydney South NSW 1235 
Australian Telephone: 1300 554 474 
International Telephone: +61 1300 554 474 
Fax: 02 9287 0303 
linkmarketservices.com.au  

CATAPULT ESP REGISTRY 

Boardroom Pty Limited 
Level 8, 210 George Street 
Sydney, NSW 2000 
Australian Telephone: 1 300 737 760 
International Telephone: +61 2 9290 9600 
shareworks.com  

INVESTOR RELATIONS 

investors@catapult.com 

AUDITOR 

Ernst & Young  
8 Exhibition Street, Melbourne  
VIC 3000, Australia  

SECURITIES EXCHANGE LISTING 

Catapult Group International Ltd’s shares are listed 
on the Australian Securities Exchange (ticker: CAT) 

WEBSITE 

catapult.com  

FIND US HERE 

 instagram.com/catapultsports/ 

 linkedin.com/company/catapultsports 

 twitter.com/catapultsports 

 facebook.com/catapultsports/ 

 youtube.com/user/catapultSports 
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“Unleash Potential” is a trademark of Catapult Group International Ltd or its affiliates. 
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